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Definitions

BXEDSEAHIEIN ARERNTIFEZEL  Unless otherwise stated in the context, the following terms shall have the

BATEE:

ERASREE]
“ASU(s)”

=33
“Board”

[AR2FE]
“Company”

[eEERSTA
“CG Code”

[E %]

“Director(s)”

(B A4 E 42 1ME )
“GDP”

[R&E |
“Group”

BEE:ES N
“HBIS”

[T 8 i 17 ]
“HBIS Company”

[0 8 Bk 8 £ [ ]
“HBIS Group”

BEES:
“HBIS Laosteel”

BZE: NGl
“HBIS Tangshan Branch”

following meanings in this report:

ERABER

air separations unit(s)

£Fg
the board of Directors

CHINA GAS INDUSTRY INVESTMENT HOLDINGS CO. LTD.

EHRAIMEECIFE 2 b EE R TE
the Corporate Governance Code contained in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules

ZA/NSI- =

the director(s) of the Company

WA E#E
gross domestic product

/NS DS SN )= NC]
the Company and its subsidiaries

30 5 8 A IR A A
HBIS Group Co., Ltd.* Gl £ B A B A 7))

] 88 B 7 B PR A
HBIS Company Limited* Gl # i {7 & R 2 7))

AMEE R EAMBARTEKERENBMEAN ETEELAEE
HBIS and its subsidiaries and their respective associates, but excluding the Group

A 8 4% = 8§ 5 BR A 7]
HBIS Laoting Iron and Steel Co., Ltd.* Ci[$f €4 = 0 & B R A 7))

A AR D B R AR E LD AR
HBIS Company Limited Tangshen Branch* Gl i B% 5 A BR A &l B LU 7 A &l)

%R Annual Report 2023
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Definitions

[0 &4 f25 $ |
“HBIS Tangsteel”

[ E 4 8l
“Listing Rules”

BRI RAR]
“LNG”

[ 5]
“Luanxian”

ST
“Model Code”

[Nm®/hr]
“Nmé/hr”

=
“PRC” or “China”

[HE R &= 3L
“Prospectus”

[ & 5 | 3k [20234F | 3k
[RNEFE |

“Reporting Period” or
“2023” or “Year”

(78 7 M A B 15 1
“SFO”

[t ]
“Share(s)”

[P% R |
“Shareholder(s)”

FILH#EEBEEREE QR
Tangshan lIron and Steel Group Co., Ltd* (B ILHE E@MAR ST A7)

632 P 38 2 LT AR Al
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange

BIERAR  BRELAKNBRENRAR(EEZERT )
liquefied natural gas, which is natural gas (predominantly methane) that has been
cooled down to liquid form

BEEHREBERAR
Luanxian Tangsteel Gases Co., Ltd.* (& & F i @ EE A R A7)

ETRAIKISRCFE LA ITAERTETESFIH 2R ETRI

the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers set out
in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules

B KRB
Normal cubic metre per hour

hEARAFE
the People’s Republic of China

RNE BB A2020F12 A16HBRER
the prospectus of the Company dated 16 December 2020

B ZE2023F12A31BILFE

the year ended 31 December 2023

BB ADFBSNECE F R BEERB)

Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong)

A R AN & A%0.0001 3 7T B F 18 AR
the ordinary share(s) of US$0.0001 each in the share capital of the Company

[LSVESTEPN
the holder(s) of the Shares

6 CHINA GAS INDUSTRY INVESTMENT HOLDINGS CO. LTD.



[ B 22 AT 5
“Stock Exchange”

[ 1L ER 5
“Tangshan Plate”

EERT 5
“TTG”
EEREETSAT] K

“TTG Laoting Branch”

% ()] 5
“Zhongqgi Investment
(Tangshan)”

Y EREFZ A

*  For identification purposes only

B=

Definitions

BEBBERSBERAR
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

& LR E R AR A A
Tangshan Middle and Heavy Plate Co., Ltd.* (B ILFRERM BR Q)

EUEAREARAR
Tangshan Tangsteel Gases Co., Ltd* (FIL/E# FEBR A A)

FILEMREBERAGLEESAE
Tangshan Tangsteel Gases Co., Ltd. Laoting Branch* (B L EHAEER A A4S

Po/NCTD

mREFR(FEL)REBERAA
Zhongai Investment (Tangshan) Gases Co., Ltd.* (P& &% (L) REER A A])
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Chairman’s Statement

B RIR

AANBREARREFTEREAKTEN R
THNFEERE -

FEXE

REBRBFHEEBEHNARSE
1,491158 &0 @ & & £2022F12 A31H 1
FEHARE1,481.645 B JT IS HUIE I 40
0.64% ° 2023 M EFIKHARES32108 2
TLE B £2022F12 A31H IEF E /N g R
#42.85% * T B A MN2023F B A MBEN
EE TR - AR R2023F B A &
15 F AR R4 A R#128.085F & 7T (20224F
NAREA AR FERZFHARE112.74
BEIT)  mAERE £2022F12A31H L F
EIN#913.61% °

=] &

023 FAEBEMAETREE(RTR
% (1) B &) — £60,000Nmé/hr ~ MW &
40,000Nm?¥/hrZe 58 7 Bt 5 B 1IEF 1817 -
M2 —&60,000Nm¥hril| & K BEH 2 A
ML AEEERRERRMERKES
FRERA - FEHREFTERETTD E
BRE BMAMASED BBEHEE
fREBEE  EANMBAERWER -
IEMBEREEZEXNER  SRALAEEE
EMFEEREE N  cBERBER(ES
MK ATS - BERASEEMK
AmETFEMRENTMSEED  EAEHE
M5 0 55 5 0 T BT g0k -

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board of the Company. | am pleased to present the
annual report of the Group for the Reporting Period.

ANNUAL RESULTS

The total revenue of the Group in 2023 was approximately RMB1,491.15
million representing a slight increase of approximately 0.64% as compared
to approximately RMB1,481.64 million in the year ended 31 December
2022. Gross profit which amounted to approximately RMB332.10 million in
2023 decreased marginally by approximately 2.85% as compared to the
year ended 31 December 2022, which was mainly due to the decrease
in selling price of lean krypton xenon liquid oxygen in 2023. The profit for
the year attributable to owners of the Company in 2023 was approximately
RMB128.08 million (profit for the year attributable to owners of the
Company was approximately RMB112.74 million in 2022), representing
an increase of approximately 13.61% as compared to the year ended 31
December 2022.

REVIEW

In 2023, one set of 60,000Nm3/hr and two sets of 40,000Nm3/hr ASUs
of the Group’s TTG New District Plant (formerly Zhonggi Investment
(Tangshan) Plant) were in smooth operation while the second set of
60,000Nm®hr oxygen generating plant had commenced construction.
The Group’s production capacity and technical capability of its equipment
have been substantially enhanced. The TTG New District Plant was
able to capitalised on its competitive advantages in terms of equipment,
technology and talents, successfully achieving its production output and
operational efficiency targets through technological innovations such
as automatic variable load, liquid oxygen self-pressurisation and steam
heating. These will become an important driver of profit growth for the
Group. The successful market launch of rare gas products (lean krypton
xenon) has filled the market gaps in the aerospace and high-end electronic
products sectors previously faced by the Group. This has continuously
enhanced the Group’s market core competitiveness.

CHINA GAS INDUSTRY INVESTMENT HOLDINGS CO. LTD.
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Bk AEEKETHEETERELSN
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BmisnBREHE - IAFHHISRENE -
AR ZRIFEIEARESEERR -

ETE®E

Chairman’s Statement

In 2023, the proactive efforts of the Group’s research and development

personnel have accelerated the Group’s efforts in enhancing its
independent innovation capability. These efforts included the strengthening
of the management of intellectual property rights such as solving specific
research topics, patent applications and computer software copyright
registrations, providing the Group with solid technological support for high
quality development. The Group’s main subsidiary, TTG, has passed the
annual qualification review and obtained the certification as a high-tech
enterprise for 2022 to 2025. Furthermore, in 2023, we established six new
science and technology topics and were granted a first-class award for
science and technology advancement. The Group made applications for

four patents for utility models and one patent for invention.

OUTLOOK

Building on the Group’s solid experience in serving the steel smelting
industry, the Group will in particular have more in-depth cooperation with
HBIS at its steel production base in Laoting. Focusing on the development
needs of customers, the Group will continuously evaluate market trends
and accelerate the research and development of high value-added
products. The Group also endeavors to cultivate high quality customers
with a view to enhancing the influence and awareness of its enterprise
brand, thereby improving the market competitiveness of the Group.

I will continue to uphold the principle of “serving the society, rewarding
shareholders and advancing employee interests”. By accelerating the
Group’s strategic layout throughout the markets in China, and increasing
the pace of developing new markets, this will lead the Group towards high
quality development through technological innovation.

%R Annual Report 2023
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Chairman’s Statement

2 & ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

AABHHBERREEE  MAELEE  On behalf of the Board, | would like to take this opportunity to express my
BEE THE2023F EEHME B BIARL R  sincere gratitude to all the staff of the Group for their contribution in 2023
H#HomMARANEBEE KREEKMEEHE—E and to express our sincere appreciation to our customers, shareholders

NERE AR ZHFBABERAE ! and the community for their continuous support to the Company!
ok h k& Mr. Yao Li

ey Chairman

Bl - 202443 F25H Tangshan, 25 March 2024
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Five Year Financial Summary

2023 20224 20214 20204 20194
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
ARBTR ARBTL ARBTE ARBTT ARETRT

EF | RESULTS RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
1 &= Revenue 1,491,154 1481644 1209271 1,186,824 1,305,152
W& F7 18 % A1 % Rl Profit before income tax 152,765 161,018 14,118 3,688 172,026
FEHEX Income tax expense (24,689) (48,275) (40,935) (31,385) (38,188)
AATHEEAEEEARTE,  Profit/(loss) for the year
(E5#8) attributable to owners

of the Company 128,076 112,743 (26,817) (27,697) 133,838
Hitiz el A Other comprehensive

income
MEHER Currency translation

differences (479) (8,940) (9,647) 2,542 (951)
FREAWNREE Total comprehensive

income for the year 127,597 103,803 (36,464) (25,155) 132,887
EEREE ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
AEMTH Total assets 2,472,961 2,606,676 2,406,049 2,524,718 2,052,539
afEHE#E Total liabilities (959,531) (1,220,843)  (1,124,019) (1,206,225)  (748,505)
EmiE Total equity 1,513,430 1,385,833 1,282,030 1,318,493 1,304,033

%R Annual Report 2023
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Management Discussion and Analysis

E 3 JC1)-
AEEIBRPIUFEERAEIER

ad o

(=

2023%F - RIBFEBE K Szt /H2024F1518
B M % E IR - 2023F R BN 4
EBEHAR1,26058218 7T IR EE
B8 b EFRRA5.2% o

AEENTIEEMIERBIZANME
MAEE HERAXTZREMEALERNF -

1R 4% A B 8 88 T3 i 220241 H17H #
MHEE - 20234 « PR ZEE 4101918
WE - BRAFRHFE EFHESLHSTIEM - [
Lt 3 & #90.70% : 4 E 0 M #913.63/8 WE -
A Lb 3 & 495.20% ©

X AEEXERPAHEEEGR AT
HEBEEEMNEREZSER KEEE
BIXREHEBELFRPHEIER - A -
EREIEREBMSHRFINEMEDM
REATISEHERE L E—FBRETE
ANEBEE E2023F12 A3BE EFEH Y%A
M E Z2022F 12 ABIB I FEHH A RIE
1481648 B LEE R EHARKE,49115
BB RERAL0.64% -

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is principally engaged in the production and supply of industrial
gases in the PRC.

In 2023, according to the preliminary accounting data released by National
Bureau of Statistics of China on 18 January 2024, China’s GDP in 2023
was approximately RMB126,058.2 billion, representing an increase of 5.2%
over the last year at constant prices.

The Group’s key products, industrial gases, are mainly used in the
production of iron and steel. The Group’s revenue is derived mainly from
iron and steel production companies.

According to the data released by the China Iron and Steel Association
on 17 January 2024, China’s crude steel output was approximately 1,019
million tons in 2023, the same as last year, and the pig iron output was
approximately 871 million tons, representing a year-on-year increase of
approximately 0.70%; the production of steel was approximately 1,363
million tons, representing a year-on-year increase of approximately 5.20%.

Benefiting from the gradual release of production capacity in the coastal
production bases of the Group’s main customer, HBIS Group Co., Ltd. (A
i EE B R AF]), the Group’s pipeline industrial gas business increased
as compared to the corresponding period last year. However, due to keen
competition in the liquefied industrial gas market, the price of the product
lean krypton xenon liquid oxygen in the market has dropped severely as
compared to that of the previous year. Consequently, the Group’s revenue
for the year ended 31 December 2023 only increased to approximately
RMB1,491.15 million, representing a year-on-year increase of approximately
0.64% from approximately RMB1,481.64 million for the year ended 31
December 2022.

CHINA GAS INDUSTRY INVESTMENT HOLDINGS CO. LTD.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Supply of Pipeline Industrial Gas

The Group’s pipeline industrial gas is produced and transmitted to its
customers via pipelines. The Group’s production facilities are all located
on, or in close proximity to, the production facilities of its pipeline industrial
gas customers for the convenience of those customers being provided with
industrial gas products. In November 2023, with the nitrogen production
and hydrogen production unit of Tangshan Iron and Steel Group High-
strength Car Plate Co., Ltd. (FELLH# £ @ =8 /58 kAR A7) entrusted
to TTG to put into operation, TTG headquarters plant stopped production.
During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group had two pipeline
industrial gas production plants in operation, namely the TTG Laoting
Branch (Bl R4 44 =5 A 7F]) plant and the TTG New District Plant
(formerly known as the Zhonggi Investment (Tangshan) plant).

Supply of Liquefied Industrial Gas

To maximise the utilisation of its designed production capacity and
increase its revenue, the Group also engages in the supply of liquefied
industrial gas. The Group’s liquefied industrial gas products include
oxygen, nitrogen, argon and carbon dioxide. Oxygen and nitrogen in gas
form and liquefied oxygen, nitrogen and argon are generated in its ASUs,
and liquefied oxygen, nitrogen and argon can be sold directly as liquid
products. Liquefied oxygen and nitrogen are obtained after oxygen and
nitrogen in gas form are generated at the ASUs and further processed
through the liquefier. After meeting all the demand for oxygen and nitrogen
in gas form in the pipeline, the Group utilises the spare design capacity
to produce and sell liquefied nitrogen, thereby maximising the use of
the ASUs. Carbon dioxide is produced in a separate production line
independent from the production of oxygen, nitrogen and argon.

Provision of Technical Support and Management
Services

The Group provides technical support and management services. Such
services include managing the organisation and planning, equipment
inspections, equipment maintenance, daily maintenance, safety, labour and
personnel etc. in respect of the production and supply of the industrial
gas products.

%R Annual Report 2023
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Management Discussion and Analysis

HERECRARREZHRE XK
%
AEBHBERARBEEREERCX
RARFEREEEHRAEBERRY - HERI(L
ARAREAEELEERBEERICRARE
me RHAREHREEEENEERR
SRR R B X IR - Tk BRA5 0B @B R
HEEETIXRBHNEBERME -AKREN
BEBEEEBRERAR - TiRHEREE
BIRT - BAKERIERARMEEEA
FRE Rt R 25 o

HEREH N2022F12A31BIEFE S
BB ERENSI DT

Supply of LNG and the Provision of Gas Transmission

Service

The Group’s LNG-related business includes the supply of LNG and the
provision of gas transmission service. The supply of LNG refers to the
production and sales of LNG products by the Group. The provision of gas
transmission service refers to the Group’s coke oven gas pressurisation
and transmission service provided via pipelines which are independent
from the pipelines used for its supply of pipeline industrial gas. The Group’s
Luanxian plant produces LNG and also provides gas transmission service,
and has relevant equipment and machinery used for the Group’s LNG-
supply business.

Revenue and gross profit from each segment for the Reporting Period
and 31 December 2022 are set out as follows:

HZ2023F12A31ALEE HZE2022F12A31BILFE
For the year ended 31 December 2023 For the year ended 31 December 2022
i %% EXi ERE e EA EFE

Gross profit Gross profit

Revenue Gross profit margin Revenue  Gross profit margin
AR%TRT AR¥RT ARETT ARETT
RMB RMB RMB RMB
fETERE(EBRRIL) Supply of industrial gas  1,203,621,320 320,611,598 26.64% 1,194,342,987 334,105,185 27.97%
(pipeline and liquefied)
BILRARRREEXRY  LNG and gas transmission 305,356,594 10,050,185 3.29% 305,207,749 7,745,428 2.54%
service
R EREE RS Technical support and 2,917,278 1,441,159 49.40% - - -
management service
i Elimination (20,741,204) - - (17,906,495) - -
rE The Group 1,491,153,988 332,102,942 22.27% 1481,644,241 341,850,613 23.07%

CHINA GAS INDUSTRY INVESTMENT HOLDINGS CO. LTD.
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TEEEERER SR SRR ERT A
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EEEN WE DA
Management Discussion and Analysis

Operation of the Group
In 20283, the total sales of the Group’s pipeline industrial gas reached
approximately 3,855 million Nm?® (2022: approximately 3,622 million
Nm?), with (2022:
approximately RMB927.74 million); the sales of liquefied industrial gas
totaled approximately 210,041 tons (2022: approximately 190,553 tons),
with revenue of approximately RMB165.70 million (2022: approximately
RMB228.03 million); the
transmission service was approximately RMB305.36 million

revenue of approximately RMB998.62 million

revenue generated from LNG and gas
(2022:
approximately RMB305.21 million); the revenue generated from technical
support and management service was approximately RMB2.92 million
(2022: Nil); and other revenue was approximately RMB18.55 million (2022:
approximately RMB20.66 million).

OUTLOOK
Opportunities brought by industry development

prospect

China’s industrial gas industry will enjoy soaring growth driven by national
policies, foreign investment, high and new technology development and
other factors. With the rapid development of the industry and the on-and-
off surge in demand for emerging gas represented by electronic special
gases, it is expected that the industrial gas market in China will continue
to grow in the future.

As a leading company in Northern China with respect to industrial gas,
the Group has a huge advantage in the bulk industrial gas market.
Meanwhile, the Group also keeps abreast of the industry development
trends, actively develops special gas products, expands the market share
of electronic special gas products, so as to enhance its prospect for future
development.

Opportunities brought by gas supply model

development

The industrial gas supply model includes self-established equipment gas
supply and outsourced gas supply. As compared to the self-established
equipment gas supply model, the outsourced gas supply model has lower
operating cost and one-off financial cost with high stability and efficient
resources utilisation. Therefore, the market share of outsourced gas supply
had grown steadily. It is expected that the outsourced gas supply model
will gradually replace the self-established equipment gas supply model in
the future.
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The Group will leverage its successful experience and technical
advantages as an outsourced gas supplier to keep pace with the changing
market trends of the gas supply model and explore external development

opportunities.

While setting its GDP growth target at around 5% for 2023, China’s GDP
had recorded an increase of approximately 5.2% in 2023. The year 2023
was a challenging year for the steel industry. The steel industry was
affected by the high price of raw fuel and the decline in steel prices, and
the profitability of the steel industry declined significantly.

Group’s business development

The Group’s business development is supported by customers with strong
background. Based on the increasing demand for industrial gas products
resulting from the expansion of customers’ production capacity, the future
business development of the Group is expected to grow steadily.

The increase in demand for industrial gas products will mainly be
underpinned by the following aspects:

1. The construction of the fourth blast furnace in the coastal base of
HBIS Company Tangshan Branch

The fourth blast furnace is currently under construction, and the
60,000Nm?®/hr oxygen generating plant constructed by TTG is
expected to fulfill conditions for commencing operation by the end
of 2024.

2. The construction of cold-rolled production line in the coastal base
of HBIS Company Tangshan Branch

Hydrogen production units are being constructed by TTG to support
the two cold-rolled production lines.

CHINA GAS INDUSTRY INVESTMENT HOLDINGS CO. LTD.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

FINANCIAL REVIEW

The revenue of the Group for the Reporting Period amounted to
approximately RMB1,491.15 million (2022: approximately RMB1,481.64
million), representing an increase of approximately 0.64% as compared to
2022.The gross profit for the Reporting Period amounted to approximately
RMB332.10 million (2022: approximately RMB341.85 million), representing
a decrease of approximately 2.85% as compared to the year ended 31
December 2022, which was mainly due to the decrease in selling price
of lean krypton xenon liquid oxygen in 2023. For the Reporting Period,
the Company recorded a profit attributable to owners of approximately
RMB128.08 million (2022: approximately RMB112.74 million). The earnings
per Share attributable to the Shareholders of the Company for the year
ended 31 December 2023 amounted to approximately RMBO0.11 (2022:
earnings per Share of RMB0.09).

The revenue of the Group for the Reporting Period increased by
approximately 0.64% from approximately RMB1,481.64 million for the year
ended 31 December 2022 to approximately RMB1,491.15 million for the
year ended 31 December 2023. For the Reporting Period, the revenue
derived from supply of pipeline industrial gas amounted to approximately
RMB998.62 million, representing an increase of approximately 7.64%
as compared to approximately RMB927.74 million for the year ended
31 December 2022, mainly due to the increase in gas usage in the
pipeline industry. The revenue derived from supply of liquefied industrial
gas for the Reporting Period amounted to approximately RMB165.70
million, representing a decrease of approximately 27.33% as compared to
approximately RMB228.03 million for the same period in 2022, mainly due
to the decrease in price of lean krypton and xenon liquid oxygen products.
The revenue derived from supply of LNG and gas transmission service
for the Reporting Period amounted to approximately RMB305.36 million,
similar to that of approximately RMB305.21 million for the same period
in 2022. The revenue generated from technical support and management
service for the Reporting Period was approximately RMB2.92 million (2022:
Nil). Other sales revenue for the Reporting Period was approximately
RMB18.55 million, representing a decrease of approximately 10.21% as
compared to approximately RMB20.66 million for same period in 2022.
The decrease in other sales revenue was primarily due to a decrease in
sales of the natural gas for vehicle business.
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Other income and other net losses/gains

The other income of the Group for the Reporting Period increased
by approximately 454.64% to approximately RMB5.38 million (2022:
approximately RMB0.97 million). The increase in other income was mainly
due to the increased government subsidies received by the Group for the
Reporting Period as compared to the same period in the previous year.

The other net losses of the Group for the Reporting Period were
approximately RMB17.75 million (2022: approximately RMB11.87 million of
other net gains), which was mainly due to the write-off of property, plant
and equipment during the Reporting Period.

Selling and marketing expenses

The selling and marketing expenses of the Group for the Reporting Period
decreased by approximately 5.38% to approximately RMB1.89 million
(2022: approximately RMB2.00 million). The selling and marketing expenses
represented a slight decrease as compared to that in 2022.

Administrative expenses

The administrative expenses of the Group for the Reporting Period
decreased by approximately 33.81% to approximately RMB54.39 million
(2022: approximately RMB82.18 million). The decrease in administrative
expenses was mainly due to the absence of legal and professional fees
incurred in previous year relating to the resumption of trading of the shares
of the Company.

Expected credit losses for trade receivables

During the Reporting Period, the expected credit losses for trade
receivables were approximately RMB15.36 million (2022: credit losses of
approximately RMB8.14 million), representing an increase of approximately
88.86%, which was mainly due to an increase in the risk of default and
forward-looking factors threatening the macroeconomy.

CHINA GAS INDUSTRY INVESTMENT HOLDINGS CO. LTD.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Finance costs, net

The net finance costs of the Group for the Reporting Period decreased
(2022:
approximately RMB26.02 million), mainly due to the decrease in interest

by approximately 16.54% to approximately RMB21.72 million

expenses for financing as the weighted interest rate decreased.

Income tax expense

The income tax expense of the Group for the Reporting Period decreased
by approximately 48.86% to approximately RMB24.69 million (2022:
approximately RMB48.28 million), due to the utilisation of unrecognised
accumulated tax losses.

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND
FUNDING

The Group had total cash and bank balances of approximately RMB202.62
million as at 31 December 2023 (31 December 2022: approximately
RMB360.74 million). As at 31 December 2023, bank and other borrowings
of the Group amounted to approximately RMB537.79 million (31 December
2022: approximately RMB585.79 million), which included bank borrowings
of approximately RMB533.00 million (31 December 2022: approximately
RMB572.53 million) and lease liabilities of approximately RMB4.79
million (81 December 2022: approximately RMB13.26 million). The bank
borrowings bore interest rate at a range of Loan Prime Rate +4.785% to
+5.0% and The People’s Bank of China benchmark interest rate of 4.35%.
The Group’s gearing ratio (calculated as total debt divided by total equity)
was approximately 36% as at 31 December 2023 (31 December 2022:
42%). Net debt, calculated as total borrowing as well as lease liabilities less
cash and cash equivalents, was approximately RMB335.17 million as at 31
December 2023 (31 December 2022: approximately RMB225.05 million).
The outstanding credit facilities of approximately RMB190.00 million as at
31 December 2023 can be utilised as additional liquidity of the Group.
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The Group recorded total current assets of approximately RMB852.86
million as at 31 December 2023, representing a decrease of approximately
13.92% as compared to approximately RMB990.79 million as at 31
December 2022; and total current liabilities of approximately RMB668.24
million as at 31 December 2023, representing a decrease of approximately
22.34% as compared to approximately RMB860.49 million as at 31
December 2022.

The current ratio of the Group, calculated by dividing total current assets
by total current liabilities, was approximately 1.28 as at 31 December 2023
(81 December 2022: approximately 1.15).

Currently, the Group’s operating and capital expenditures are mainly
financed by cash generated from operation, internal liquidity and bank
borrowings.

DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the
Reporting Period (for the year ended 31 December 2022: Nil). Cognisant
of the Group’s dividend policy, the Board has considered the fact that:

o As at 31 December 2023, the Group had total capital commitments
of approximately RMB172.63 million, mainly related to contracted
commitments in respect of purchase of property, plant and
equipment. With the imminent construction of the fourth blast
furnace of HBIS Company Tangshan Branch, the Group plans on
committing more capital investments so as to meet the additional
industrial gas demand from HBIS.

° In line with the disclosures in the Prospectus, approximately

RMB50.60 million has been earmarked for the procurement and

installation of a new air separation unit by end of 2024.

Having weighed the above, the Board has therefore adopted a prudent
approach in arriving at the aforesaid decision.

CHINA GAS INDUSTRY INVESTMENT HOLDINGS CO. LTD.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s principal financial instruments include financial assets at fair
value through other comprehensive income, trade and other receivables
and bank balances and cash, trade and other payables, borrowings and
lease liabilities. The main purpose of these financial instruments is to
support the Group’s industrial gas business. The Group also has various
financial assets and financial liabilities arising from its business operations.
The principal risks arising from its financial instruments are foreign currency
risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and interest rate risk. The Group intends to
achieve an appropriate balance between these risks and the investment
returns so as to minimise the potential adverse impact on its business and
financial condition. The Group will not obtain collateral from counterparty.
At the end of the Reporting Period, the provision for impairment loss
of approximately RMB23.50 million (831 December 2022: approximately
RMB8.14 million) was made for trade receivables as a portion of the trade
receivables was considered to be subject to certain credit risk due to their
ageing exceeding six months. The management of the Group had also
evaluated all available forward-looking information, including but not limited
to the expected industry growth rate and settlement, and concluded that
there is no significant increase in credit risk. As at 31 December 2023,
approximately 97% of the trade receivables of the Group was payable
by the HBIS (31 December 2022: approximately 97%). The credit period
granted to the Group’s customers, including the HBIS Group, is usually no
more than 180 days and the credit quality of these customers is assessed
by taking into account their financial position, past experience, business
relationship with the Group and other factors. In view of the sound history
of receivables, the management of the Group believes that the fixed credit
risk of the Group’s unsettled trade receivables balance is insignificant,
however, an impairment provision has been made for trade receivables in
accordance with the principle of prudence. The Group aims to maintain
its current assets at an appropriate level and is committed to a capital
limit. This ensures that the Group can satisfy its short term and long term
liquidity needs. The Group had been following its liquidity policy during
the Reporting Period, which has been effective in managing liquidity risk.
The cash flow generated from the Group’s operation is expected to be
able to satisfy the Group’s needs for cash flow in the future.
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Foreign currency risk

Other payables as well as cash and cash equivalents of the Group, which
are dominated in other currencies different to the function currency of
its related business, were mainly generated from the business outside
China. The currencies that caused such exposure are primarily the United
States dollars and Hong Kong dollars. The Group did not use derivative
financial instruments to hedge against its foreign exchange risk. The Group
periodically reviews its foreign exchange risk and considers that there is
no significant exposure to its foreign exchange risk.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that funds will not be available to meet liabilities
as they fall due. This may arise from mismatches in amounts or time
with regard to the financial assets and liabilities. The Group manages
its liquidity risk through regular monitoring with the following objectives:
maintaining the stability in developing the Group’s principal businesses,
timely monitoring cash and bank position, projecting cash flows and
evaluating the level of current assets to ensure liquidity of the Group.

Pledge of assets

As at 31 December 2023, the Group did not have any charge over its
assets. As at 31 December 2022, certain property, plant and equipment
of the Group amounting to approximately RMB16.60 million were pledged
to banks for loan facilities granted to the Group.

TREASURY POLICIES

The bank balance and cash held by the Group were denominated in Hong
Kong dollars, Renminbi and United States dollars. The Group currently
does not have a foreign currency and interest rate hedging policy. However,
the management of the Group monitors foreign currency and interest
rate exposure from time to time and considers hedging significant foreign
currency and interest rate exposure when necessary.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD,
MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS

The Group had no significant investments held, material acquisitions and
disposals of subsidiaries or associated companies, or investment projects
for sale during the Reporting Period.

CHINA GAS INDUSTRY INVESTMENT HOLDINGS CO. LTD.
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CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
As at 31 December 2023, the total
Group amounted to approximately RMB172.63 million (31

capital commitments of the
December
2022: approximately RMB126.13 million). They were mainly contracted

commitments in respect of purchase of property, plant and equipment.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group had no significant contingent liabilities as at 31 December 2023
(81 December 2022: Nil).

STAFF AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

The Group believes that talent is one of the key factors which has led
to its success. The Group has experienced management team members
and employees to assist it in its business expansion. The Group plans
to continue to attract and retain highly skilled personnel and further
strengthen its corporate culture by continuing to invest in supporting
employees in their career development. The Group also plans to provide
its employees with trainings and professional development programmes
and further align employees’ interests with its own interest.

The Group places high emphasis on the training and development of its
staff. The Group invests in continuing education and training programs
for its management and other staff members to update their skills and
knowledge periodically. The Group provides trainings for its staff members
with respect to its operation, technical knowledge and work safety
standards and environmental protection.

To attract and retain the suitable personnel who are beneficial to the
development of the Group, the Group has adopted a share option scheme
conditionally by the written resolutions of its then shareholders on 17
June 2020 (the “Share Option Scheme”) and such scheme is effective
for a period of 10 years commencing from 29 December 2020. Pursuant
to the Share Option Scheme, share options may be granted to eligible
employees of the Group as a long-term incentive. No share option were
granted, cancelled or lapsed up to the date of this annual report.

The Group hired 323 employees in total as at 31 December 2023 (31
December 2022: 341 employees) with total staff costs of approximately
RMB55.37 million (for the year ended 31 December 2022: approximately
RMB58.38 million). The Group offers competitive remuneration packages
to its employees.
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STATEMENTS OF DISCIPLINARY ACTION

On 27 February 2024, the Stock Exchange issued statements of

disciplinary action to the Company and a former director of the Company

respectively.

1)

2)

Statement of disciplinary action against the
Company

Pursuant to the statement of disciplinary action issued by the Stock
Exchange against the Company on 27 February 2024, the Stock
Exchange criticised the Company for breaching the requirements of
the Listing Rules.

The Company agreed to settle the disciplinary action. It has accepted
its breaches of the Listing Rules, and accepted sanctions from the
Listing Committee.

Statement of disciplinary action against Mr. Chen,
former chairman and executive director of the
Company

Pursuant to the statement of disciplinary action issued by the Stock
Exchange on 27 February 2024 against a former chairman and
executive director of the Company, namely Mr. Chen, the Stock
Exchange imposed a prejudice to investors’ interests statement
against him (the “Prejudice to Investors’ Interests Statement”).
The Prejudice to Investors’ Interests Statement is a statement that, in
the Stock Exchange’s opinion, had Mr. Chen remained on the board
of directors of the Company, his retention of office would have been
prejudicial to the interests of investors.

The Prejudice to Investors’ Interests Statement is made in addition
to a public censure against him.

Mr. Chen agreed to settle the disciplinary action. He has accepted
the breaches of the Listing Rules and has further accepted the
sanctions imposed upon him by the Listing Committee.

CHINA GAS INDUSTRY INVESTMENT HOLDINGS CO. LTD.
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For details, please refer to the statements of disciplinary action
issued by the Stock Exchange on 27 February 2024 to () China Gas
Industry Investment Holdings Co. Ltd. (Stock Code: 1940); and (i) a
former director of China Gas Industry Investment Holdings Co. Ltd.
(Stock Code: 1940), respectively.

REVIEW OF CONSOLIDATED ANNUAL
RESULTS BY THE AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee has reviewed together with the Board and BDO
Limited, the Group’s external auditor, the audited consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the Reporting Period. The Audit Committee
is satisfied that the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group
for the Reporting Period were prepared in accordance with the applicable
accounting standards and fairly present the Group’s financial position and
results for the Reporting Period.

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION RELATING TO
THE QUALIFIED OPINION

As set out on pages 117 to 126 of this annual report, a qualified opinion
on the Group’s consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2023 (the “Qualified Opinion”) had been issued by the
Group’s external auditor (the “Auditor”). The qualified opinion was in
connection with:

(i) three overdue receivables of the Company as at 31 December 2020,
2021 and 2022 (the “Loan Receivables”) resulting from the three
loan agreements entered into between the Company as lender and
Company A, Company B and Company C separately as borrowers,
with principal amounts of RMB50,000,000, RMB53,522,000
and RMB14,478,000, respectively, which were repayable on 30
December 2020 (the “Loans” or “Loan Transactions”); and
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(i) the interest bearing note investment in the principal amount
of HK$80,000,000 (approximately RMB66,400,000) (the “Note
Investment”) pursuant to a loan note agreement entered into
between Company and Company D, which was repayable on 17
December 2021, the repayment of which remained outstanding as
at 31 December 2022 (together with the Loan Transactions, the
“Transactions”).

For details of the Loan Receivables and the Note Investment, please refer
to the announcement of the Company dated 23 March 2022 in relation
to key findings of independent investigation.

The Auditor modified their opinion for the Group’s consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2022 on:

(i) whether the write-offs of the Loan Receivables and the Note
Investment recognised during the current year were free from
material misstatement; and

(i) the Auditor’s limitations on the scope of work on the comparability
of the current year’s figures and the 2021 figures included in these
consolidated financial statements.

The Auditor’s opinion on the Group’s consolidated financial statements for
the year ended 31 December 2023 is modified because of the possible
effects of the above matter on the comparability of the current year’s
figures and the corresponding figures for the year ended 31 December
2022 in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income (“Audit
Qualification”).

The Company acknowledged the above Audit Qualification issued by the
Auditor in this regard.

CHINA GAS INDUSTRY INVESTMENT HOLDINGS CO. LTD.
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Management’s position and view on the Qualified
Opinion

During the process of preparing the consolidated financial statements for
the year ended 31 December 2023, the Board and the Audit Committee
had sought to obtain the Auditor’s preliminary view on whether the Audit
Qualification could be removed in the next financial year (i.e. for the year
ending 31 December 2024).

Since the date of approving the Group’s consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2022, the Board and the Audit
Committee are given to understand that there has been no change in the
Auditor’s view. As of the date of this annual report, the Auditor’s view on
the removal of the Audit Qualification is that the Audit Qualification is not
a permanent qualification. Barring any unforeseen circumstances, the Audit
Qualification is expected to be removed from the consolidated financial
statements of the Company for the year ending 31 December 2024.

Audit Committee’s view on the Qualified Opinion
Based on the discussion with the Auditor, the Audit Committee agreed
with the view of the management as set out above. The Audit Committee
has maintained on-going thorough discussions with the Auditor regarding
the Audit Qualification throughout the entire audit of the 2023 financial
statements and was given to understand that the Auditor’'s view as stated
above remained unchanged based on the findings from their 2023 audit.
There is also no disagreement between the Audit Committee’s and the
Board’s position.

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE GLOBAL
OFFERING

The net proceeds from the Global Offering (as defined in the Prospectus)
amounted to HK$315.9 million (equivalent to RMB298.1 million) (the “IPO
Proceeds”) after deducting the underwriting fees and commissions and
other estimated expenses payable by the Company in connection with the
Global Offering.

As at the date of this annual report, the Company had utilised
RMB274,250,000 of the IPO Proceeds, representing approximately 92.0%
of the IPO Proceeds. The amount of the unutilised IPO Proceeds is
RMB50,553,000, representing approximately 17.0% of the IPO Proceeds.
During the Reporting Period, the Company has not utilised the IPO
Proceeds. As at the date of this annual report, there has not been any
change to the intended use or allocation of the IPO Proceeds as disclosed
in the Prospectus.
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AEEBREARERERAD

AIAERA2023  The Group will gradually utilise the IPO Proceeds in accordance with the

EIA2THMAENFAHENREMERNEE  intended purposes and the updated expected timeline as disclosed in the
FEHERRESHRAENAFEEMS  Prospectus and the Company’s announcement dated 27 March 2023. The
B - HE AR KE E2023F12A31HE  breakdown of the intended use and amount utilised as of 31 December

BEMSERMADT

2023 were as follows:

EZ2023% 8220235
BRER 128318 12A31A ABA
Frif st &1 EEEES:S KBAZR 2RBEMS
2HRBE BREMBRE BREMBRE HENES
mERE AOMEHE AAMEHE EREEX
Approximate Approximate
amount of amount of Expected
Planned use of utilised IPO unutilised IPO timeline of
IPO Proceeds Proceeds as of Proceeds as of application of
as stated in 31 December 31 December the unutilised
the Prospectus 2023 2023 IPO Proceeds
ARETR ARBTR ARBTR
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

RERRBENRR(ELIBENERERNERIBRE

Procurement and relocation of ASUs relating to the development at the Zhonggqi Investment (Tangshan) plant

F-KER

E-AZRHBEE:

XABTHERZERE

E-ARRHBEE:
THETHEREEAAL L BAR
BEBEREREETREBHRAR
#E(NEER)

FoRERNBEE:
HtERRBRIRERERRE -2
ENERIBEKE

LYEESRHEM-RLAAR

#it

Phase |

First ASU:
payment for the remaining
procurement and installation cost 64,990 64,990 - -

Second ASU:
payment for the remaining
procurement and installation cost
and relocation of certain existing
ancillary equipment and machinery
such as air compressors from the TTG
headquarters plant 101,790 101,790 - -

Third ASU:
relocation and installation of a used
ASU from the TTG headquarters plant 80,170 80,170 - -
Phase Il
Fourth ASU:
procurement and installation of 20245 6A30H
a new ASU 50,553 - 50,553 30 June 2024

Working capital and other general
corporate purposes 27,300 27,300 - -

Total 324,803 274,250 50,553 -
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Yao Li (#k4), aged 59, joined the Group in May 2010 as the general
manager of TTG, and has been a Director since 30 November 2015.
He was re-designated as the executive Director and vice chairman of
the Board on 13 December 2019; and was appointed as the chairman
of the Board on 3 May 2022. He is primarily responsible for the overall
and comprehensive leading management and supervision. Mr. Yao is the
chairman of the nomination committee of the Company (“Nomination
Committee”). He is also a director of TTG since 22 June 2011.

Mr. Yao has over 37 years of working experience in the industrial gas
industry. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Yao had been working in various
positions in HBIS Group during June 1989 to August 2008, including as
the section head of the mechanical section of the energy department,
where he was primarily responsible for facilities management, spare parts
management, maintenance organisation; as the deputy plant manager
of the southern zone power plant and the hot rolled steel factory, where
he was primarily responsible for the facilities management of southern
zone power and hot rolled sheet plant; as the deputy supervisor of the
power generation department, where he was responsible for the facilities
management, management of water workshop, gas workshop, machine
repair workshop, thermoelectricity workshop and mechanical division,
energy division. From August 2008 to May 2010, Mr. Yao served as the
deputy manager of Tangshan Luanxian Steel project.

From May 2010, Mr. Yao joined the Group and served as the general
manager of TTG until April 2013, where he was mainly responsible
for the comprehensive work of the Company, and the management of
comprehensive division. From April 2013 to May 2014, Mr. Yao has served
as the department head of non-steel business department of Tangshan
Steel Company Limited (JF L8 i % 5B R A F]) (currently known as HBIS
Company), mainly responsible for the operation management, planning
and development and business collaboration of non-steel systems. Since
May 2014, Mr. Yao has been serving as the vice general manager of
Tangshan Iron and Steel Group Co., Ltd. (FIUMEEE AR ETAF)
(currently known as HBIS Tangsteel, mainly responsible for the operation
management, planning and development and business collaboration of
the non-steel business department, and he currently also serves as a
director of HBIS Tangsteel. Mr. Yao also served as the director of Zhongaqi
Investment (Tangshan), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, since
its establishment in July 2018 until January 2019.
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Mr. Yao received the title of professional senior engineer in December
2003 from Hebei provincial title reform leading group office (i 1t %4 B 7@
BEBZPEARRE).

Mr. Yao obtained his bachelor's degree in chemical engineering from
Hebei Institute of Technology At T2 %) (currently known as Hebei
University of Technology (R[dE T3 KX2)) in China in July 1985. Mr. Yao
then went on to obtain a master’s degree in technical economics from
Renmin University of China (FBI A R AXZ) in June 2001. Mr. Yao further
obtained his doctoral degree in metallurgy and engineering from University
of Science and Technology Beijing (At %t KE8), China in January
2015.

Ms. Gao Guimin (& & #(), aged 54, joined the Group in March 2007.
She was appointed as an executive Director on 13 December 2019. She
is responsible for overall and comprehensive leading management and
supervision of the relevant business of the Company. Ms. Gao is a member
of the remuneration committee of the Company (the “Remuneration
Committee”). She is also a director of TTG, since 13 December 2019.

Ms. Gao has over 28 years of working experience in the industrial gas
industry. Before joining the Group, between September 1993 and July
2006, Ms. Gao worked as a technician at the mobile division of a factory
of Tangshan Steel Company Limited (& LU $ I 19 & R 2 &) (currently
known as HBIS Company which principally engaged in producing and
supplying industrial oxygen. Between July 2006 and March 2007, Ms. Gao
was the deputy head of operation workshop No. 1 of Tangshan Steel
Oxygen Factory (/F il & R H) .

CHINA GAS INDUSTRY INVESTMENT HOLDINGS CO. LTD.
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Between March 2007 and February 2008, Ms. Gao served as a deputy
manager at the engineering department of TTG. Between February 2008
and August 2009, Ms. Gao was the manager at the facilities management
department of TTG. Between August 2009 and January 2016, Ms. Gao
was the manager at the production facilities department of TTG. Between
January 2016 and February 2018, Ms. Gao worked as the operation
director of the Company. Between February 2018 and December 2020,
Ms. Gao was the general manager of Tangshan Chuangyuan Fangda
Electric Co., Ltd.,, a subsidiary of HBIS Tangsteel, which principally
engaged in production of electrical appliances such as high and low
voltage switches, circuit breakers and smart meters, where Ms. Gao was
responsible for organising, implementing, and hosting the production,
operation, management and investment plan of the company and
implementing resolutions of the board. Between May 2018 and December
2020, Ms. Gao was a director of Tangsteel-POSCO LED Co., Ltd. (fEilH
1B (B #A Y JRABR AR, a subsidiary of Chuangyuan Fangda Electric
Co., Ltd. Between January 2016 and February 2018, Ms. Gao has been
named a specialist expert of TTG where she was responsible for training

and technology sharing.

Ms. Gao received the title of professional senior engineer in December
2014 from Hebei provincial title reform leading group office (Gl 1t %4 B 78
WEBEENERRE).

Ms. Gao obtained her bachelor’s degree in electrical automation from
Tangshan Institute of Engineering and Technology (& 1L T2 # 7 £k )
(currently known as the North China University of Science and Technology
(FEJLFE T AZ)in China in July 1992. Ms. Gao obtained her master’s
degree in business administration from Nankai University (F 5 A2 in
China in December 2012.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Zhang Wenli, aged 53, was appointed as non-executive Director on
20 January 2023 and a member of the audit committee of the Company
(the “Audit Committee”), has over 31 years of accounting experience in
the industrial sector. He joined HBIS Company, a company listed on the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock code: 000709.SZ7) in September 1992.
Between September 1992 and January 2022, Mr. Zhang served various
subsidiaries of HBIS Company in finance related roles. Since January
2022, he served as the head of finance department of HBIS Puxiang Car
Plate Company Limited* G /3 ERARAF]) . He also served as the
deputy head of finance and operation department from January 2022 to
October 2022 and the assistant to the general manager of HBIS Tangsteel
since January 2022, where he is mainly responsible for the operation and
finance matters.

Mr. Zhang Wenli obtained his bachelor’'s degree in international economics
and management from Shijiazhuang Tiedao Institute (currently known as
Shijiazhuang Tiedao University) in June 2007. He obtained his qualification
of a Senior Accountant (IE & 4% & 51 All) in December 2020.

CHINA GAS INDUSTRY INVESTMENT HOLDINGS CO. LTD.
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Mr. Lai Yui (23), aged 49, was appointed as a Director on 19 August
2011 and re-designated as a non-executive Director on 13 December
2019. He is responsible for participating in decision-making in respect of
major matters such as strategy, etc. Mr. Lai is also a director of TTG since
December 2012.

Mr. Lai has more than 25 years of working experience in the investment
banking and private equity industries. Mr. Lai has been the executive
project director at Public Investment Fund in Saudi Arabia since
September 2023. From January 2013 to September 2022, Mr. Lai was
employed by various subsidiaries of BOC International Holdings Limited as
the managing director and was most recently the chief executive officer of
CITP Advisor (Hong Kong) Ltd. Between July 2007 and December 2012,
Mr. Lai served as director of investment, with Temasek Holdings (Private)
Limited and/or its wholly-owned subsidiaries.

Mr. Lai obtained a bachelor’'s degree in science (magna cum laude)
and a bachelor’'s degree in arts (magna cum laude) from University of
Pennsylvania, the United States in May 1997.

Ms. Ng Shuk Ming ({f#B), aged 46, was appointed as a Director
on 19 August 2011 and re-designated as a non-executive Director on 13
December 2019. She is responsible for participating in decision-making in
respect of major matters such as strategy, etc. Ms. Ng is also a director
of TTG, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, since 15 July 2015.

Ms. Ng has more than 15 years of working experience in the private
equity industry. Between September 2007 and June 2010, she worked
as an associate and senior associate at Excelsior Capital Asia, a direct
investment firm focused on North Asia area, where Ms. Ng was responsible
for executing and monitoring high value investments. Since June 2010,
Ms. Ng has been working as an associate and subsequently a principal at
CITP Advisors (Hong Kong) Ltd., where Ms. Ng is responsible for project
development, executing and monitoring high value investments.
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Further to her professional experience, Ms. Ng has been a member of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants since January 2003.

Ms. Ng obtained her bachelor’s degree in professional accountancy from
Chinese University of Hong Kong in December 1999. Ms. Ng obtained her
postgraduate diploma in Financial Strategy from Said Business School,
University of Oxford in June 2021.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Siu Chi Hung (& #) , aged 53, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 17 June 2020. He is responsible for supervising
and providing independent advice to the Board. Mr. Siu is the chairman of
the Audit Committee, a member of each of the Remuneration Committee
and Nomination Committee.

Mr. Siu has 25 years of accounting experience. He joined KPMG (Hong
Kong) in August 1994 as an accountant and became a partner in July
2008. Mr. Siu was the head of real estate of KPMG (China) and the
head of capital markets development, Southern China of KPMG (China)
before his retirement in June 2018. He has been the independent non-
executive directors of Dongjiang Environmental Company Limited (Stock
code: 00895), Central China Management Company Limited (Stock code:
09982), China Aluminum International Engineering Corporation Limited
(Stock code: 02068), and MicroPort NeuroTech Limited (Stock code:
02172) since December 2020, May 2021, April 2022 and June 2022,
respectively. Mr. Siu also served as the executive director of LVGEM
(CHINA) Real Estate Investment Company Limited and independent non-
executive director of Roiserv Lifestyle Services Co., Ltd. from September
2019 to September 2021 and from June 2020 to July 2022, respectively.
The shares of those companies are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange.
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Mr. Siu is currently a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (HKICPA) and a member of the Hong Kong Independent Non-
Executive Director Association (HKINEDA). He was also a member of the
American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA). He obtained the
qualification certificate of independent directors for listed companies (
REBEFEKFESE) from the Shenzhen Stock Exchange in February
2021.

Mr. Siu obtained his bachelor’s degree in Business Administration from
Chinese University of Hong Kong in May 1994.

Mr. Xiao Huan Wei (B J&{&), aged 66, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 17 June 2020. He is responsible for supervising
and providing independent advice to the Board. Mr. Xiao is the chairman
of the Remuneration Committee and a member of each of the Audit
Committee and Nomination Committee.

Mr. Xiao had over 15 years of work experience in the investment industry.
From July 2005 to May 2014, Mr. Xiao served as executive director, group
chief executive, chairman of the group executive committee, and group
chief executive director of VXL Capital Limited (currently known as Crown
International Corporation Limited (2 B IREREBE BR /A F])) (stock code:
0727), the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange, where he was responsible for overseeing acquisitions, asset
transfers, planning and construction development of various projects.
Since December 2021, Mr. Xiao has been the independent non-executive
director of CAQ Holdings Limited (Stock code: CAQ), the shares of which
are listed on the Australian Stock Exchange.
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Mr. Xiao has been the chairman of Secret Garden (Zhangjiakou) Resort
Co., Ltd. (B4 (RK A) ik 22 2 1D B IR A 7)) (“ZJK”) since February 2014,
a company that principally engaged in the construction and operation of
projects relating to comprehensive and all-season ecotourism resources
development, greenery and environmental protection, skiing, outward
bound, competition and sports skills training, stadium and playground
construction and provision of agent services, where Mr. Xiao has been
responsible for the comprehensive leading of the operation management
and administration work of ZJK. Mr. Xiao is also the chairman of certain
subsidiaries of ZJK.

Mr. Xiao is a member of Beijing 2022 Olympics Winter Games Bid
Committee and the 11th and 12th Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference national committee of Hebei Province.

Mr. Xiao obtained his associate degree in Theory in Marxism-Leninism
from Fudan University (18 B K2), China in May 1984.

Ms. Li Chun Elsy (Z &), aged 51, was appointed as an independent
17 June 2020. She is
supervising and providing independent advice to the Board. Ms. Li is a

non-executive Director on responsible for

member of the Nomination Committee.

Ms. Li has over 12 years of working experience in global financial
institutions. Between March 2008 and November 2014, she has held
various roles at Deutsche Bank AG, Hong Kong Branch, including
managing director of institutional client group and managing director of
financial institutions group of the investment banking department. Between
May 2015 and January 2017, Ms. Li was a consultant of Egon Zehnder
International. Between May 2017 and August 2022, she was the group
treasurer and head of corporate development of Sun Hung Kai & Co.
Limited (stock code: 0086), the shares of which are listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange. Since December 2022, Ms. Li has been
the Chief Operating Officer of Peterson Holdings Company Limited.
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Ms. Li has been a member of the Listing Committee of the Stock Exchange
since July 2019. Ms. Li was qualified as a certified public accountant of
the State of New York, United States in January 2002.

Ms. Li acquired her bachelor’'s degree in Business Administration from
University of Michigan Business School, University of Michigan, United
States in May 1997.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Li Libing (Z3 &), aged 53, joined the Group in March 2007. Mr.
Li has been appointed as the chief executive officer of the Company on
31 March 2022.

Before joining the Group, from August 1992 to June 1995, Mr. Li worked
as a technician at Tangshan Steel Oxygen Factory (& i & & i) where
he was responsible for the management of technology relating to oxygen
production. From June 1995 to October 1997, he was the leader of the
2#15000Nm?3/hr machinery planning group of Tangshan Steel Oxygen
Factory (JE 3l & & k), where he oversaw the infrastructure project
management. From October 1997 to February 2000, he worked as the
deputy head of operation workshop No. 3 of Tangshan Steel Oxygen
Factory (JE#fi & %) , where he was responsible for the production of
oxygen and technology management. From February 2000 to August
2003, he worked as a technician at the production division of Tangshan
Steel Oxygen Factory (Bl R BK), where he was responsible for
the management of craftsmanship and infrastructure and technology
renovation project management. Between August 2003 and January 2007,
he held various positions within the engineering technology division of the
power generation department of HBIS Tangsteel (currently known as HBIS
Tangsteel Power Technology Branch Company (FIL#EEEER ST A
RlAE R T 52 |]) , a branch company of HBIS Tangsteel), where, from
January 2007 to March 2007, he was the director at operation workshop
No. 3 of the power energy division of HBIS Tangsteel.
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After joining the Group, between March 2007 and February 2010, he
was the manager of the branch of Tangshan Stainless Steel Co., Ltd.
(“Tangshan Stainless Steel”). Between February 2010 and February
2016, he worked as the manager of engineering and technology
department of TTG. Between January 2016 and December 2018, Mr. Li
was retained as an expert in oxygen production technique (fll & T Z
fiT® %K) and has been the technology and business development director
since January 2016.

Further to his professional experience, Mr. Li received the title of
professional senior engineer in November 2017 from Hebei provincial title
reform leading group office Gt BB EEE AR N E).

Mr. Li obtained his bachelor’'s degree in refrigeration equipment and
cryogenics technology from Shanghai Institute of Mechanical Engineering
(L /B HEH 2 B3) (currently known as University of Shanghai for Science
and Technology (£ T K&)) in China in July 1992 and a master’s
degree in mechanical engineering from Tianjin University (X2 X£) in
China in September 2008.

Mr. Hon Ming Sang (8$84), aged 45, committee member of the 11th
Luoding Committee of Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference,
joined the Group in August 2022. Mr. Hon has been appointed as the
chief financial officer and the company secretary of the Company on 16
August 2022 and 31 October 2022, respectively. He graduated with an
honour degree of Professional Accountancy in the School of Accountancy
from The Chinese University of Hong Kong. He is a CFA charterholder, a
member of The Hong Kong Society of Financial Analysts, a member of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, a fellow member of
the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants, an associate member
of The Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute and The Chartered
Governance Institute UK & Ireland.

Mr. Hon has previously worked in an international audit firm and has
over 15 years of working experience in listed companies and financial
institutions. He has extensive experience in corporate finance, merger
and acquisition, investment and financial management and compliance
services.
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Mr. Hon is also an independent non-executive director of InvesTech
Holdings Limited (company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange with stock code: 1087), Finsoft Financial Investment Holdings
Limited (@ company listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange with stock
code: 8018) and Asia Energy Logistics Group Limited (company listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange with stock code: 351) and Virtual
Mind Holding Company Limited (company listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange with stock code: 1520) respectively. He was an executive
director and company secretary of SFund International Holdings Limited
(company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange with stock
code: 1367) between 7 February 2017 and 15 August 2022.

Mr. Li Shuhui (Z##8), aged 50, joined our Group in March 2007, and
was appointed as our business development director on 13 December
2019, and is mainly responsible for the cultivation and development of new
product, new business and new areas of our Company. Mr. Li is currently
also a supervisor of Tangsteel Dongxin Village.

Before joining our Group, between November 1998 and August 2003, Mr.
Li worked at Tangshan Steel Oxygen Factory (=il & R &) . Between
August 2003 and March 2007, he worked at a power plant of HBIS
Tangsteel. Between March 2007 and February 2010, Mr. Li worked as a
planning officer and host officer at the sales branch of TTG, where he
was responsible for the export business. Between February 2010 and
July 2013, Mr. Li was a manager at the market division of the sales of
products branch division of TTG, where he was responsible for the sales
of products, market development and logistics. Between July 2013 and
February 2014, Mr. Li worked as a deputy manager at the general division
of TTG, where he hosted the overall work of the division. Since February
2014, Mr. Li has been promoted as a manager at the general division
of TTG, where he is responsible for corporate operation management,
administration, party-community networking, human resource, the Broad,
legal affairs, tendering management, digitalisation, etc.
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Further to Mr. Li's profession experience, he received the title of senior
engineer of metallurgical equipment in November 2017 from Hebei
provincial title reform leading group office (A4t B8 o 48/ NE A

=
=).

Mr. Li
manufacturing from Hebei Science and Technology College (a/ 1L 32 T &

acquired his bachelor’'s degree in mechanical design and
B) (currently known as North China University of Science and Technology

(LB T AE)) in July 1997 in China.

Mr. Li Xiaojun (ZBE), aged 51, joined the Group in March 2007,
and was appointed as the equipment safety and quality control director
of the Company on 13 December 2019, and is mainly responsible for
the formulation of equipment operation specifications and standards,
inspecting and supporting the safe operation of equipment of various
affiliated companies.

Before joining the Group, between July 1992 and March 2003, Mr. Li
served various positions at different divisions of Tangshan Steel Oxygen
Factory (JE#f| & %) . Between March 2007 and August 2007, Mr. Li
worked as a salesman at the sales of products branch division of TTG,
where he was responsible for the sale of products. Between August
2007 and January 2008, he was a deputy manager of the Huludao
project of TTG, where he was responsible for the development of
Huludao’s new projects. Between January 2008 and February 2011, Mr. Li
worked as a deputy manager at the sales of products branch division
of TTG, respectively, where he was responsible for sales management
system. Between February 2011 and July 2013, Mr. Li worked as a
deputy manager and manager at the general division of TTG, and was
concurrently serving as the relevant party branch secretary, where his
then work responsibilities included branding, organising conventions and
events to boost the image of TTG. Between July 2013 and October
2018, Mr. Li was a manager and party secretary at the sales of products
branch division of TTG, where he was responsible for strengthening
market cultivation, establishing positive competition system and boosting
business development. Since October 2018, he has been a manager and
party secretary of TTG Ironmaking Branch, where he is responsible for
production, operation and product supply of the Ironmaking Branch.
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Mr. Li received the title of metallurgical experiment engineer in December
2005 from Hebei provincial title reform leading group office (G 1t %4 B 78
WEBRGPENMRE).

Mr. Li received his associate degree in industrial analysis from Tangshan
Institute of Engineering and Technology (J& [L T2 # i1 2 87%) (currently
known as North China University of Science and Technology (3432 T K
£)in July 1992 in China.

Mr. Li then received his bachelor of degree in management via distance
learning from University of International business and Economics (¥f4h &
EE 5 KE)in China in June 2013.

Mr. Hui Guangyu (B} F), aged 52, joined the Group in May 2007,
and was appointed as the public relationship director of the Company
on 13 December 2019, and is mainly responsible for the communications
between shareholders, public investors, institutional investors and potential
investors. Before joining the Group, from September 1994 to October
2003, Mr. Hui was a raw materials technician at a factory of the HBIS
Group engaged in processing of raw materials, where he was responsible
Between October 2003
and May 2007, Mr. Hui served as a safety officer at a supply site of

for safety and environmental management.

HBIS Company, where he was responsible for safety management and
development of management system.
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Mr. Hui joined the Group in May 2007, between May 2007 and September
2009, he worked as a safety officer at the safety division of TTG, where
he was responsible for safety and environmental protection management of
the company. Between September 2009 and November 2012, Mr. Hui was
the division head at the general division of TTG, where he was responsible
for corporate management. Between November 2012 and December
2012, Mr. Hui was a deputy manager at the safety division of TTG, where
he provided support to the overall work of the division. Subsequently,
between December 2012 and January 2016, he was promoted as a
manager of the safety division of TTG, where he was responsible for safety,
environmental protection and fire safety management of the company.
Between January 2016 and November 2018, Mr. Hui was a manager at
the production and facility division of TTG, where he was responsible for
coordination and organisation of production, management of maintenance
and repair of equipment and procurement of resources. Since October
2018, Mr. Hui has been a manager at the sales of products branch division
of TTG, where he has been responsible for pre-listing work of the company
and other corporate activities.

Further to his professional experience, Mr. Hui received the title of senior
engineer in environment engineering in November 2016 from Hebei
provincial title reform leading group office CAldt & B E B &/ NB A

=).

Mr. Hui received his first bachelor’'s degree in environmental engineering
from Chongaing University (£ B X£)in China in June 1994. Mr. Hui
then received his second bachelor’ s degree in metallurgical engineering
via correspondence study from the Northeastern University (24t AZ2) in
China in January 2009.

CHINA GAS INDUSTRY INVESTMENT HOLDINGS CO. LTD.
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Corporate Governance Report

The Board is pleased to report to the Shareholders on the corporate
governance of the Company for the Reporting Period.

CORPORATE STRATEGY AND CULTURE

The Company’s vision is to serve the society, reward the Shareholders
and advance employees interests. Upholding the philosophy of “unity,
integrity, diligence and innovation”, the Group fully implements the “delicacy
management” model, integrates international and domestic resources,
strengthens environmental protection, develops circular economy and
strives for user satisfaction and success. The Group also adheres to the
concept of “providing users with high-quality products, comprehensive
technical supports and hassle-free after-sales services so as to become
their preferred supplier as well as their trusted service provider and
partner” in respect of the Group’s services and strives to build an
internationally competitive, high-quality and specialised gas production
base with first-class skills and technology, first-class products variety and
quality, first-class ecological environment and providing first-class service

to users.

The Board provides guidance to management by defining the purpose,
values and strategic direction of the Group, and plays an important role
in establishing and instilling a culture that reinforces the values of acting
lawfully, ethically and responsibly. The Group’s employee handbook
ensures that the corporate culture and expected behaviours are clearly
communicated to everyone in the Group. Appropriate policies and
procedures are in place to promote and reinforce the need for employees
and others who deal with the Group to act with honesty and integrity and
to raise concerns about actual or suspected cases of impropriety. The
Group offers competitive remuneration and benefits designed to attract,
motivate and retain talented people at all levels. Having regard to the
corporate culture reflected in the policies and practices of the Group, the
Board is satisfied that the purpose, values and strategic directions of the
Group are aligned with its culture.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board recognises the importance of incorporating elements of good
corporate governance in the management structures and internal control
procedures of the Group so as to achieve effective accountability. The
Board is committed to achieving high standards of corporate governance
with a view to safeguarding the interests of Shareholders as a whole.

The Company has adopted the principles and code provisions of the
Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) contained in Appendix C1
to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange
(the “Listing Rules”) as the basis of the Company’s corporate governance
practices.

The Company has complied with all applicable code provisions set out in
the CG Code throughout the Reporting Period. The Company will continue
to regularly review and monitor its corporate governance practices to
ensure compliance with the CG Code, and maintain a high standard of
corporate governance practices of the Company.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding directors’
securities transactions on terms no less exacting than the required
standard set out in the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors
of Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules (the
“Model Code”).

Having made specific enquiry with the Directors, all the Directors have
confirmed that the required standards of the Model Code had been
complied with throughout the Reporting Period.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Company is headed by an effective Board which oversees the Group’s
businesses, strategic decisions and performance and takes decisions
objectively in the best interests of the Company.

The Board shall regularly review the contribution required from a Director to
perform his/her responsibilities to the Company, and whether the Director
is spending sufficient time performing them.

CHINA GAS INDUSTRY INVESTMENT HOLDINGS CO. LTD.
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Board Composition
The Board of the Company currently comprises the following Directors:

Executive Directors
Mr. Yao Li (Chairman)
Ms. Gao Guimin

Non-executive Directors
Mr. Zhang Wenli

Mr. Lai Yui

Ms. Ng Shuk Ming

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Siu Chi Hung

Mr. Xiao Huan Wei

Ms. Li Chun Elsy

The biographical information of the Directors are set out in the section
headed “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management” on
pages 29 to 42 of this annual report.

Mr. Zhang Wenli, who was appointed as a non-executive Director during
the Reporting Period, had obtained legal advice referred to in Rule 3.09D
of the Listing Rules on 20 January 2023. Mr. Zhang Wenli confirmed that
he understood his obligations as a director of the Company.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER

During the Reporting Period, the role of the Chairman was performed by
Mr. Yao Li who has been appointed as the Chairman of the Company
since 3 May 2022 while the office of the Chief Executive Officer of the
Company was performed by Mr. Li Libing who has been appointed as the
Chief Executive Officer since 31 March 2022. In accordance with the code
provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of the chairman and the chief
executive officer are separate and performed by the different persons.

The Chairman is responsible for overseeing the functions of the Board
and providing leadership for the Board while the Chief Executive Officer
is responsible for managing the businesses and operations of the Group.

To the best knowledge of the Company, there is no relationship (including
financial, business, family or other material/relevant relationship(s)),
between Board members and in particular, between the Chairman and
the Chief Executive Officer.
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During the Reporting Period, the Board at all times met the requirements of
the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at least three independent
non-executive Directors representing one-third of the Board with one of
whom possessing appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or
related financial management expertise.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from each of the
independent non-executive Directors in respect of his/her independence
in accordance with the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules. The Company is of the view that all independent non-
executive Directors are independent.

The members of the Board have skills and experience appropriate for
the business requirements and objectives of the Group. Each executive
Director is responsible for different business and functional division of
the Group in accordance with his/her expertise. The independent non-
executive Directors bring different business and financial expertise,
experiences and independent judgment to the Board and they are
invited to serve on the Board committees. Through participation in
Board meetings, taking the lead in managing issues involving potential
conflicts of interests, the independent non-executive Directors have made
contributions to the effective direction of the Company and provided
adequate checks and balances to safeguard the interests of both the
Group and the Shareholders.

The Group has established mechanism to ensure independent views and
input are available to the Board.

All independent non-executive Directors are given regular updates such
as monthly reports. The senior managements are invited to participate in
Board meetings to provide business update to facilitate the independent
non-executive Directors in making informed decisions. The independent
non-executive Directors have access to the Group’s senior management
at all times on any queries they may have. In addition, the Company
engages legal advisors in Hong Kong to advise the Board on an
ongoing basis in respect of the Listing Rules and the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the laws of Hong Kong) and upon
the request of the Board, engages a valuer to provide advice to the
Board in relation to valuations of the assets and account receivable and
engages a financial advisor to provide financial advice to the Board on
any business transactions. A private meeting between the Chairman and
the independent non-executive directors takes place at least once each
year, to provide a channel for independent views to be communicated to
the Chairman directly.

CHINA GAS INDUSTRY INVESTMENT HOLDINGS CO. LTD.
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The Board reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of the above
mechanisms and considered that the Company has sufficient mechanisms
to ensure independent views and input are available to the Board and
these mechanisms remain effective.

Appointment and Re-election of Directors

The non-executive Directors (including independent non-executive
Directors) are appointed for a specific term of three years, subject to

renewal after the expiry of the then current term.

All the Directors are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at
the annual general meetings. Under the Articles of Association of the
Company (the “Articles”), at each annual general meeting, one-third of the
Directors for the time being, or if their number is not a multiple of three (3),
the number nearest to but not less than one-third shall retire from office
by rotation provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement at
an annual general meeting at least once every three years. The Articles
also provides that any Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual
vacancy shall hold office until the first general meeting of members after
his/her appointment and be subject to re-election at such meeting and
any Director appointed by the Board as an addition to the existing Board
shall hold office only until the next following annual general meeting of the
Company and shall then be eligible for re-election.

Responsibilities, Accountabilities and Contributions of

the Board and Management

The Board shall assume responsibility for leadership and control of the
Company, and is collectively responsible for directing and supervising the
Company’s affairs.

The Board directly, and indirectly through its committees, leads and
provides direction to the management by laying down strategies and
overseeing their implementation, monitors the Group’s operational and
financial performance, and ensures that sound internal control and risk
management systems are in place.

%R Annual Report 2023

47



48

TRERKRE

Corporate Governance Report

EREZ(BRFVTESTRBIIFHRT
ER)PREFETREBRANEE XK
K HBLRER DHESHEERE
- BUFNTETRERRARTRE
ENEERS  YREFSRERMEHE N
BLARITTB) R AR B th B SR A B S HI T

EEFHR2EY MKESEKRRME
BEREARTRAEME ((ARABEDNEZ
LR AAIRBREEBEEBRTZR
BYEXER ARARFETERE
& B AR R EE

o

EEARNFARRBERZIETOE BB
B BT -

EZeREREMAEEEE  MARF
BREH REEEE  AHEZERER
B EARH(BRRXESEMEER
) BBER ZREEEREMERZE
EH AHMATESERE HERHHA
ARAREFEEREENBEERTER

& o
=

ARFIEHREENSABEFFEELS
REBERRARDEEM A 8L E X E DA
RTPRBEERR KRRABVELEFH
Fﬂa o

All Directors, including non-executive Directors and independent non-
executive Directors, have brought a wide spectrum of valuable business
experience, knowledge and professionalism to the Board for its efficient
and effective functioning. The independent non-executive Directors are
responsible for ensuring a high standard of regulatory reporting of the
Company and providing a balance in the Board for bringing effective
independent judgement on corporate actions and operations.

All' Directors have full and timely access to all the information of the
Company and the advice and services of the company secretary of the
Company (the “Company Secretary”) and may, upon request, seek
independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the
Company’s expenses for discharging their duties to the Company.

The Directors shall disclose to the Company details of other offices held
by them.

The Board is responsible for deciding all major matters relating to policy
matters, strategies and budgets, internal control and risk management,
material transactions (in particular those that may involve conflict of
interests), financial information, appointment of Directors and other
significant operational matters of the Company. Responsibilities relating
to implementing decisions of the Board, directing and co-ordinating the
daily operation and management of the Company are delegated to the

management.

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance coverage on Directors’
and officers’ liabilities in respect of any legal actions taken against
Directors and senior management arising out of corporate activities. The
insurance coverage would be reviewed on an annual basis.

CHINA GAS INDUSTRY INVESTMENT HOLDINGS CO. LTD.
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Continuous Professional Development of Directors
Directors shall keep abreast of regulatory developments and changes in
order to effectively perform their responsibilities and to ensure that their
contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant.

Every newly appointed Director has received a formal and comprehensive
induction on the first occasion of his/her appointment to ensure
appropriate understanding of the business and operations of the Company
and full awareness of director’s responsibilities and obligations under the
Listing Rules and relevant statutory requirements. Such induction shall be
supplemented by visits to the Company’s key plant sites and meetings
with senior management of the Company.

The Directors should participate in appropriate continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. Internally-
facilitated briefings for the Directors would be arranged and reading
material on relevant topics would be provided to the Directors where
appropriate.

All the Directors are encouraged to attend relevant training courses at the
Company’s expenses.

During the Year, the Company had organised training sessions conducted
by the qualified professionals for all the Directors. The training sessions
covered a wide range of relevant topics including directors’ duties
and responsibilities, corporate governance and regulatory updates. In
addition, relevant reading materials including compliance manual/legal and
regulatory updates/seminar handouts had been provided to the Directors
for their reference and studying.
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EERNAFENBIGCEHRAT

The training records of the Directors for the Year are summarised as
follows:

=) Tl g R
Type of

Directors Training "o

HITEE

Executive Directors

ok A/B

Mr. Yao Li

SEHLLT A/B

Ms. Gao Guimin

HHITEE

Non-Executive Directors

RE REE(R2023F1A20A 5 (FEF) .

Mr. Zhang Aimin (Resigned as Director on 20 January 2023)

SR X FI (R2023F 1H20H B Z (F BEF) A/B

Mr. Zhang Wenli (Appointed as Director on 20 January 2023)

REFTE A/B

Mr. Lai Yui

R+ A/B

Ms. Ng Shuk Ming

BUHHTEE

Independent Non-Executive Directors

mEEE A/B

Mr. Siu Chi Hung

HBERE A/B

Mr. Xiao Huan Wei

FELL A/B

Ms. Li Chun Elsy

Kt - Note:

HEl g Types of Training

A: 2mEBIRE BEETRAGNE HET A Attending training sessions, including but not limited to, briefings, seminars,

g gERTWRE conferences and workshops
B: BEMETERE - R B MELREE B Reading relevant news alerts, newspapers, journals, magazines and relevant

T

AR

publications

Not applicable

CHINA GAS INDUSTRY INVESTMENT HOLDINGS CO. LTD.
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BOARD COMMITTEES
The Board has established three committees, the Audit

Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee,

namely,
Committee,
for overseeing particular aspects of the Company’s affairs. All Board
committees of the Company are established with specific written terms
of reference which deal clearly with their authority and duties. The terms
of reference of the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and
Nomination Committee are available on the Company’s website and the
Stock Exchange’s website and are available to Shareholders upon request.

The list of the chairman and members of each Board committee is set
out under “Corporate Information” on page 2 of this annual report.

Audit Committee

The Company has established an Audit Committee on 17 June 2020 with
written terms of reference in compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules
and paragraph D.3 of the CG Code.

The Audit Committee consists of three members, being Mr. Siu Chi Hung,
Mr. Zhang Wenli and Mr. Xiao Huan Wei. Apart from Mr. Zhang Wenli, who
is a non-executive Director, the other two members of the Audit Committee
are independent non-executive Directors. The Audit Committee is chaired
by Mr. Siu Chi Hung, who holds the appropriate professional qualification.
Mr. Zhang Wenli was appointed as the member of the Audit Committee
to replace Mr. Zhang Aimin, who resigned from the Audit Committee on
20 January 2023. The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to assist
the Board by providing an independent view on the effectiveness of the
financial reporting system, risk management and internal control systems,
to oversee the audit process, to develop and review the Group’s policies
and to perform other duties and responsibilities as assigned by the Board.
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Four meetings of the Audit Committee were held during the Reporting
Period to review, in respect of the year ended 31 December 2023, the
annual financial results and reports, in respect of the six months ended 30
June 2023, the interim results and reports; and significant issues on the
financial reporting, operational and compliance controls, the effectiveness
of the risk management and internal control systems and internal audit
function, appointment of external auditors and relevant scope of works
and, connected transactions and arrangements for employees to raise
concerns about possible improprieties.

The Company has established a Remuneration Committee on 17 June
2020 with written terms of reference and then has adopted a revised
terms of reference on 29 December 2022 in compliance with Rule 3.25 of
the Listing Rules and paragraph E.1 of the CG Code. The Remuneration
Committee consists of three members, being Mr. Xiao Huan Wei, Ms. Gao
Guimin and Mr. Siu Chi Hung. Apart from Ms. Gao Guimin, who is an
executive Director, the other two members of the Remuneration Committee
are independent non-executive Directors. The Remuneration Committee
is chaired by Mr. Xiao Huan Wei. The primary duties of the Remuneration
Committee include (but without limitation): () making recommendations to
the Board regarding the Group’s policy and structure for the remuneration
of all the Directors and senior management and on the establishment of
a formal and transparent procedure for developing remuneration policies;
(i) making recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages
of the Directors and senior management; and (i) reviewing and approving
the management’s remuneration proposals with reference to the Board’s
corporate goals and objectives.

The remuneration policy for the Directors and senior management
members is based on their experience, level of responsibility and general
market conditions. Any discretionary bonus and other merit payments
are linked to the profit performance of the Group and the individual
performance of the Directors and senior management members.
The Company’s remuneration policy is subject to review by and the
recommendations of the Remuneration Committee.

CHINA GAS INDUSTRY INVESTMENT HOLDINGS CO. LTD.
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There was no change in the policy and structure of the remuneration of the
Directors and senior management of the Company, two meetings of the
Remuneration Committee was held during the Reporting Period to review
and make recommendation to the Board on the remuneration policy and
the remuneration packages of the Directors and senior management.

The remuneration of the members of the senior management of the Group
by band for the Reporting Period is set out below:

¥ GBI

Remuneration (HKD)

AB

No. of person

100,000—500,000
1,500,001—2,000,000

REZESE

RARERE LTHRANEI27AGK R EE
A ST RI £ B.3ER HY 3 TE 202056 H17H X
VIREZEEE® Wi REEZEBESHE -
REZESHIBKREAMN Bk DL E
(XFF)  BREXE  BEELERTEL
T o BRNEEERRITESI  BEE
EEMEBR=-EKERBIIIENTES -
REZEBSEFAINELE - RBRZES
MEZBEANREERARTEENTER
MEZSgRIER ITEMEEeZl
BE(EESESTLEE]) -

Nomination Committee

The Company has established a Nomination Committee on 17 June 2020
with written terms of reference in compliance with Rule 3.27A of the Listing
Rules and paragraph B.3 of the CG Code. The Nomination Committee
consists of four members, namely Mr. Yao Li (Chairman), Mr. Xiao Huan
Wei, Mr. Siu Chi Hung and Ms. Li Chun Elsy. Apart from Mr. Yao Li,
who is an executive Director, the other three members of the Nomination
Committee are independent non-executive Directors. The chairman of
the Nomination Committee is Mr. Yao Li. The primary function of the
Nomination Committee is to make recommendations to the Board on the
appointment and removal of the Directors and senior management, as well
as to review the board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity Policy”).
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In assessing the Board composition, the Nomination Committee would
take into account various aspects as well as factors concerning Board
diversity as set out in the Company’s Board Diversity Policy. The
Nomination Committee would discuss and agree on measurable objectives
for achieving diversity on the Board, where necessary, and recommend
them to the Board for adoption.

In identifying and selecting suitable candidates for directorships,
the Nomination Committee would consider the candidate’s relevant
criteria as set out in the director nomination policy (the “Director
Nomination Policy”) that are necessary to complement the corporate
strategy and achieve Board diversity, where appropriate, before making
recommendation to the Board.

Two Nomination Committee meetings were held during the Reporting
Period to review the structure, size and composition of the Board and the
independence of the independent non-executive Directors and to consider
the qualifications of the retiring Directors standing for election at the annual
general meeting. The Nomination Committee considered an appropriate
balance of diversity perspectives of the Board is maintained.

The Company has adopted a Board Diversity Policy on 17 June 2020
which sets out the approach to achieve diversity of the Board. The
Company recognises and embraces the benefits of having a diverse Board
and sees increasing diversity at the Board level as an essential element in
maintaining the Company’s competitive advantage, and attracting, retaining
and motivating employees from the widest possible pool of available talent.

Pursuant to the Board Diversity Policy, the Nomination Committee will
review annually the composition of the Board and where appropriate,
make recommendations on changes to the Board to complement the
Company’s corporate strategy and to ensure that the Board maintains a
balanced diverse profile. In relation to reviewing and assessing the Board
composition, the Nomination Committee is committed to diversity at all
levels and will consider a number of aspects, including but not limited
to professional experience, skills, knowledge, gender, age, cultural and
education background, ethnicity and length of services.

CHINA GAS INDUSTRY INVESTMENT HOLDINGS CO. LTD.
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The Company aims to maintain an appropriate balance of diversity
perspectives that are relevant to the Company’s business growth and is
also committed to ensuring that recruitment and selection practices at all
levels (from the Board downwards) are appropriately structured so that a
diverse range of candidates are considered.

The Board members are composed of 5 male and 3 female Directors.
The current male and female representation at Board level is about 62.5%
and 37.5%, respectively. The Nomination Committee has reviewed the
gender diversity and is of the view that the current male to female ratio
of the Directors are appropriate. The Nomination Committee will continue
to ensure that diversity of gender in the composition of the Board is
achieved. The Company will ensure that sufficient resources are available
for providing trainings and career development to develop a pipeline of
potential successors of the Board and maintain gender diversity.

All workforce of the Company is equal regardless of their positions. The
basic principles of human resource management are impartiality, fairness
and openness.

The Company has taken, and continues to take, steps to promote diversity
at all levels of our workforce and has policies on equal opportunities. We
provide equal opportunity to all employees regardless of gender, age,
cultural and education background, ethnicity, and other aspects of diversity
and are against any forms of discrimination. As of 31 December 2023,
the Group’s total workforce is comprised of approximately 93% male and
7% female employees. Since the job stability of the Group is relatively
high, coupled with the fact that the retirement age of female employees
is lower than that of male employees, the proportion of female employees
is relatively low.

Given the nature of the Group’s business is production of industrial gas,
the Group has not specified any plans or measurable objectives for
achieving gender diversity at present. The Group will continue to focus is
on identifying the right person for the right role whilst taking into account
diversity in a range of areas, including gender. However, the Group will
consider and review its diversity policy and set measurable objectives
where necessary.

Details of gender diversity at Board and workforce levels (including senior

management of the Group) are disclosed in the Environmental, Social and
Governance Report.
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The Nomination Committee will report annually, in the corporate
governance report of the Company, on the process it has used in relation
to Board appointments. Such report will include a summary of the Board
Diversity Policy, the measurable objectives set for implementing the Board
Diversity Policy and progress made towards achieving the measurable
objectives.

The Nomination Committee will review the Board Diversity Policy, as
appropriate, to ensure its effectiveness.

The Board has delegated its responsibilities and authority for selection
and appointment of Directors to the Nomination Committee.

The Company has adopted a Director Nomination Policy which sets out
the selection criteria and process and the Board succession planning
considerations in relation to nomination and appointment of Directors of
the Company and aims to ensure that the Board has a balance of skills,
experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the Company and
the continuity of the Board and appropriate leadership at Board level.

The Director Nomination Policy sets out the factors for assessing the
suitability and the potential contribution to the Board of a proposed
candidate, including but not limited to the following:

° Qualifications including professional qualifications, skills, knowledge
and experience that are relevant to the Company’s business and
corporate strategy;

o Requirements of independent non-executive Directors on the Board
and independence of the proposed independent non-executive
Directors in accordance with the Listing Rules; and

° Commitment in respect of available time and relevant interest
to discharge duties as a member of the Board and/or Board
committee(s) of the Company.

The Director Nomination Policy also sets out the procedures for the
selection and appointment of new Directors and re-election of Directors at
general meetings. During the Reporting Period, save for the resignation of
Mr. Zhang Aimin and the appointment of Mr. Zhang Wenli as non-executive
Director, there was no change in the composition of the Board.

CHINA GAS INDUSTRY INVESTMENT HOLDINGS CO. LTD.
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The Nomination Committee will review the Director Nomination Policy, as
appropriate, to ensure its effectiveness.

Procedures for Shareholders to Propose a Person for

Election as a Director of the Company

Procedures for Shareholders to propose a person for election as a Director
is as set out in the “Procedure for Shareholders to Propose a person
for Election as a Director of the Company” disclosed on the Company’s
website.

Corporate Governance Functions
The Audit Committee is responsible for performing the functions set out
in the code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code.

During the Reporting Period, the Audit Committee had reviewed the
Company’s corporate governance policies and practices, training and
continuous professional development of Directors and senior management,
the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements, the compliance of the Model Code and written
employee guidelines, and the Company’s compliance with the CG Code
and disclosure in this Corporate Governance Report.
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EEHERTH ATTENDANCE RECORDS OF DIRECTORS
TRENSEESHENRENEITHESE  The attendance record of each Director at the Board and Board
EREECLECEHULARAIREAN  committees meetings and the general meetings of the Company held

R during the Reporting Period are set out in the table below:
HERE  BRRE
Attendance/Number of Meeting(s)

BRRAE
BExps Exg ENRZEE® ¥HZEEE REZES (mA)

General

Audit Remuneration = Nomination Meetings

Name of Director Board Committee Committee Committee (if any)
#HEE 8/10 2/2
Mr. Yao Li
SEHLL 10/10 2/2 2/2
Ms. Gao Guimin
KB RIEL4E(ER2023F1H20H 5 8) 11 0/1
Mr. Zhang Aimin (resigned on 20 January 2025)
5K SR 5t A (R2023F 1520 H EZ () 4/9 3/4 0/1
Mr. Zhang Wenli (gppointed on 20 January 2023)
RE K E 8/10 1/2
Mr. Lai Yui
AR+ 10/10 2/2
Ms. Ng Shuk Ming
REELE 10/10 4/4 2/2 2/2 2/2
Mr. Siu Chi Hung
HrlExsE 10/10 4/4 2/2 2/2 1/2
Mr. Xiao Huan Wei
FELL 10/10 2/2 2/2

Ms. Li Chun Elsy
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the risk management and
internal control systems and reviews their effectiveness. Such systems are
designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute
assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The Board has the overall responsibility for evaluating and determining
the nature and extent of the risks (including ESG risks) it is willing to take
in achieving the Company’s strategic objectives, and establishing and
maintaining appropriate and effective risk management and internal control
systems. The Board conducts review of the Group’s risk management and
internal control systems at least once a year.

The Company adopts a risk management system which manages the risk
associated with its business and operations. The system comprises the
following phases:

Identification: Identify ownership of risks, business objectives and
risks that could affect the achievement of objectives.

° Evaluation: Analyse the likelihood and impact of risks and evaluate
the risk portfolio accordingly.
Consider the risk ensure effective

o Management: responses,

communication to the Board and on-going monitor the residual risks.

The Company is primarily exposed to the following risks: (i) operational
risks, such as relationship with members of the HBIS, ability to manage
expansion and relocation of certain machinery and equipment, production
control, product quality control and customer services; (i) regulatory risks,
such as safety, environmental protection and maintenance of required
licenses, permits and certificates; and (iii) financial risks, such as interest
rate risk, credit risk and capital management.
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The Board is responsible for establishing the internal control system
and reviewing its effectiveness. In accordance with the applicable laws
and regulations in the PRC, the Group has established procedures for
developing and maintaining internal control systems. Such systems cover
corporate governance, operations, management, legal matters, finance
and auditing, as appropriate for the needs of the Group. The Directors
and management closely monitor the implementation and assess the
effectiveness of these guidelines and measures which are crucial to the

business sustainability.

The following sets out the key measures adopted by the Group under its
risk management and internal control systems:

° The Company has engaged an internal control consultant to appraise
the internal control systems and identify risk areas presented to the
operations and control environment of the Group. As the business
continues to expand, the Company will refine and enhance the
internal control systems to respond to the evolving requirements of
the expanded operations as appropriate. The Company will continue
to review the internal control systems to ensure compliance with
applicable legal and regulatory requirements;

° The compliance matters are directly reported to the Board which is
led by the chairman of the Board.

o The Company has formulated a comprehensive internal control policy
which covers various major areas of the operations including capital
management system, contract approval process and management,
conflict of interest declaration notice, chop management system.

CHINA GAS INDUSTRY INVESTMENT HOLDINGS CO. LTD.
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The Company conducted a comprehensive review of the Group’s risk
management and internal control system through its internal control
consultant, covering the Reporting Period. The scope of review is as
follows:

- Sales and revenue management
- Cash and treasury management
- Inventory management

The management has reported to the Board and the Audit Committee on
the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems for
the Reporting Period.

The audit department is responsible for performing independent review
of the adequacy and effectiveness of the risk management and internal
control systems. The audit department examined key issues in relation to
the accounting practices and all material controls and provided its findings
and recommendations for improvement to the Audit Committee.

The Board, as supported by the Audit Committee as well as the
management report and the internal audit findings, reviewed the risk
management and internal control systems, including the financial controls,
risk management and internal control system, for the Reporting Period,
and considered that such systems are effective and adequate. The annual
review also covered the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and
experience, training programmes and budget of the Company’s accounting
and financial reporting function.
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The Board is of the view that the Group’s risk management and internal
control systems are effective and adequate. The Board will continue to
assess the effectiveness of its risk management and internal control
systems by considering reviews and recommendations made by the senior
management, internal control consultant and Audit Committee.

PROCEDURES AND INTERNAL CONTROLS
FOR THE HANDLING AND DISSEMINATION
OF INSIDE INFORMATION

With respect to the procedures and internal controls for the handling and
dissemination of inside information, the Group conducts its affairs with
close attention to the inside information provisions under the SFO and the
Listing Rules. The Directors and senior management are responsible for
determining whether any particular information is inside information and
overseeing and coordinating disclosure of inside information of the Group.
They are also responsible for taking reasonable measures to ensure that
proper safeguards exist to prevent a breach of a disclosure requirement
in relation to the Group from time to time and that disclosures are made
and/or announcements are published on a timely basis in accordance
with the applicable laws and regulations, and before such information is
fully disclosed to the public, they shall ensure the same is kept strictly
confidential. The Directors are also committed to ensuring that information
contained in announcements are not false or misleading as to a material
fact, or false or misleading through the omission of a material fact in view
of presenting information in a clear and balanced way.

Whistleblowing is an important part of an effective internal control and
risk management system. It is a useful means of uncovering fraud,
misconduct or significant risks within the Group. The Company expects
and encourages employees of the Group and related parties who deal
with the Group such as consultants, contractors, suppliers or customers
to report to the Company their concern, allegation or any information that
fraud, corruption or any other misconduct is occurring or has occurred
in the Group. In this regard, the Company has adopted a whistle-blowing
policy, which is posted on the website of the Company, with an aim
to provide guidance and reporting channels to whistle-blowers on any
suspected fraud, malpractice or inappropriate behaviour within the Group
(the “Reportable Conduct”). Full support will be given to whistle-blowers
who in good faith report any genuinely suspected Reportable Conduct.
During the Reporting Period, the Group received no complaints or legal
cases alleging any form of corruption.

CHINA GAS INDUSTRY INVESTMENT HOLDINGS CO. LTD.



REREEHE

RRBERARSFREIESE - 587 (2 M
SFEE BT MBS RAR AR
MOARRBBERSGIE - X INRTARA
EERITRTATERBREEISHRE -

ESFBUBHRRNEE

EZNEWNSREARTNHE RO
WERWEME -

# %50 R ARG T TS AR R E 15
RATEEREYERAT IS ECLES -

RRRVEAZBEN BB I MR AR AT
MEBAS N B ZBEN RS

% 2R Fr A

RmER KRG B RE RIEFEFTR
BRARRIINE ZEMZ I H D B A
A R #2,300,0007T & A R #900,0007T °
BRAARAI N MEAR TR RIEEE
Rl 75 1 B A2z 25 B <2 1<) 5 BN &9 5 47 25 51) 40
™

TERERKRE

Corporate Governance Report

Anti-Fraud Management Policy

The Company has adopted an Anti-Fraud Management Policy which
sets out the Company’s policy and systems that promote and support
compliance with applicable antibribery and corruption
regulations, and enhances the provisions relating to bribery and corruption

laws and

in the Company’s Corporate Code of Conduct.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY IN RESPECT
OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the financial
statements of the Company for the Reporting Period.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability
to continue as a going concern.

The statement of the independent auditors of the Company about their
reporting responsibilities on the financial statements is set out in the
Independent Auditor’s Report.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The remuneration paid to the external auditor of the Company in respect of
audit services and non-audit services for the Reporting Period amounted
to RMB2,300,000 and RMB900,000 respectively. An analysis of the
remuneration paid to the external auditor of the Company in respect of
audit services and non-audit services for the Reporting Period is set out
below:

Bk 7% 38 R e EREA
Service Category Fees Paid/Payable
AR¥T
RMB
FEt R 2,300,000
Audit Services
FE B 5T AR5 900,000
Non-audit Services
3,200,000
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Hon Ming Sang, the Chief Financial Officer of the Company has been
appointed as the Company Secretary on 31 October 2022,

The Company Secretary has complied with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules
by taking no less than 15 hours of the relevant professional training during
the year.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

The Company engages with shareholders through various communication
channels.

To safeguard Shareholders’ interests and rights, separate resolution should
be proposed for each substantially separate issue at general meetings,
including the election of individual Director. All resolutions put forward at
general meetings will be voted on by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules
and poll results will be posted on the websites of the Company and of
the Stock Exchange after each general meeting.
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Procedures for Shareholders to convene an
Extraordinary General Meeting and Putting Forward

Proposal at General Meeting

Article 58 of the Articles provides that the Board may whenever it thinks fit
call extraordinary general meetings. Any one or more members holding at
the date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up
capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of
the Company shall at all times have the right, by written requisition to the
Board or the secretary of the Company, to require an extraordinary general
meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business
specified in such requisition; and such meeting shall be held within two
(2) months after the deposit of such requisition. If within twenty-one (21)
days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting
the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in the same manner,
and all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of
the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the
Company.

Putting Forward Enquiries to the Board

For putting forward any enquiries to the Board of the Company,
Shareholders may send written enquiries to the Company. The Company
will not normally deal with verbal or anonymous enquiries.

Contact Details
Shareholders may send their enquiries or requests as mentioned above
to the Company:

Address: Unit 2704A, 27th Floor, Nine Queen’s Road Central
9 Queen’s Road Central, Hong Kong
Investor Relations Department

Email: ir@cgiihldgs.com

For the avoidance of doubt, Shareholder(s) must deposit and send the
original duly signed written requisition, notice or statement, or enquiry (as
the case may be) to the above address and provide their full name, contact
details and identification in order to give effect thereto. Shareholders’
information may be disclosed as required by law.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
AND INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company considers that effective communication with Shareholders is
essential for enhancing investor relations and investor understanding of the
Group’s business performance and strategies. The Company endeavours
to maintain an on-going dialogue with Shareholders and in particular,
through annual general meetings and other general meetings. At the annual
general meeting, Directors (or their delegates as appropriate) are available
to meet Shareholders and answer their enquiries.

SHAREHOLDERS’ COMMUNICATION POLICY

The Company has in place a shareholders’ communication policy to ensure
that Shareholders’ views and concerns are appropriately addressed. The
Company shall maintain regular dialogue with Shareholders and will review
the shareholders’ communication policy (available on the Company’s
website) at least annually to ensure its effectiveness.

1. GENERAL POLICY
11 In accordance with the Articles and the relevant requirements
under the Listing Rules, this policy aims to ensure that the
Company’s Shareholders and other stakeholders at large
are provided with ready, equal, regular and timely access to
material information about the Company.

1.2  The Company aims to pursue the fundamental principles of
making fair disclosure of information to Shareholders to enable
Shareholders to exercise their rights in an informed manner.

1.3 The Board is responsible for maintaining an on-going dialogue
with Shareholders and other stakeholders, and will regularly
review this policy to ensure its effectiveness.

CHINA GAS INDUSTRY INVESTMENT HOLDINGS CO. LTD.
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The Company maintains a policy of frank communication, and
will deliver information to Shareholders and other stakeholders
through various channels:

(@ the Company’s financial reports (including interim and
annual reports);

(b)  annual general meetings and other extraordinary general
meetings that may be convened; and

() making available on the Company’s website all the
disclosed information submitted to the Stock Exchange,
the Company’s corporate communications and other
Company’s corporate publications.

COMMUNICATION CHANNELS
Shareholders’ general meetings

2.1

2.2

2.3

2.4

Shareholders are encouraged to participate in general
meetings or to appoint proxies to attend and vote at meetings
for and on their behalf if they are unable to attend the general
meetings.

There shall
Shareholders’ participation in annual general meetings.

be appropriate arrangements to encourage

The Company shall monitor and regularly review procedures
for general meetings and, if necessary, changes will be made
to ensure that Shareholders’ needs are best served.

Members of the Board (especially the chairman of each Board
committee or his/her delegate), appropriate administration and
management executives and external auditor will attend annual
general meetings to answer Shareholders’ questions.
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According to the relevant provisions of the Articles, notices
of an annual general meeting shall be despatched to
Shareholders no less than 21 clear days and no less than
20 clear business days, while notices of all other general
meetings (including an extraordinary general meeting) shall be
despatched no less than 14 clear days and no less than ten
clear business days. Relevant circulars and meeting materials
shall be delivered to Shareholders in advance in accordance
with the Listing Rules.
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If Shareholders have any questions regarding their
shareholding or corporate communications, Shareholders
should liaise with the Company’s Hong Kong branch share
registrar.

Shareholders and other stakeholders may at any time
request for the Company’s information to the extent that
such information is publicly available. The Company has
a designated email address at ir@cgiihldgs.com in which
Shareholders may make any query.
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CHINA GAS INDUSTRY INVESTMENT HOLDINGS CO. LTD.

A dedicated “Investor Relations” section is available on the
Company’s website at www.cgiihldgs.com. Information on the
Company’s website is updated on a regular basis.

Information submitted by the Company to the Stock Exchange
is posted on the Company’s website immediately thereafter.
Such information includes financial statements, results
announcements, circulars and notices of general meetings and
relevant explanatory documents, etc.
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Ongoing communication with Shareholders
210 In order to facilitate communication between the Company
and its Shareholders, the Company organises various activities

regularly:

(@ inviting Shareholders to participate in the Company’s
results announcement briefings and roadshows; and

(b)  participating in investors summits or annual conferences
held by relevant organisations.
211 The Company aims to provide corporate communication in
plain language and in both English and Chinese versions to
facilitate Shareholders’ understanding.

3. SHAREHOLDER PRIVACY
31 The Company recognises the importance of protecting

Shareholders’ privacy and will not disclose Shareholders’

information without their prior consent, unless required by

applicable laws and regulations.

The Board had reviewed the implementation of the shareholders’

communication policy and considered that the relevant policy is effective.

DIVIDEND POLICY

Subject to the Articles, the Company may announce and declare dividends
to Shareholders in any currency in general meeting, but no declared
dividends shall exceed the amount recommended by the Board. The
Articles provides that dividends may be declared and paid out of the
profits of the Company, realised or unrealised, or out of any reserve set
aside from profits which the Board may determine to be no longer needed.
With the sanction of an ordinary resolution, dividends may also be paid
out of share premium account or any other fund or account which can
be applied for this purpose as permitted by the Companies Act.
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The Company is a holding company incorporated under the laws of
the Cayman Islands. Hence, the payment and amount of any future
dividends will also depend on the availability of dividends received from
the subsidiaries. The PRC law requires that dividends be paid only on
the basis of profit for the year calculated in accordance with the PRC
accounting standards, which differs in many respects from accounting
standards generally accepted in other jurisdictions, including International
Financial Reporting Standards. The PRC law also requires foreign-invested
enterprises to set aside at least 10% of their after-tax profits, if any, as
their statutory reserves, which may not be distributed as cash dividends.
Distributions by the Company and its subsidiaries may also be subject
to any restrictive covenants relating to banking facilities, convertible bond
instruments or other agreements that may be entered into by the Company
or its subsidiaries in the future.

The amount of any dividend actually distributed to the Shareholders
will depend on the earnings and financial position of the Company, its
operating requirements, capital requirements and any other conditions
deemed relevant by the Directors, subject to the approval of the
Shareholders. The Board shall have the absolute discretion to recommend

any dividend.

Having due regard to the long-term interests of the Shareholders and
the Company, the Board does not recommend the payment of a final
dividend for the Reporting Period. As at the date of this annual report, no
arrangement has been entered into to enable the Shareholders to waive
or agree to waive any dividends (including future dividends).

CHANGE IN CONSTITUTIONAL
DOCUMENTS

The Company’s Second Amended and Restated Memorandum of
Association and Articles of Association as adopted by special resolution
at the 2023 AGM is available on the websites of the Company and Stock
Exchange. No further changes have been made to the Company’s Second
Amended and Restated Memorandum and Articles of Association during
the Reporting Period.

CHINA GAS INDUSTRY INVESTMENT HOLDINGS CO. LTD.
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Directors’ Report

The Board is pleased to present the annual report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the Reporting
Period.

GLOBAL OFFERING

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 4 August 2006
as an exempted company with limited liability under the Companies Law.
The Shares were listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange on 29
December 2020 (the “Listing”). The global offering comprised the Hong
Kong public offering of 30,000,000 Shares and the international offering
of 270,000,000 Shares (the “Global Offering”).

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Group is an industrial gas supplier operating in Hebei Province of
the PRC. It mainly focuses on the supply of pipeline industrial gas and
liquefied industrial gas and it also operates a relatively small-scale LNG-
related business which includes the supply of LNG and provision of gas
transmission service. The Group’s industrial gas products include oxygen,
nitrogen, argon, hydrogen and carbon dioxide. Industrial gas is widely
used globally in a diverse range of industries. Particularly, industrial gas
products are important raw materials for the production of iron and steel.

The activities and particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries are shown
under note 36 to the consolidated financial statements on page 229 of
this annual report. An analysis of the Group’s revenue and operating
profit for the year by principal activities is set out in the section headed
“Management Discussion and Analysis” in this annual report and note 7
to the consolidated financial statements on pages 12 to 28 of this annual
report.
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BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the Group’s business during the Reporting Period, which
includes a discussion of the principal risks and uncertainties faced by
the Group, an analysis of the Group’s performance using financial key
performance indicators, particulars of important events affecting the
Group during the Reporting Period, and an indication of likely future
developments in the Group’s business, could be found in the sections
headed “Chairman’s Statement”, “Management Discussion and Analysis”
and “Corporate Governance Report” in this annual report.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group’s financial condition, results of operations, and business
prospects may be affected by a number of risks and uncertainties directly
or indirectly pertaining to the Group’s businesses. The following are the
principal risks and uncertainties identified by the Group:

° our relationship with members of the HBIS Group is crucial to our
business operation. Our business, financial condition and results of
operation may be adversely affected if there is any change to the
current arrangements between members of the HBIS Group and us.

° our customers may prematurely terminate or default under our
industrial gas supply contracts.

° our business operations and financial performance may be adversely
affected if there is any change to the operation and/or business
development plans of members of the HBIS Group who are our
customers.

o we are subject to risk due to our expansion and relocation of
equipment associated with the development of the Zhongai
Investment (Tangshan) plant, which was our only production plant
under development as at the date of this report.

CHINA GAS INDUSTRY INVESTMENT HOLDINGS CO. LTD.
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° we expect to incur substantial depreciation expenses relating to the
construction of the Zhonggi Investment (Tangshan) plant, which may
materially and adversely affect our results of operations and financial
condition.

o our business and results of operations may be subject to the
changes in the market conditions of the iron and steel industry.

For detailed disclosure about the principal risks and uncertainties identified
by the Group, please refer to the “Risk Factors” section in the Prospectus.

The list above is not exhaustive and there may be other risks and
uncertainties in addition to those shown above which are not known to
the Group or which may not be material now but could turn out to be
material in the future.

RELATIONSHIP WITH SUPPLIERS,
CUSTOMERS AND OTHER STAKEHOLDERS

Relationship with Suppliers and Customers

The raw material used in the production process of the Group’s industrial
gas products is primarily air which we obtain at zero cost. During the
Reporting Period, consumption of utilities is the largest component of the
Group’s cost of revenue. During the Reporting Period, the Group procured
electricity, together with primarily water, heating and steam, mainly from
the Group’s pipeline industrial gas customers HBIS Company Tangshan
Branch (Al 8 f% {7 & LU % 72 &)) , Tangshan Stainless Steel and Tangshan
Plate based on certain utility purchase contracts. The Group entered into
long-term utility purchase contracts with a term of 15 or 30 years with
them. The Group also entered into a utilities purchase contract with HBIS
Laosteel which is a new customer of Zhongqi Investment (Tangshan). It is
an industry norm that the on-site customers will provide utilities to their
pipeline industrial gas supplier.
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Concentration of Customers and Suppliers

As at the date of this annual report, the Group experienced concentration
of our customers and suppliers, primarily due to the Group’s relationship
with members of the HBIS Group and our business model. Considering
that (i) such concentration is common for industrial gas suppliers in the
PRC which primarily engage in supply of pipeline industrial gas; (i) the
Group’s relationship with members of the HBIS Group; and (i) the historical
background of our establishment as well as the Group’s stability for the
past 12 years, the Directors are of the view that the Group’s concentration
of customers and suppliers would not impact on the operation of the
Group.

Overlapping Suppliers and Customers

The Group’s pipeline industrial gas customers are also our suppliers of
utilities. The sharing of utility distribution networks with the Group’s on-site
customers can save us the cost of establishing separate water pipeline
and power cable networks. Setting up production plants in close proximity
to the sites of the Group’s customers can also save delivery costs for
customers as pipeline delivery is much cheaper than road tanker delivery
in terms of large volume of constant gas supply. While the Group’s pipeline
industrial gas customers contributed significantly to the revenue during
the Reporting Period, the Group’s industrial gas products were essential
as key raw materials for their iron and steel production and the Group’s
pipeline industrial gas customers were incentivised to provide the Group
with stable and reliable utility supply.

For further details of the Group’s major customers and suppliers, please
refer to the section headed “Major Customers and Suppliers” in the
Directors’ Report.

CHINA GAS INDUSTRY INVESTMENT HOLDINGS CO. LTD.
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Relationship with Employees

Employees are regarded as valuable assets of the Group. The Group has
a workers’ union in accordance with PRC laws and regulations. The Group
did not experience any material labour dispute and we believe that the
Group has maintained a good working relationship with its staff members.
The Group places high emphasis on the training and development of our
staff. The Group invests in continuing education and training programs
for our management and other staff members to update their skills and
knowledge periodically. The Group provides training for our staff members
with respect to our operation, technical knowledge and work safety
standards and environmental protection.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The information in respect of the Group’s sales and purchases attributable
to the major customers and suppliers respectively during the Reporting
Period is as follows:

HEAEEAENESL
Percentage of the Group’s total

HEH KRB

Sales Purchases
BRREF 73%
The largest customer
AREFPAR 88%
Five largest customers in aggregate
RAHER 65%
The largest supplier
TR EEE ST 84%

Five largest suppliers in aggregate
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During the Reporting Period, sales to the Group’s five largest customers
(of which the HBIS group (including HBIS and its subsidiaries only) is
considered as one single customer) together accounted for approximately
88% of the total revenue. During the Reporting Period, sales to the HBIS
group (including HBIS and its subsidiaries) which in aggregate was the
Group’s largest customer accounted for approximately 73% of the total
revenue, and sales to the HBIS Group (including HBIS, its subsidiaries and
associates) accounted for approximately 74% of the total revenue. HBIS,
is one of the controlling shareholders of the Company (the “Controlling
Shareholders”). For more information, please refer to the section headed
“Connected Transactions” in this directors’ report.

During the Reporting Period, purchase from the Group’s five largest
suppliers (of which the HBIS group (including HBIS and its subsidiaries
only) is considered as one single supplier) together accounted for
approximately 84% of the total cost of revenue. During the Reporting
Period, purchase from the HBIS group (including HBIS and its subsidiaries
only) which in aggregate was the Group’s largest supplier accounted for
approximately 65% of the total cost of revenue, and purchase from the
HBIS Group (including HBIS, its subsidiaries and associates) accounted
for approximately 83% of the total cost of revenues for the same periods.
HBIS, is one of the Controlling Shareholders. For more information, please
refer to the section headed “Connected Transactions” in this directors’

report.

Save as disclosed above, at no time during the Reporting Period have the
Directors, their close associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) or any
Shareholder (which to the knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5%
of the number of issued Shares) had any interest in these major customers
and suppliers.

RESULTS AND DIVIDEND

The consolidation results of the Group for the Reporting Period are set
out on pages 127 to 256 of this annual report.

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the
Reporting Period (the year ended 31 December 2022: Nil).

CHINA GAS INDUSTRY INVESTMENT HOLDINGS CO. LTD.
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CHARITABLE DONATIONS

During the Reporting Period, the Group has not made any charitable
donations.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company during the
Reporting Period are set out in note 33 to the consolidated financial
statements on page 223 of this annual report.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2023, the Company’s
distribution, factoring in the share premium and accumulated losses of the

reserves available for
Company, amounted to approximately RMB1,079.27 million.

Under the Cayman Companies Act (As Revised), the share premium of
the Company can be distributed as dividend on the condition that the
Company is able to pay its debts when they fall due in the ordinary
course of business immediately following the date on which the dividend
is proposed to be paid. Additionally, the distribution of share premium as
a dividend must be approved by an ordinary resolution passed by the
shareholders of the Company in accordance with the Company’s Articles
of Association.

RESERVES

Details of the movement in the reserves of the Group and of the Company
during the Reporting Period are set out in note 34 to the consolidated
financial statements on pages 224 to 226 of this annual report.
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DIRECTORS

The Board during the Reporting Period and up to the date of this annual
report consists of the following Directors:

Executive Directors
Mr. Yao Li (Chairman)
Ms. Gao Guimin

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Zhang Wenli (appointed on 20 January 2023)
Mr. Zhang Aimin (resigned on 20 January 2023)
Mr. Lai Yui

Ms. Ng Shuk Ming

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Siu Chi Hung

Mr. Xiao Huan Wei

Ms. Li Chun Elsy

In accordance with article 84(1) of the Articles, at each annual general
meeting one-third of the Directors for the time being (or, if their number
is not a multiple of three, the number nearest to but not less than one-
third) shall retire from office by rotation provided that every Director shall
be subject to retirement at an annual general meeting at least once every
three years. In addition, in accordance with article 84(2) of the Articles, a
retiring Director shall be eligible for re-election and shall continue to act
as a Director throughout the meeting at which he retires. The Directors
to retire by rotation shall include (so far as necessary to ascertain the
number of directors to retire by rotation) any Director who wishes to retire
and not to offer himself for re-election. The executive Director Mr. Yao Li,
non-executive Director, Mr. Lai Yui and independent non-executive Director,
Mr. Siu Chi Hung shall retire from office by rotation in accordance with
article 84(1) of the Articles at the forthcoming annual general meeting of
the Company and, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election.

CHINA GAS INDUSTRY INVESTMENT HOLDINGS CO. LTD.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF THE
DIRECTORS AND THE SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of the
Group as at the date of this annual report are set out on pages 29 to
42 in the section headed “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management” to this annual report.

DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION ON
DIRECTORS

Changes in Directors’ biographical details since the date of the interim
report of the Company for the six months ended 30 June 2023 which are
required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules,
are set out as follows:

BEFHF

Details of change

H2023FoA R RELERDESHMMNAARKELSHENTHE -
Mr. Lai has been the executive project director at Public Investment Fund in Saudi

Arabia since September 2023.

EERBFEXEBNER

RBMERR - BRETRRE R, EN B
NENEFI BEEFHESANET
HEA(ERR EMARADREZRKHER
AR EARAREXEFENBEFOEBTE
BEMELR -

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the Reporting Period, none of the Directors or their respective close
associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) had any interest in a business
that competed or was likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with
the business of the Group, other than being a director of the Company
and/or its subsidiaries.

%R Annual Report 2023

79



80

EEEHG

Directors’ Report

EENBRBEIRERES

BERTEZCDHRARARTTRBEEL « &
bt BREREETHITES - FHH2023
F12R200 B A =F - AJHPATE B K
RARABEHTOR=_EANETEN
a1k -

EFRPTESRBEUIANITEEFE 102023
FI2A0RBEARAEEZAE  FHA
H=F AAEFIARABBELTD
R=EAMEZEMBANMELLL - RXFEE
M2023F1H20 A ZE RIEMITEERD M
ARRABEBZAE AHABH=F AA
EFHARABATHAILR=ZMEANE
EBAMmELE - BRESENZEE  §3F
BITEERBUFNTESERERERE
MEEHRD -

E=ZZAXRERANTHNERRELKE
R SRR -

BREXHBEEIN RAREAH  HE
EREARRFREAEANERBETLER
RBEEH(TRER —FRERIARE R
R—FRKLEMEBNEECEERE
BRIN BB HD) o

EEREREEENS

AEEEENEREEENNehESS
SLEFMEESHRENER  LEHARAK
SENEEXE EARBRLALTESHR
SHEFMIRE

FHEEMEURAEBRRUESE A
TSN FBHNAFIRFEI102E196E 4
B B 75 ) 2% B 5E13(@) & 13(b) ©

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS AND
LETTERS OF APPOINTMENTS

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a new service contract
with the Company, under which they agreed to act as executive Directors
for a term of three years commencing from 29 December 2023, which
may be terminated by not less than three months’ notice in writing served
by either the executive Director or the Company.

Each of the non-executive Directors and the independent non-executive
Directors has signed an appointment letter with the Company on 29
December 2023 for term of three years, which may be terminated by not
less than three months’ notice in writing served by either of the Director
or the Company. Mr. Zheng Wenli, who was appointed as a non-executive
Director on 20 January 2023, has signed an appointment letter with the
Company for a term of three years, which may be terminated by not less
than three months’ notice in writing served by either of the Director or
the Company. Under the respective appointment letters, each of the non-
executive Directors and independent non-executive Directors is entitled to
a fixed Director’s fee.

The appointments of the Directors are subject to the provisions of
retirement and rotation of Directors under the Articles.

Save as disclosed above, as at the date of this report, none of the Directors
has entered into any service contract with the Company or any of its
subsidiaries (excluding contracts expiring or determinable by the Company
within one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation).

EMOLUMENT OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

The emoluments of the Directors and senior management of the Group
are decided by the Board with reference to the recommendation given
by the Remuneration Committee, having regard to the Group’s operating
results, individual performance and comparable market statistics.

Details of the Directors’ emoluments and emoluments of the five highest
paid individuals in the Group are set out in notes 13(a) and 13(b) to the
consolidated financial statements on pages 192 to 196 of this annual
report.

CHINA GAS INDUSTRY INVESTMENT HOLDINGS CO. LTD.
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Certain Directors had waived their Directors’ fee during the Reporting
Period. No emoluments were paid by the Group to any Director as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss
of office for the Reporting Period.

Except as disclosed above, no other payments had been made or were
payable, for the Reporting Period, by the Group to or on behalf of any of
the Directors.

INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVE IN SECURITIES

As at 31 December 2023, none of the Directors or chief executive of the
Company has any interests or short positions in the shares, underlying
shares or debentures of the Company or any associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which will have to be notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange under Divisions 7 and 8 of Part
XV of the SFO (including interests and/or short positions which they are
taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or which will
be required, under section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register
referred to in that section, or under the Model Code to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES
OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in this annual report, at no time during the Reporting
Period was the Company or its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement
that would enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of acquisition
of Shares in or debentures of the Company or any other body corporate,
and none of the Directors or their spouses or children under the age of 18
were granted any right to subscribe for the share capital or debt securities
of the Company or any other body corporate, or had exercised any such
right.
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CONTINUING DISCLOSURE OBLIGATIONS
PURSUANT TO THE LISTING RULES

Save as disclosed in this annual report, the Company does not have any
other disclosure obligations under Rules 13.20, 13.21 and 13.22 of the
Listing Rules.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

During the Reporting Period, other than the Share Option Scheme as
set out in the section under “Share Option Scheme” and note 41 to the
consolidated financial statements on pages 256 of this annual report, the
Company has not entered into any equity-linked agreement.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted the Share Option Scheme conditionally by the
written resolutions of its then shareholders on 17 June 2020 (the “Date
of Adoption”) and such scheme is effective for a period of 10 years
commencing from 29 December 2020. The remaining life of the Share
Option Scheme is approximately six years and nine months. The Share
Option Scheme is a share incentive scheme prepared in accordance with
Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules. The principal terms of the Share Option
Scheme are summarised as follows:

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to motivate Eligible Persons
(as defined below) to optimise their future contributions to the Group and/
or to reward them for their past contributions, to attract and retain or
otherwise maintain on-going relationships with Eligible Persons who are
significant to and/or whose contributions are or will be beneficial to the
performance, growth or success of the Group, and additionally in the case
of Executives (as defined below), to enable the Group to attract and retain
individuals with experience and ability and/or to reward them for their past
contributions.

CHINA GAS INDUSTRY INVESTMENT HOLDINGS CO. LTD.
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The Board may, at its sole discretion, invite any director of, manager of,
or other employee holding an executive, managerial, supervisory or similar
position in, any member of the Group (an “Employee”), any proposed
Employee, any full-time or part-time Employee, or a person for the time
being seconded to work full-time or part-time for any member of the Group
(an “Executive”), a director or proposed director (including an independent
non-executive director) of any member of the Group, a general staff of
any member of the Group, a consultant, business or joint venture partner,
franchisee, contractor, agent or representative of any member of the
Group, a person or entity that provides advisory, consultancy, professional
or other services to any member of the Group, or a close associate (as
defined under the Listing Rules) of any of the foregoing persons (together,
the “Eligible Persons” and each an “Eligible Person”).

The maximum number of Shares to be issued upon exercise of all
outstanding share options granted and yet to be exercised under the
Share Option Scheme (and under any other share option schemes of
the Company) shall not exceed 30% of the Shares in issue at any time.
The maximum number of Shares to be issued upon exercise of all share
options which may be granted under the Share Option Scheme (and under
any other share option schemes) shall not in aggregate exceed 10% of
the Shares in issue as at the Listing Date (i.e. not exceeding 120,000,000
Shares) (the “Scheme Mandate Limit”).

The maximum number of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of
the share options granted to any one Eligible Person (including exercised
and outstanding share options) in any 12-month period shall not exceed
1% of the Shares in issue from time to time.
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A share option may be exercised at any time during the option period to
be determined by the Board at its absolute discretion, save that no option
may be exercised more than 10 years from the date of grant. An offer of
the grant of a share option shall be deemed to have been accepted when
the duplicate letter comprising acceptance of the share option duly signed
by the grantee together with a remittance in favour of the Company of
HK$1.00 by way of consideration for the grant thereof is received by the
Company within the period specified in the letter containing the offer of
the grant of the share option. Once such acceptance is made, the share
option shall be deemed to have been granted and to have taken effect
from the offer date.

The subscription price in respect of any particular share option shall be
such price as the Board may in its absolute discretion determine at the
time of grant of the relevant share option (and shall be stated in the letter
containing the offer of the grant of the share option), but the subscription
price shall be the highest of: (a) the nominal value of Share; (b) the closing
price of Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet
on the offer date; and (c) the average of the closing prices of Shares as
stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet for the five business
days immediately preceding the offer date. The subscription price shall
also be subject to adjustment in accordance with the reorganisation of
capital structure.

As at the date of this annual report, the total number of Shares available
for issue under the Share Option Scheme was 120,000,000, representing
10% of the issued shares of the Company.

No options has been granted by the Company under the Share Option
Scheme since the Date of Adoption. The Company did not have any
outstanding share options as at 31 December 2022 and up to the date
of this report.

At the beginning and at the end of the Company’s financial year, the total
number of options available for grant under the Share Option Scheme was
120,000,000 shares representing 10% of the issued Shares.

CHINA GAS INDUSTRY INVESTMENT HOLDINGS CO. LTD.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’
INTERESTS IN SECURITIES

To the best of the knowledge of the Directors or chief executives of the
Company, as at 31 December 2023, the persons (other than Directors or
chief executives of the Company) who had interests or short positions in
Shares or underlying Shares which were required to be disclosed to the
Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO
or as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under
section 336 of the SFO are as follows:

RR&ER

EART
BREZH ERITREN
BEinE ke #A CEER

Approximate
Number of percentage of the
Shares Company’s issued

Name of Shareholder Nature of Interest interested share capital
EERRELNBRAA ERBEAA 118,720,000(L) 9.85%
Hong Kong Kaiyuan Import & Export Co., Limited Beneficial owner

BETANERERAAN(EAEEBN]) EnlEBA 431,904,000(L) 35.99%

Huitang Zhihe (Hong Kong) Co., Limited
(BEEA(EH)BRAF) (‘HK Huitang Zhihe’)?

LEEEBNREARAA(LEEERA)®

Shanghai Huitang Zhihe Investment Co., Ltd.

(bEZESMZEAFRAA) (“SH Huitang Zhihe’)?

EE
HBIS Company @
MM EEEREE AR (CTHILE]) @
Handan Iron and Steel Group Co., Ltd.
(HEME £E AR ETAF) (‘HBIS Hansteel’)?
3 & E
HBIS @
hERBREERAF(CGI)®
China Gas Investors Ltd. (“CGI")®
Huang He Investment Limited (Huang HeJ) ®
Huang He Investment Limited (‘Huang He")®
China Infrastructure Partners, L.P.
(TChina Infrastructure]) ©
China Infrastructure Partners, L.P.
(“China Infrastructure”)®

Beneficial owner

XELERER 431,904,000(L) 35.99%

Interest in a controlled corporation
)

XEEEER 431,904,000(L) 35.99%
Interest in a controlled corporation
RErEER 431,904,000(L) 35.99%

Interest in a controlled corporation

RErEER 431,904,000(L) 35.99%
Interest in a controlled corporation
ERBEAA 468,096,000(L) 39.01%
Beneficial owner
REEEES 468,096,000(1) 39.01%
Interest in a controlled corporation
XEEERR

468,096,000(L) 39.01%
Interest in a controlled corporation
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Approximate

Number of percentage of the

Shares Company’s issued

Name of Shareholder Nature of Interest interested share capital

CITP GP I Ltd. ([CITP GPJ) @ REEEER 468,096,000(L) 39.01%
CITP GP I Ltd. (“CITP GP")® Interest in a controlled corporation

PREARKRERRLAAC RELEES 468,096,000(1) 39.01%
BOCI Investment Limited® Interest in a controlled corporation

hREBRERERATO REEEES 468,096,000(1) 39.01%
BOC International Holdings Limited® Interest in a controlled corporation

REFTROBERAA REEEER 468,096,000(L) 39.01%
Bank of China Limited © Interest in a controlled corporation

Springleaf Investments Pte. Ltd. @ XEEEER 468,096,000(L) 39.01%
Springleaf Investments Pte. Ltd. © Interest in a controlled corporation

Anderson Investments Pte. Ltd. @ R EEERE 468,096,000(L) 39.01%
Anderson Investments Pte. Ltd. © Interest in a controlled corporation

Thomson Capital Pte. Ltd. @ THREERERE 468,096,000(L) 39.01%
Thomson Capital Pte. Ltd. © Interest in a controlled corporation

Tembusu Capital Pte. Ltd. @ REEEER 468,096,000(L) 39.01%
Tembusu Capital Pte. Ltd. © Interest in a controlled corporation

Temasek Holdings (Private) Limited © REEEERE 468,096,000(L) 39.01%

Temasek Holdings (Private) Limited ©

Interest in a controlled corporation

B

(1)
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CHINA GAS INDUSTRY INVESTMENT HOLDINGS CO.

The letter “L” denotes the Shareholder’s long position in the Shares.

HK Huitang Zhihe is wholly-owned by SH Huitang Zhihe which in turn is wholly-owned
by HBIS Company, which in turn is directly and indirectly owned by Chengde Iron and
Steel Group Co., Ltd. ({2 iffl 2 £ [# /5 B2 72 7)) (‘HBIS Chengsteel’), HBIS Hansteel
and HBIS Tangsteel as to approximately 4.17%, 39.73% and 18.32%, respectively,
and HBIS Chengsteel, HBIS Hansteel and HBIS Tangsteel are owned by HBIS as to
100%, 100% and 92.99%, respectively. As such, HBIS through its subsidiaries together
indirectly holds approximately 62.22% equity interest in HBIS Company. By virtue of
the SFO, each of SH Huitang Zhihe, HBIS Company, HBIS Hansteel and HBIS was
deemed to be interested in the same number of Shares held by HK Huitang Zhihe.

LTD.
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CGl is owned as to 80% and 20% by Huang He and OxyChina Limited (“OxyChina”)
respectively. Huang He is wholly-owned by China Infrastructure, whose general partner
is CITP GP, which is held as to:

(i) 60% by BOCI Investment Limited, which is wholly-owned by BOC International
Holdings Limited, which is in turn wholly-owned by Bank of China Limited whose
shares are listed and traded on the Main Board (stock code: 3988) and the
Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 601988); and

(if) 40% by Springleaf Investments Pte. Ltd., which is wholly-owned by Anderson
Investments Pte. Ltd., which is in turn wholly-owned by Thomson Capital Pte.
Ltd.. Thomson Capital Pte. Ltd. is wholly-owned by Tembusu Capital Pte. Ltd.,
which is in turn wholly-owned by Temasek Holdings (Private) Limited.

As at the date of this report, (a) each of the 4 shareholders of OxyChina charged all
of the shares registered in their respective own name in OxyChina; and (b) OxyChina
charged all of its shares in CGlI registered in its name in favour of Eastern Sky Limited
as security agent nominated by Huang He pursuant to the charges dated 25 July 2011.
For details, please refer to the section headed “History, Reorganisation and Corporate
Structure — Overview” in the Prospectus.

By virtue of the SFO, each of Huang He, China Infrastructure, CITP GP, BOCI
Investment Limited, BOC International Holdings Limited, Bank of China Limited,
Springleaf Investments Pte. Ltd., Anderson Investments Pte. Ltd., Thomson Capital Pte.
Ltd., Tembusu Capital Pte. Ltd. and Temasek Holdings (Private) Limited was deemed
to be interested in the same number of Shares held by CGI.
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, the Company had
not been notified by any person (other than Directors or chief executives
of the Company) that they had interests or short positions in Shares or
underlying Shares which were required to be disclosed to the Company
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or as
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under section
336 of the SFO.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, the Directors confirm that the
Company has maintained during the year under review the amount of
public float as required under the Listing Rules.

INDEMNITY OF DIRECTORS

Article 164(1) of the Articles provides that the Directors, among others, at
any time, whether at present or in the past, and the liquidator or trustees
(if any) acting or who have acted in relation to any of the affairs of the
Company and everyone of them, and everyone of their heirs, executors
and administrators, shall be indemnified and secured harmless out of the
assets and profits of the Company from and against all actions, costs,
charges, losses, damages and expenses which they or any of them, their
or any of their heirs, executors or administrators, shall or may incur or
sustain by or by reason of any act done, concurred in or omitted in or
about the execution of their duty, or supposed duty, in their respective
offices or trusts; and none of them shall be answerable for the acts,
receipts, neglects or defaults of the other or others of them or for joining in
any receipts for the sake of conformity, or for any bankers or other persons
with whom any moneys or effects belonging to the Company shall or may
be lodged or deposited for safe custody, or for insufficiency or deficiency
of any security upon which any moneys of or belonging to the Company
shall be placed out on or invested, or for any other loss, misfortune or
damage which may happen in the execution of their respective offices
or trusts, or in relation thereto; PROVIDED THAT this indemnity shall not
extend to any matter in respect of any fraud or dishonesty which may
attach to any of said persons.

CHINA GAS INDUSTRY INVESTMENT HOLDINGS CO. LTD.
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The Company has arranged appropriate liability insurance for the Directors
and senior management.

DIRECTOR’S INTEREST IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENT OR CONTRACT OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Related Party Transactions”
in this directors’ report and in note 38 to the consolidated financial
statements contained in this annual report, no transaction, arrangement
and contract of significance to the business of the Group which the
Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party, and in which a Director or
any entity connected with such a Director had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during
the Reporting Period.

BORROWINGS

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had outstanding bank borrowings
of approximately RMB533 million. Details of the borrowings are set out in
the section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” in this annual
report and note 30 to the consolidated financial statements.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the group for
the last five financial years is set out on page 11 of this annual report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property and equipment of the Group during
the Reporting Period are set out in note 17 to the consolidated financial
statements on pages 201 to 203 of this annual report.
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EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION
POLICIES

As at 31 December 2023, the Group employed a total of 323 employees
December 2022. Total
expenditures during the Reporting Period amounted to approximately

as compared to 341 as at 31 employee
RMB55.37 million as compared to approximately RMB58.38 million for
the year ended 31 December 2022. The Group operates a defined
contribution retirement scheme under the Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance (Chapter 485 of the Laws of Hong Kong) for all
qualified employees. Employees of the Group’s factories in the PRC are
members of a state-managed retirement benefit plan operated by the

government of the PRC.

The remuneration of the Directors and senior management members
is based on their experience, level of responsibility and general market
conditions. Any discretionary bonus and other merit payments are linked
to the profit performance of the Group and the individual performance
of the Directors and senior management members. The Company’s
remuneration policy is subject to review by and the recommendations of
the Remuneration Committee. To attract and retain the suitable personnel
for the development of the Group, the Group has adopted the Share Option
Scheme since June 2020. Pursuant to the Share Option Scheme, share
options may be granted to eligible employees of the Group as a long-term
incentive.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

Other than the Directors’ service contracts and appointment letters, no
contract concerning the management and administration of the whole or
any substantial part of the business of the Group was entered into or in
existence as at the end of the year or at any time during the Reporting
Period.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME

The Group has engaged certain employees in its office in Hong Kong for
the Reporting Period and each of such employees has participated in the
Mandatory Provident Fund in Hong Kong.

CHINA GAS INDUSTRY INVESTMENT HOLDINGS CO. LTD.
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The employees of the PRC subsidiaries are members of the state-
managed retirement benefits scheme operated by the PRC government.
The employees of the PRC subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain
percentage of their payroll to the retirement benefits scheme to fund the
benefits. The only obligation of the Group with respect to this retirement
benefits scheme is to make the required contributions under the scheme.

Details of the pension obligations of the Company are set out in note 4(q)
to the consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive
Directors an annual confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules and considers all the independent non-executive
Directors to be independent.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

The Group is highly aware of the importance of environment protection
and has not noted any material non-compliance with all relevant laws and
regulations in relation to its business including health and safety, workplace
conditions, employment and the environment. The Group has implemented
environmental protection measures and has also encouraged staff to be
environmental friendly at work by consuming the electricity and paper
according to actual needs, so as to reduce energy consumption and
minimize unnecessary waste. Further details of the Group’s environmental
policies and performance will be disclosed in the environmental, social
and governance report of the Company for the Reporting Period to be
published together with this annual report.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
THE COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

During the Reporting Period, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
had purchased, sold or redeemed the Company’s listed securities.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles or the
laws of the Cayman Islands which would oblige the Company to offer new
Shares on a pro-rata basis to its existing shareholders.
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CONTRACT WITH CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS

Other than disclosed in the section headed “Connected Transactions” in
this directors’ report and note 38 to the consolidated financial statements
on pages 230 to 242 of this annual report, no contract of significance
was entered into between the Company or any of its subsidiaries and the
Controlling Shareholders or any of its subsidiaries during the Reporting
Period or subsisted at the end of the year, and no contract of significance
for the provision of services to the Company or any of its subsidiaries by
a Controlling Shareholder or any of its subsidiaries was entered into during
the Reporting Period or subsisted at the end of the year.

NON-COMPETITION ARRANGEMENTS

As disclosed in the Prospectus, HBIS has executed a Non-Competition
Undertaking to the effect that it will not, and will procure its subsidiaries
not to, among others, engaged in any activities which are or may be in
competition, either directly or indirectly, with those of the Group.

HBIS has confirmed and undertaken in the Non-Competition Undertaking
that the Industrial Gas Assets are primarily ancillary facilities for the
iron and steel production of HBIS and its subsidiaries and the industrial
gas produced with such Industrial Gas Assets is primarily distributed to
subsidiaries of HBIS through pipelines for their own use.

HBIS and its
subsidiaries have not engaged in any activities which are in competition,

As confirmed in the Non-Competition Undertaking,
either directly or indirectly, with those of the Group. HBIS and its
subsidiaries also undertake not to, either directly or indirectly, engage in
any activities which are or may be in competition with the business of the
Group in the future.

Upon Listing, in the event that the Group makes a request to acquire, or
HBIS intends to dispose of or any third party offers to HBIS to acquire the
Industrial Gas Assets, either in whole or in part, the Group shall have the
right of first refusal to acquire the Industrial Gas Assets on a preferential
basis at a fair consideration to be evaluated by an appraiser.

CHINA GAS INDUSTRY INVESTMENT HOLDINGS CO. LTD.
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In the event that any adjustments of national policy(ies) or other force
majeure event(s) lead(s) to inevitable competition between the businesses
of the Group and those of HBIS and its subsidiaries in the future (the
“Potential Competing Businesses”), HBIS and its subsidiaries shall
forthwith adopt measures in a timely manner to transfer the Potential
Competing Businesses to the Group on a preferential basis under the
same conditions or cease such Potential Competing Businesses.

HBIS has further undertaken that it shall fully respect the Group as an
independent legal person and ensure our independent operation and the
Group’s autonomy in decision-making.

As confirmed by HBIS,
Undertaking for disclosure in this annual report during the Reporting

it had complied with the Non-competition

Period. HBIS did not transfer and no third party had offered to acquire
any Industrial Gas Assets during the Reporting Period and no Potential
Competing Business was identified by HBIS during the same period. The
independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the implementation
of the Non-Competition Undertaking and are of the view that the Non-
Competition Undertakings has been complied with by HBIS for the
Reporting Period.

MATERIAL LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

The Group was not involved in any material legal proceeding during the
Reporting Period.

LOAN AND GUARANTEE

During the Reporting Period, the Group had not made any loan or
provided any guarantee for loan, directly or indirectly, to the Directors,
senior management of the Company, the Controlling Shareholders or their
respective connected persons.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES
OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in this annual report, at no time during the Reporting
Period was the Company, or any of its subsidiaries, a party to any
arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares in, or debt securities including debentures of, the
Company or any other body corporate.
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TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION OF HOLDERS
OF LISTED SECURITIES

The Company is not aware of any tax relief or exemption available to the
Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company’s securities.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Discloseable and connected transaction during the
Reporting Period

On 29 June 2022, TTG, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, and
Tangshan Plate entered into the gas products supply agreement (“Gas
Products Supply Agreement”), pursuant to which (i) TTG shall invest in
the construction of a vacuum pressure swing adsorption oxygen generation
unit (EZ=#EI M HIE X E ) and ancillary facilities (‘Production Unit”) in
the amount of RMB82.9 million; (i) TTG shall operate the Production Unit
during the initial term of 42 months commencing from the date when the
Production Unit is put into operation, which may be further extended for
(@) not more than six months in the event that the actual operating hours
of the Production Unit is affected by the production restrictions imposed
by the PRC government and (b) not more than 12 months in the event that
the Production Unit fails to operate due to TTG (the “Term”); (i) Tangshan
Plate shall provide the construction site for the project for the construction
and operations of the Production Unit and the supply of gas products by
TTG to Tangshan Plate (the “Project”); (iv) Tangshan Plate shall provide the
utilities for the operation of the Production Unit including, among others,
water, electricity and steam (the “Utilities”) during the Term and TTG shall
pay the Utilities expenses pursuant to the operational utilities and related
services agreement entered into by Tangshan Plate and TTG in June 2018;
(v) Tangshan Plate shall purchase the gas products produced by TTG at
the Production Unit during the Term; and (vi) upon expiry or termination of
the Gas Products Supply Agreement, the Company is expected to receive
the aggregate amount of purchase of RMB124,355,400 (net of certain
operating expenses including the Utilities expenses incurred by TTG as
agreed under the Gas Products Supply Agreement, power supply circuit,
labour and maintenance costs and excluding tax). TTG shall transfer the
ownership of the Production Unit to Tangshan Plate (the “Transfer”) at nil
consideration.

CHINA GAS INDUSTRY INVESTMENT HOLDINGS CO. LTD.
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As disclosed in the circular of the Company dated 16 December 2022
(the “Circular”), TTG is the exclusive pipeline industrial gas supplier for
Tangshan Plate. The Group understands that Tangshan Plate’s demand
for oxygen is expected to further increase by approximately 30% in 2023
according to its production plan. In light of the above, Tangshan Plate and
TTG decided to cooperate in implementing the Project to tackle the oxygen
supply shortage. In addition, the Project also allows the Group to benefit
from reduced energy consumption and production cost and enhance the
Group’s technical resource reserves, expand the Group’s business scope,
and further enhance the Group’s competitiveness in oxygen production.
For further details of the reasons for and the benefits of the entering into
the Gas Product Supply Agreement, please refer to the Circular.

Since Tangshan Plate is a non-wholly owned subsidiary of HBIS Company,
a Controlling Shareholder of the Company, Tangshan Plate is a connected
person of the Company. As the highest applicable percentage ratio as
defined under the Listing Rules in respect of the Transfer is more than 5%
but less than 25%, the Transfer will constitute (i) a non-exempt connected
transaction under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules; and (ii) a discloseable
transaction under Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules, and will be subject
to the reporting, announcement and independent shareholders’ approval
requirements under the Listing Rules.

At the extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on 6 January
2023, the independent Shareholders voted in favour of an ordinary
resolution for approving the Gas Products Supply Agreement and the
transaction contemplated therein.

For further details of the Gas Products Supply Agreement, please refer to
the announcement, the Circular and the poll result announcement of the
Company dated 29 June 2022, 16 December 2022 and 6 January 2023,
respectively.
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Continuing connected transactions for the Reporting

Period

As each of HBIS Company and HBIS is a Controlling Shareholder,
members of the HBIS Group are the connected persons of the Company.
Therefore, the following transactions constituted continuing connected
transactions of the Group for the Reporting Period, which are subject to
the reporting and annual review requirements under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules:

NON-EXEMPT CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

(1) Master Gas Products and Related Services Agreement
Description and principal terms

On 17 June 2020, the Company and HBIS entered into a gas products and
related services framework agreement (the “Master Gas Products and
Related Services Agreement”), pursuant to which, the Company agreed
to supply gas products (including pipeline and liquefied industrial gas and
other gas products as agreed by the Company and members of the HBIS
Group from time to time) and provide related services (including provision
of gas transmission and storage tanks rental services) to members of the
HBIS Group mainly for their production of iron and steel products (the “Gas
Products and Related Services Transactions”) for a term commencing
from the Listing Date and ending on 31 December 2022, which would be
automatically renewed for a successive period of three years thereafter
subject to review and approval by the independent Shareholders after the
expiration of the three-year term and the compliance with the Listing Rules.
The renewal of the Master Gas Products and Related Services Agreement
for a successive term of three years was approved by the independent
Shareholders’ on 29 December 2022. The Group may from time to time
enter into operational agreement(s) with members of the HBIS Group in
relation to any Gas Products and Related Services Transaction(s) upon,
and subject to, the terms and conditions of the Master Gas Products
and Related Services Agreement (the “Operational Gas Products and
Related Services Agreements”). Each of the Company and HBIS agreed
to procure their respective members to comply with the terms of the
Master Gas Products and Related Services Agreement.

CHINA GAS INDUSTRY INVESTMENT HOLDINGS CO. LTD.
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The following table sets out the major existing Operational Gas Products

TRETN2023F12A3ENFEHR B L
BREEMAERERSHE:

and Related Services Agreements as at 31 December 2023:

EIE Sy HAKBEMER REME HR
Relationship with
Counterparty the Group Nature of the transaction Term
A 3 & 1L 3 A B (B 5D A $8 % 17 & HEIXRE BEETRNEBER A 2007F3AZE
VNS REITRARBIER ARREREAR 203743 A
HBIS Tangshan Branch Branch of HBIS Supply of industrial gas, including but not ~ March 2007 to March
(Note 1) Company limited to pipeline oxygen, nitrogen, and 2037
hydrogen and liquefied oxygen, nitrogen and
argon
J& 1L A 85 8 (BT 5E2) ] 50 25 5 Y HEIXRRE BERETERREEBEEARK 2007F3A%E
ag==pNS ARNRBRIELER ARKEAR 203743 A

Tangshan Stainless Steel
(Note 2)

LR EAR (1)

Tangshan Plate (Note 1)

FEILHEEERRTER
ARAR(ELER)
(Pt 7£3)

Tangshan Iron and Steel Group

High-strength Car Plate
Co., Ltd. (“Tangshan

High-Strength”) (Note 3)

80 46 = (Pl 5£4)

HBIS Laosteel (Note 4)

Subsidiary of HBIS
Tangsteel

] 50 s A7 B
oy FNG]

Subsidiary of HBIS
Company

o7 48 5 800 )
oy pNC]

Subsidiary of HBIS
Tangsteel

EETES
1=
Subsidiary of HBIS

Supply of industrial gas, including but not
limited to pipeline oxygen and nitrogen, and
liquefied oxygen, nitrogen and argon

HETXRE ERETRREEER A
RESRARBIEEAR BRREAR

Supply of industrial gas, including but not
limited to pipeline oxygen, nitrogen and
hydrogen and liquefied oxygen, nitrogen and
argon

HEIXRE ERETRREEARNR

Supply of industrial gas, including but not
limited to pipeline nitrogen and hydrogen

HEIXRE BEETRREBER A
F SREERAURRETEARAR
Supply of industrial gas, including but not
limited to pipeline oxygen, nitrogen, argon
and hydrogen and liquefied oxygen and
nitrogen

March 2007 to March
2037

201561 A ZE
2029F12R4 -
THE-—FERE
2033%9A

January 2015 to
December 2029 and
further extended to
September 2033

2023F1AE
2023%7A

January 2023 to
July 2023

20204108 £ 203541048

October 2020 to
October 2035
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Notes:

1. HBIS Company is a Controlling Shareholder indirectly holding 35.99% of the issued
share capital of the Company and therefore is a connected person of the Company.
HBIS Tangshan Branch is a branch company of HBIS Company and Tangshan Plate is
a subsidiary of HBIS Company and therefore are connected persons of the Company
under the Listing Rules.

2. HBIS, through its subsidiaries, indirectly holds approximately 62.22% equity interest in
HBIS Company. HBIS Company indirectly holds 35.99% of the issued share capital of
the Company. Each of HBIS and HBIS Company is a Controlling Shareholder and a
connected person of the Company under the Listing Rules. Tangshan Stainless Steel
is a subsidiary of HBIS Tangsteel which is a non-wholly owned subsidiary of HBIS.
Accordingly, Tangshan Stainless Steel is a connected person of the Company under
the Listing Rules.

3. Tangshan High-Strength is a subsidiary of HBIS Tangsteel. Accordingly, Tangshan
High-Strength is a connected person of the Company under the Listing Rules.

4. HBIS Laosteel is a subsidiary of HBIS Company. Accordingly, HBIS Laosteel is a
connected person of the Company under the Listing Rules.

Despite that the Master Gas Products and Related Services Agreement
has an initial term of three years, the majority of the major existing
Operational Gas Products and Related Services Agreements were
entered into on a long-term basis as set out above. The Directors
believe that the long-term industrial gas supply arrangement can protect
the interests of the Company and the Shareholders by minimising the
Company’s investment and capital risk in incurring a large amount of
capital expenditure in the construction of the production facilities before
generating any revenue. The Directors are of the view that the long-
term industrial gas supply arrangement is necessary for the efficient and
continuing operation of the Company and that the long-term industrial gas
supply arrangement is an established feature of the Company’s business
model for the on-site industrial gas supply operation and is consistent with
the industry norm. For further details of the terms of the major existing
Operational Gas Products and Related Services Agreements, please
refer to the sections headed “Business — Our business — Customers —

» o

Pipeline industrial gas customers”, Customers — Liquefied industrial gas
customers” and “— Customers — LNG-related business customers” in the

Prospectus.
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Each of the Operational Gas Products and Related Services Agreements
is and will be subject to the terms and conditions of the Master Gas
Products and Related Services Agreement. Upon expiration of the Master
Gas Products and Related Services Agreement and the annual caps and
in the event that the approval from the independent shareholders for its
renewal or new annual caps is not granted, the Company will re-comply
with the relevant Listing Rules or apply for waivers in respect of each of
the Operational Gas Products and Related Services Agreements, where
applicable.

Pricing guidelines

The unit price for each type of industrial gas products and the fees for
related services are set out in the relevant Operational Gas Products and
Related Services Agreement subject to adjustment by parties entering into
a supplemental agreement. The unit price for each type of the pipeline
industrial gas products is determined on cost plus basis after arm’s length
negotiations between the relevant parties, taking into account major costs,
including electricity expenses (with reference to the government-prescribed
price), depreciation of our equipment and the administrative and finance
cost. The unit price of each type of liquefied industrial gas and fees for
storage tanks rental services will be determined with reference to the
relevant market price charged by independent third party providers for
the same or similar type of liquefied industrial gas and rental services
and actual cost which includes the transportation cost, where applicable.
The fees for gas transmission are based on actual costs and expenses
incurred in providing such service. Monthly settlement is made on the basis
of the actual supply volume by each of the relevant member of the HBIS
Group under the relevant Operational Gas Products and Related Services
Agreement where applicable.

As the Group’s business is electricity intensive, where relevant, the existing
Operational Gas Products and Related Services Agreements provide for
a price adjustment mechanism with a pre-determined formula to factor in
the fluctuation in electricity price and supplemental agreements between
the Group and relevant member of the HBIS Group have been or will be
made to reflect the price adjustment under such mechanism.
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Payment term:

In accordance with the terms of the Operational Gas Products and Related
Services Agreements which will be payable within seven days from the
HBIS Group’s receipt of the invoice issued by the Group.

Implications under the Listing Rules

Since one or more of the applicable percentage ratios for the Gas Products
and Related Services Transactions contemplated under the Master Gas
Products and Related Services Agreement is more than 5%, the Gas
Products and Related Services Transactions contemplated under the
Master Gas Products and Related Services Agreement shall be subject
to annual review, reporting, announcement, circular and independent
shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.

Description and principal terms

On 17 June 2020, the Company and HBIS entered into a utilities and
related services framework agreement (the “Master Utilities and Related
Services Agreement”), pursuant to which, the Group agreed to procure
from members of the HBIS Group utilities including, among others,
water, electricity, steam and coke oven gas (“COG”), related equipment
(including electrical cabinet and cables) and services (including sewage
treatment services) (the “Utilities and Related Services”) (the “Utilities
and Related Services Transactions”) for a term commencing from
the Listing Date and ending on 31 December 2022, which would be
automatically renewed for a successive period of three years thereafter
subject to review and approval by the independent Shareholders after
the expiration of the three-year term and the compliance with the Listing
Rules. The renewal of the Master Ultilities and Related Services Agreement
for a successive term of three years was approved by the independent
Shareholders’ on 29 December 2022. The Group may from time to time
enter into operational agreement(s) with members of the HBIS Group in
relation to any Utilities and Related Services Transaction(s) upon, and
subject to, the terms and conditions of the Master Utilities and Related
Services Agreement (the “Operational Utilities and Related Services
Agreements”). Each of the Company and HBIS agreed to procure their
respective members to comply with the terms of the Master Utilities and
Related Services Agreement.
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TREHN2023F12A3MEBNETEIR AL The following table sets out the major existing Operational Utilities and

Z e R N AH B AR 75 1 5 - Related Services Agreements as at 31 December 2023:
EIE Sy HAKBEHER REME HIR
Relationship with
Counterparty the Group Nature of the transaction Term
EE AN SR A 38 % 17 B 9 A &) KEARER BEEN K FAIREE 2007F3AE2037F3H
KR
HBIS Tangshan Branch Branch of HBIS Procurement of utilities, including electricity, March 2007 to March
(Note 1) Company water, steam and COG 2037
FE L85 80 (M 5 2) AHEMONEAR RBRARR BN KREA 2007434 £203743A
Tangshan Stainless Steel Subsidiary of HBIS Procurement of utilities, including electricity, March 2007 to March
(Note 2) Tangsteel water and steam 2037
LA E AR (R AHBRHNKRBART HEARR BFEN KREA 201518 £2029F12A -
I #E— R E 20335 9A
Tangshan Plate (Note 1) Subsidiary of HBIS Procurement of utilities, including electricity, January 2015 to
Company water and steam December 2029 and

further extended to
September 2033

50 4 = (M 3E3) aE: ESE NG| FRBEARER - BEEN K FTREE 20209108 £2035107
HBIS Laosteel (Note 3) Subsidiary of HBIS Procurement of utilities, including electricity, October 2020 to
water, steam and COG October 2035
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Notes:

1. HBIS Company is a Controlling Shareholder indirectly holding 35.99% of the issued
share capital of the Company and therefore is a connected person of the Company.
HBIS Tangshan Branch is a branch company of HBIS Company and Tangshan Plate is
a subsidiary of HBIS Company and therefore are connected persons of the Company
under the Listing Rules.

2. HBIS, through its subsidiaries, indirectly holds approximately 62.22% equity interest in
HBIS Company. HBIS Company indirectly holds 35.99% of the issued share capital of
the Company. Each of HBIS and HBIS Company is a Controlling Shareholder and a
connected person of the Company under the Listing Rules. Tangshan Stainless Steel
is a subsidiary of HBIS Tangsteel which is a non-wholly owned subsidiary of HBIS.
Accordingly, Tangshan Stainless Steel is a connected person of the Company under
the Listing Rules.

3. HBIS Laosteel is a subsidiary of HBIS Company. Accordingly, HBIS Laosteel is a
connected person of the Company under the Listing Rules.

Despite that the Master Utilities and Related Services Agreement has
an initial term of three years, the major existing Operational Utilities and
Related Services Agreements were entered into on a long-term basis as
set out above. The terms including the renewal arrangements of the major
existing Operational Utilities and Related Services Agreements are in line
with the terms of the major existing Operational Gas Products and Related
Services Agreements with the respective members of the HBIS Group.
For further details of the terms of the major existing Operational Ultilities
and Related Services Agreements, please refer to the section headed
“Business — Our business — Raw materials, utilities and suppliers” in the
Prospectus.

Each of the Operational Utilities and Related Services Agreements is and
will be subject to the terms and conditions of the Master Utilities and
Related Services Agreement. Upon expiration of the Master Utilities and
Related Services Agreement and the annual caps and in the event that
the approval from the independent shareholders for its renewal or new
annual caps is not granted, the Company will re-comply with the relevant
Listing Rules or apply for waivers in respect of each of the Operational
Utilities and Related Services Agreements, where applicable.
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Pricing guidelines

The pricing of each of the Utilities and Related Services provided under
the Master Utilities and Related Services Agreement shall be determined
with reference to the following principles in ascending order:

(i) government-prescribed price: if at any time, the government-
prescribed price is applicable to any particular type of the Utilities
and Related Services, such type of Ultilities and Related Services
shall be provided at the applicable government-prescribed price,
whether national or local, such as the electricity price prescribed by
the Development and Reform Commission of Hebei Province and
water price prescribed by the Development and Reform Commission
of Tangshan;

(i) government-guided price: if at any time, the government-guided
price is applicable to any particular type of the Utilities and Related
Services, such type of Utilities and Related Services shall be
provided within the range of such government-guided price, whether
national or local;

(i)  tendering process (where applicable): where the above two price
standards are not available for a particular type of the Utilities and
Related Services and any of the Ultilities and Related Services
Transactions is subject to tendering process in accordance with the
relevant internal policies and procedures of members of the Group,
the price of such type of the Utilities and Related Services shall be
determined by tendering process in accordance with the relevant
internal policies and procedures of members of the Group; and
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(iv)  market price: where the above price standards are not available for
a particular type of the Utilities and Related Services, the price of
such type of Utilities and Related Services shall be determined with
reference to the market price. In determining the market price, both
parties shall take into consideration the following key factors:

(@ the prevailing market prices charged by independent third
parties for providing the same or similar type of Utilities and
Related Services in the region where the type of the Ultilities
and Related Services is provided by relevant members of the
HBIS Group;

(b)  the prices charged by relevant members of the HBIS Group
for providing the same or similar type of Utilities and Related
Services to the Independent Third Parties; and

(c) the prices charged by relevant members of the HBIS Group
for providing the same or similar type of Utilities and Related
Services to other members of the HBIS Group.

Payment term:

In accordance with the terms of the Operational Utilities and Related
Services Agreements which will be payable within seven days from the
Group’s receipt of the invoice issued by the HBIS Group.

Implications under the Listing Rules

Since one or more of the applicable percentage ratios for the Utilities and
Related Services Transactions contemplated under the Master Utilities and
Related Services Agreement is more than 5%, the Utilities and Related
Transactions contemplated under the Master Utilities and Related Services
Agreement constitute non-exempted continuing connected transactions
and are subject to annual review, reporting, announcement, circular and
independent shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules.
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PARTIALLY EXEMPT CONTINUING
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

(1) Master Lease Agreement

Description and Principal Terms

On 17 June 2020, the Company and HBIS entered into a lease framework
agreement (the “Master Lease Agreement’),
members of the HBIS Group shall lease to the Group the land use rights of

pursuant to which,

certain parcels of land and certain buildings and common facilities thereon
or in the proximity to the production sites of certain members of the HBIS
Group for the operation of the Group’s industrial gas production facilities
(the “Lease Transactions”) for a term commencing from the Listing Date
and ending on 31 December 2022, which would be automatically renewed
for a successive period of three years thereafter subject to compliance
with the Listing Rules. The Master Lease Agreement has been renewed
prior to the expiry date for a successive period of three years. The Group
may from time to time enter into separate operational agreement(s) with
members of the HBIS Group in relation to any Lease Transaction(s) under
the Master Lease Agreement (the “Operational Lease Agreements”)
and therefore the Lease Transactions under the Master Lease Agreement
will be treated as continuing connected transactions of the Company. The
Operational Lease Agreements will be subject to the terms and conditions
of the Master Lease Agreement. Each of the Company and HBIS agreed to
procure their respective members to comply with the terms of the Master
Lease Agreement.

Pricing guidelines

Each of the Operational Lease Agreements will set out the annual fees
payable by the Group to the relevant members of the HBIS Group in
respect of the lease of relevant land use rights and use of the relevant
buildings with reference to the respective prevailing market rates per
square meter of the surrounding comparable premises in the vicinity of
such lands and buildings, taking into account their respective sizes.
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Implications under the Listing Rules

Since one or more of the applicable percentage ratios for the Lease
Transactions contemplated under the Master Lease Agreement is more
than 0.1% and all the applicable percentage ratios are less than 5%, the
Lease Transactions contemplated under the Master Lease Agreement are
subject to annual review, reporting and announcement requirements, but
exempt from circular and independent shareholders’ approval requirements
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Description and principal terms

On 17 June 2020, the Company and HBIS entered into a miscellaneous
services framework agreement (the “Master Miscellaneous Services
Agreement”), pursuant to which, the Group agreed to outsource certain
services (the “Miscellaneous Services”) including, among others, the
maintenance of utilities facilities, canteen, healthcare, parking for the staff
and visiting personnel, transportation of hazardous chemicals, labour
despatch, project design and mapping, the maintenance of vehicles and
greenery services (the “Miscellaneous Services Transactions”) to the
HBIS Group for a term commencing from the Listing Date and ending
on 31 December 2022, which would be automatically renewed for a
successive period of three years thereafter subject to compliance with the
Listing Rules. The Master Miscellaneous Services Agreement has been
renewed prior to the expiry date for a successive period of three years.
The Company shall have the right to terminate at any time by giving to
HBIS not less than thirty (30) business days’ prior written notice. The
Group may from time to time enter into operational agreement(s) with the
members of the HBIS Group in relation to any Miscellaneous Services
Transaction(s) upon, and subject to, the terms and conditions of the Master
Miscellaneous Services Agreement (the “Operational Miscellaneous
Services Agreements”). Each of the Company and HBIS agreed to
procure their respective members to comply with the terms of the Master
Miscellaneous Services Agreement.
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Pricing guidelines

The pricing of each of the Miscellaneous Services provided under the
Master Miscellaneous Services Agreement shall be determined with
reference to the following principles in ascending order:

(i) tendering process (where applicable): where any of the Miscellaneous
Services Transactions is subject to tendering process in accordance
with relevant internal policies and procedures of members of the
Group, the price of such type of Miscellaneous Services shall be
determined by tendering process in accordance with relevant internal
policies and procedures of members of the Group; and

(i) market price: where the above price standard is not available for a
particular type of Miscellaneous Services, the price of such type of
Miscellaneous Services shall be determined with reference to the
market price. In determining the market price, both parties shall take
into consideration the following key factors:

(@ the prevailing market prices charged by independent third
parties for providing the same or similar type of Miscellaneous
Services in the region where the type of Miscellaneous
Services is provided by relevant members of the HBIS Group;

(b)  the prices charged by relevant members of the HBIS Group for
providing the same or similar type of Miscellaneous Services
to Independent Third Parties; and

(c) the prices charged by relevant members of the HBIS Group for
providing the same or similar type of Miscellaneous Services
to other members of the HBIS Group.

Implications under the Listing Rules

Since one or more of the applicable percentage ratios for the Miscellaneous
Services Transactions contemplated under the Master Miscellaneous
Services Agreement is more than 0.1% and all the applicable percentage
ratios are less than 5%, the Miscellaneous Services Transactions
contemplated under the Master Miscellaneous Services Agreement are
subject to annual review, reporting and announcement requirements, but
exempt from circular and independent shareholders’ approval requirements
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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Description and principal terms

On 22 November 2023, TTG, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
and Tangshan Iron and Steel Group High-strength Car Plate Co., Ltd.
(the “Tangshan Car Plate”), an indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary
of HBIS, entered into the service agreement (the “Technical Support
and Management Service Agreement”), pursuant to which TTG shall
provide technical support and management services for the Tangshan Car
Plate Gas Plant. These services shall include managing the organisation
and planning, equipment inspections, equipment maintenance, daily
maintenance, safety, labour and personnel etc. in respect of the production
and supply of the industrial gas products. TTG shall also be responsible
for providing the personnel for the operation of the Tangshan Car Plate
Gas Plant. The costs of the required production materials, spare parts,
equipment and materials; and the salaries, management and training of
the personnel shall be borne by TTG.

Term

The term of the Technical Support and Management Service Agreement
shall commence from 22 November 2023 and end on 31 December
2025 (the “Term”). Upon expiry of the Term, the Technical Support and
Management Service Agreement may be renewed automatically by the
parties on the same terms and conditions, subject to the compliance of
the Listing Rules.

Service fees

Tangshan Car Plate shall pay TTG the service fees on a monthly basis
during the Term. The service fees shall be calculated based on (i) the
agreed unit prices of the respective industrial gas products as set out in
the Technical Support and Management Service Agreement; and (i) the
actual volume of the respective industrial gas products supplied from the
Tangshan Car Plate Gas Plant to Tangshan Car Plate for the relevant period
during the Term.
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The unit prices are:

(i) RMB3.39 (equivalent to approximately HK$3.76) per cubic metre of
hydrogen; and

(iy  RMBO0.077 (equivalent to approximately HK$0.085) per cubic metre
of nitrogen.

Termination

The Technical Support and Management Service Agreement may be
terminated prior to the expiration of the Term upon mutual agreement in
writing by both parties or in certain circumstances by a party, including
upon material default by the counterparty under the occurrence of the
following events:

(i) if the production of Tangshan Car Plate is affected or its equipment
is severely damaged or casualties are caused due to the violation
of TTG, Tangshan Car Plate has the right to terminate the Technical
Support and Management Service Agreement;

(if) if difficulties are caused to the production organisation and planning
of TTG due to the violation of Tangshan Car Plate, and such
difficulties cannot be resolved through negotiation, TTG has the
right to terminate the Technical Support and Management Service
Agreement; and

(i) if the payment of the service fees by Tangshan Car Plate is (i)
overdue for more than 15 business days; and (i) remains unpaid for
five business days after the issuance of an overdue payment notice
by TTG, TTG has the right to terminate the Technical Support and
Management Service Agreement.

Implications under the Listing Rules

Since the highest applicable percentage ratios in respect of the annual
caps for the Technical Support and Management Services Agreement
is less than 5%, the transactions contemplated under the Services
Agreement are subject to annual review, reporting and announcement
requirements, but exempt from circular and independent shareholders’
approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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Transaction amounts and annual caps

The following sets forth the annual caps and actual transaction amounts
for the non-exempt continuing connected transactions and partially exempt
continuing connected transactions for the Reporting Period:

REZ2023F REZE2023F
12A31BLFE 12A31ALEE
NEELR NERIXZEHE

Actual

transaction

Annual cap amount
for the for the

year ended year ended
31 December 31 December
2023 2023

ARBEERT AR®EER
RMB’ million RMB’ million

TERRFERERS Non-exempt continuing connected
transactions
mEEEMK Master Gas Products and Related Services
18 B8 AR 75 13 Agreement 1,410.0 1,094.9
HELIR AR RS 1 58 Master Utilities and Related Services Agreement 1,168.0 952.6
EXRHOEHREHN Partially exempt continuing connected
BERERS transactions
BB E W= Master Lease Agreement 15.0 -
TR AR S ok Master Miscellaneous Services Agreement 20.0 19.7
Rt #E LEERSEH#E  Technical Support and Management Service
Agreement 4.0 2.3

FHRLREEMLREAREHE  £8ER
MRS HE  SHEHE - QMER
BihEL BN EREEREH R E—
FEE - BR2HBIERERIFEFRERS]
— & (A AR BE A2022F 11 HISEM A
F (i) AR R HE A2022F12 A12H KR

PR (v)ARARBHEIA2023F 11 H22HHI A

o

Of E& If

For further details regarding the Master Gas Products and Related Services
Agreement, the Master Utilities and Related Services Agreement, the
Master Lease Agreement, the Master Miscellaneous Services Agreement,
and the Technical Support and Management Service Agreement, please
refer to (i) the section headed “Continuing Connected Transactions” of
the Prospectus; (i) the Company’s announcement dated 15 November
2022; (iii) the Company’s circular dated 12 December 2022; and (iv) the
Company’s announcement dated 22 November 2023.
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Confirmation from Independent Non-executive

Directors

Pursuant to Rule 14A.55 of the Listing Rules, the independent non-
executive Directors have reviewed the transactions under each of the
Master Gas Products and Related Services Agreement,
Utilities and Related Services Agreement, the Master Lease Agreement,
the Master Miscellaneous Services Agreement and the Technical Support

the Master

and Management Service Agreement (the “Master Agreements”), and
confirmed that the transactions under the Master Agreements have been
entered into:

(@ in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

(b)  on normal commercial terms or better; and

(c) according to the agreements governing them on terms that are fair
and reasonable and in the interests of the Shareholders as a whole.

Confirmations from the Company’s Independent

Auditor

In accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, the Group has
engaged its auditor to report on the Group’s continuing connected
transactions in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance
Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits
or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and with reference to
Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions
under the Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. The auditor has issued its unqualified letter containing
its findings and conclusions in respect of the aforesaid continuing
connected transactions conducted by the Group for the Reporting Period.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions of the Group for the Reporting
Period are set out in note 38 to the consolidated financial statements on
pages 230 to 242 of this annual report.
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The related party transactions set out in note 38 to the consolidated
financial statements on pages 230 to 242 of this annual report include
related party transactions disclosed under accounting standards and
related party transactions which also constitute continuing connected
transactions of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
The related party transactions in respect of the remuneration of Directors
constitute continuing connected transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules. However, these transactions are exempt from reporting,
announcement and independent shareholders’ approval requirements
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The related party transactions
in respect of the remuneration of key management personnel (other than
Directors and chief executives) of the Company did not fall under the
definition of connected transactions or continuing connected transactions
as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Unless otherwise disclosed
in this annual report, the Directors believe, all other related party
transactions set out in note 38 to the consolidated financial statements
on pages 230 to 242 of this annual report do not fall within the definition
of “connected transactions” or “continuing connected transactions” under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules (as the case may be). The Company
confirmed that it was in compliance with the disclosure requirements in
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules for the Reporting Period or a waiver from
such provisions has been obtained from the Stock Exchange.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Particulars of the Company’s corporate governance practices are set out in
the section headed “Corporate Governance Report” of this annual report.

REVIEW BY AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee currently comprises one non-executive Director and
two independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Zhang Wenli, Mr.
Siu Chi Hung and Mr. Xiao Huan Wei. The Audit Committee has reviewed
with the management of the Company the audited Consolidated Financial
Statements for the Reporting Period.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

The Consolidated Financial Statements for the Reporting Period have been
audited by BDO Limited who will retire and, being eligible, offer itself for
re-appointment at the annual general meeting. Having been approved by
the Board upon the Audit Committee’s recommendation, a resolution for
the re-appointment of BDO Limited as the independent auditor for the
ensuing year will be put to the annual general meeting for Shareholder’s
approval.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

As far as the Board and management are aware, save as disclosed
below, the Group is in compliance in all material aspects with the relevant
laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the business and
operation of the Group.

The non-fully compliance with the PRC laws and regulations during the
Reporting Period and the relevant internal control measures for continued
compliance are summarised below. Details of the situation regarding the
Group’s properties with defective titles are set out in the section headed
“Business — Our Properties — Properties with Defective Titles” in the
Prospectus. Unless otherwise defined in this annual report, capitalised
terms used below shall have the same meanings as those defined in the
Prospectus.
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Absence of the land use right certificate to be obtained for
other occupied land of the Group as well as title defects
relating to the buildings and structures constructed by the
Group on its land with land use right certificates and its
other occupied land with the land use right certificates to be
obtained

TTG Yutian Branch did not hold the land use right certificates
for part of Yutian plant, and failed to obtain the subsequent
necessary construction permits or to submit the requisite completion
and acceptance filing materials for the buildings and structures
constructed on such properties

As Yutian county government did not have any land use quota,
land certificate cannot be executed temporarily, and thus land use
planning permit, construction project planning permit and other
permits were unable to be executed.

Title defects relating to the Group’s leased land and the
buildings and structures constructed by the Group on such
leased land

As the Group was not the owner of the land, the Group failed to
obtain/complete the necessary construction permits and procedure
to construct certain buildings and structures on the parcels of leased
land at the TTG headquarters plant, the TTG Ironmaking Branch
plant, the TTG Stainless Steel Branch plant, the TTG Laoting Branch
plant and CNG and LNG gas station. Also, the lessors failed to obtain
the construction land use planning permits (# =& f ith 17 &I 37 0] &
for such leased land. The Group failed to complete the registrations
for five parcels of leased land and obtain certificates of other rights
over land (X Hbfth TBHE FI FBH £ ) to be issued after completion of
such registrations. However, the lessors of the parcels of leased
land at TTG headquarters plant, the TTG Ironmaking Branch plant,
the TTG Stainless Steel Branch plant, the TTG Laoting Branch plant
and CNG and LNG gas station agreed to indemnify for the losses
incurred if the Group unable to continue to use the leased land.

LTD.
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Save for the production facilities at the TTG headquarters plant and
the TTG Ironmaking Branch plant which were no longer in use for
production purpose following the cessation of the operation due to
the exit and relocation agreement, the government has transferred
approval authority for construction project planning permit and
other permits of the leased land of the TTG Stainless Steel Branch
plant, the TTG Laoting Branch plant and the gas station to the
administrative approval center, which led to a slow progress. The
Company has conducted close coordination with the land lessor to
speed up adjustment for application documents, and endeavoured
to procure the lessor’'s completion of approval for construction land
planning permit as soon as possible.

Title defects relating to the leased buildings and structures
of the Group

As the leased buildings and structures at the TTG headquarters
plant were no longer in use for production purpose due to the
implementation of the exit and relocation agreement entered into
between HBIS Company and the People’s Government of Tangshan
on 19 August 2020, the leasing registration will not be granted for
the time being; In addition, due to the slow progress in the approval
of stainless steel house leasing record formalities by the government,
the Group failed to complete house leasing registrations with respect
to the leased buildings and structures for offices buildings at the
TTG headquarters plant, the TTG Ironmaking Branch plant and office
building for TTG Stainless Steel Branch plant. TTG will continue to
try its best to impel lessors to cooperate in completing house leasing
registrations.

As of the date of this annual report, the Group is not aware of any
actual or anticipated action, claim or investigation by any government
agency or third party against the Group in relation to the above
matters. The Group will continue to monitor the situation, and the
situation updating will be disclosed in the annual reports of the
Company until the Group’s complete rectification of such title defects
has been fully disclosed therein.
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HESH SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

HR2024F2F27H F BT BMARRA KR On 27 February 2024, the Stock Exchange published statement of
NAB—ZAEER L @7 - F  disciplinary action against the Company and a former director of the
M BRE2MANREFE24E - B EXATH  Company respectively. For details, please refer to page 24 of this report.

BEIN O RBEHBELEZAFHRAE - Save as disclosed above, the Directors are not aware of any significant
BETITMEBCDBATMATHENEAN  event requiring disclosure that have been taken place subsequent to the
= Reporting Period and up to the date of this report.

REEFE On behalf of the Board

»hxE Mr. Yao Li

BEEZEXR Chairman of the Board

Il - 202438258 Tangshan, 25 March 2024
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TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF CHINA GAS INDUSTRY INVESTMENT
HOLDINGS CO. LTD.
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

QUALIFIED OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China

Gas Industry Investment Holdings Co. Ltd. (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (together the “Group”) set out on pages 127 to 256,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 December 2023, and the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes
to the consolidated financial statements, including material accounting

policy information.

In our opinion, except for the possible effect of the matters described in
the “Basis for Qualified Opinion” section of our report, the consolidated
financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial
position of the Group as at 31 December 2023, and its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year
then ended in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards as issued
by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IFRS Accounting
Standards”)
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

and have been properly prepared in compliance with the
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BASIS FOR QUALIFIED OPINION

On 30 November 2020 and 1 December 2020, the Company entered
into three loan agreements with Company A, Company B and
Company C (collectively “the Borrowers”) with principal amounts of
RMB50,000,000, RMB53,522,000 and RMB14,478,000 respectively (the
“Loan Agreements”). On 7 December 2020 and 10 December 2020, the
Company transferred the funds as stipulated in the Loan Agreements to
the Borrowers. Pursuant to the Loan Agreements, the loans were interest
bearing at 2% per annum and the principal amounts would mature on 30
December 2020. The principal amounts and the interests thereon would
become repayable on 30 December 2020 (hereinafter referred to as the
“Loan Transactions”). The Company accounted for the transfers of
funds to the Borrowers as loan receivables in the consolidated financial
statements for the years ended 31 December 2020, 31 December 2021
and 31 December 2022.

The loan receivables (“Loan Receivables”) were measured at amortised
cost. As at 31 December 2020, 2021 and 2022, repayment of the
principal balances and interests thereon under the Loan Agreements were
overdue. Repayments of these balances remained outstanding up to the
date of this report. The board of directors of the Company (the “Board”)
determined that full loss allowance of the outstanding principal balances
of RMB118,000,000 in aggregate should be provided. Accordingly, a
loss allowance of RMB118,000,000 was recognised in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income for the year ended 31 December
2020. The resultant amortised costs of the Loan Receivables became RMB
Nil as at 31 December 2020 and these amounts were brought forward to
31 December 2021. During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Board
determined that there is no reasonable expectation of recovering the Loan
Receivables and fully wrote off the Loan Receivables. Details of the write-
off are disclosed in Note 23 in the consolidated financial statements for
the year ended 31 December 2023.

On 18 January 2021, the Company entered into a loan note agreement
with Company D (the “Loan Note Agreement”). Pursuant to the Loan
Note Agreement, the Company agreed to provide Company D with a loan
of principal amount of HK$80,000,000 (approximately RMB66,400,000).
The loan was interest bearing at 4.5% per annum. Both the principal
amount and the interests thereon would become repayable on 17
December 2021. On 28 January 2021, the Company transferred the
principal amount as stipulated in the Loan Note Agreement (hereinafter
referred to as the “Note Investment”) to Company D. The Company
accounted for the transfers of funds to the Company D as note investment
in the consolidated financial statements for the years ended 31 December
2021 and 31 December 2022.
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The Note As at 31
December 2021 and 31 December 2022, repayment of the principal

Investment was measured at amortised cost.

balance and interests thereon under the Loan Note Agreement was
overdue. Repayments of this balance remained outstanding up to the
date of this report. During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Board
determined that full loss allowance of the outstanding principal balance
of RMB66,400,000 in aggregate should be provided. Accordingly, a
loss allowance of RMB66,400,000 was recognised in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income for the year ended 31 December
2021. The resultant amortised cost of the Note Investment became RMB
Nil as at 31 December 2021. During the year ended 31 December 2022,
the Board determined that there is no reasonable expectation of recovering
the Note Investment and fully wrote off the Note Investment. Details of the
write-off are disclosed in Note 24 in the consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2023.

Since our audit of the consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2020, we have obtained knowledge relating to the Loan
Transactions and the Note Investment (“our Knowledge”) including:

(i) the Group engaged in the production and supply of industrial gases.
The Loan Transactions and the Note Investment are transactions
outside the normal course of business of the Group;

(i) the Loan Transactions and the Note Investment were approved
by the ex-Chairman of the Board (the “ex-Chairman”) who was
also an executive director of the Company (being removed as the
Chairman of the Board and the executive director on 3 May 2022
and 5 May 2022 respectively). According to the Company’s internal
control policies and procedures, due to the amounts of the Loan
Transactions and the Note Investment, the Loan Transactions and
the Note Investment should have been approved by the Board;

(i)  the Company had not performed background check and due
diligence on the Borrowers and Company D before entering into the
Loan Transactions and the Note Investment;
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(iv)  the Company had set aside funds in a bank account for distributions
to its shareholders to settle the dividends payable to them. To
change the use of these designed funds would need the approval
by the Board. Without prior approval by the Board, the ex-Chairman
instructed the transfer of these designated funds to the Borrowers
and Company D to fulfil the Company’s commitment in the Loan
Agreements and the Loan Note Agreement; and

(v) as at the date of this report, there were no repayments from the
Borrowers and the balance due from Company D was outstanding.

Scope limitation on our work to ascertain the nature

of the Loan Transactions and the Note Investment
Given our Knowledge obtained
Transactions and the Note Investment, we have concerns about the

in the audit relating to the Loan
commercial substance and business rationale of these transactions, and
whether it is appropriate to recognise the Loan Transactions as the Group’s
Loan Receivables and the Note Investment as the Group’s Note Investment
in the consolidated financial statements. We have communicated our
concerns to the Board and requested explanations from the Board on
how our concerns have been considered in their determination that the
Loan Transactions were recognised as Loan Receivables of the Group
and the Note Investment was recognised as the Group’s Note Investment
in the consolidated financial statements. However, we have not received
explanations from the Board that would satisfy ourselves as to the
commercial substance and business rationale of the Loan Transactions
and the Note Investment. There were no alternative audit procedures that
we could perform to satisfy ourselves on the above concerns.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

We modified our audit opinion on the Group’s consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2022 because we were
unable to conclude whether the write-offs on the Loan Receivables and
the Note Investment recognised during the year ended 31 December 2022
which arose from the limitations on the scope of our work to ascertain
the nature of the Loan Transactions and the Note Investment are free from
material misstatement. Any adjustment that might be found necessary
would have a consequential impact on the financial performance for the
year ended 31 December 2022, the financial position as at 1 January
2022 and the disclosures thereof in the consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2022. Our opinion on the Group’s
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2023
is modified because of the possible effects of the above matter on the
comparability of the current year’s figures and the corresponding figures
for the year ended 31 December 2022 in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”).
are further described in the “Auditor’'s Responsibilities for the Audit of
the Consolidated Financial Statements” section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (the “Code”) issued by HKICPA, and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

Our responsibilities under those standards

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our qualified opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters. In addition to the matters described in the “Basis
for Qualified Opinion” section, we have determined the matters described
below to be the key audit matters to be communicated in our report.

Impairment assessment of property, plant and
equipment

Refer to summary of material accounting policies in Note 4(d), critical
accounting estimates and judgements in Note 5(c) and disclosure of
property, plant and equipment in Note 17 to the consolidated financial
statements.

The carrying amount of the Group’s property, plant and equipment
as at 31 December 2023 amounted to RMB1,527,518,212 (2022:
RMB1,560,472,364). The Group recognised a write-off of RMB19,309,391
for the property, plant and equipment during the year ended 31 December
2023 (2022: RMB7,537,864).

We identified impairment assessment of property, plant and equipment
as a key audit matter due to its significance to the Group’s consolidated
financial position and the involvement of subjective judgement and
management estimates in evaluating the value in use based on future cash
flow of each asset group and the discount rate of the Group’s property,
plant and equipment at the end of the year.

Management performed an impairment assessment when indicators of
impairment were identified. Management determined the recoverable
amounts of the Group’s property, plant and equipment based on the higher
of fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. When performing an
impairment assessment, management makes assumptions and estimates
on future operating profit, growth rate and discount rate to calculate
expected value in use and compared the carrying values of property,
plant and equipment, to determine the impairment loss which should be
recognised for the year, if any.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Our procedures on the impairment assessment of property, plant and
equipment included:

o Obtaining an understanding of and assessing the design,
implementation and operating effectiveness of key internal controls
relating to the impairment assessment of property, plant and
equipment.

° Understanding of management’s basis and assessment in relation
to the impairment assessment of property, plant and equipment.

o Assessing the reasonableness of management’s assumptions and
judgements in relation to the impairment assessment of property,
plant and equipment.

OTHER INFORMATION IN THE ANNUAL
REPORT

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises the information included in the Company’s annual
report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. As described in the “Basis for Qualified Opinion” section
above, we were unable to obtain sufficient appropriate evidence to satisfy
ourselves the nature of the Loan Transactions and the Note Investment
and whether the Loan Transactions and the Note Investment have been
appropriately accounted for and whether the write-offs of the Loan
Transactions and the Note Investment recognised during the last year are
free from material misstatement. Accordingly, we are unable to conclude
whether or not the other information is materially misstated with respect
to this matter.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation
of these consolidated financial statements in accordance with IFRS
Accounting Standards and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The directors are also responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process. The Audit Committee assists the directors in

discharging their responsibility in this regard.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a
body, in accordance with the terms of our engagement, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to
any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions
of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional

judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We

also:

identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, intentional

as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,

omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and

whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair

presentation.
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° obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those
matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law
or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing
so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits
of such communication.

BDO Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Amy Yau Shuk Yuen
Practising Certificate Number PO6095

Hong Kong, 25 March 2024
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
B £2023F12H31H L £ E For the year ended 31 December 2023

2023 20224
2023 2022
&t AR¥T ARET
Notes RMB RMB
Lga Revenue 7 1,491,153,988 1,481,644,241
1 25 B AR Cost of revenue (1,159,051,046) (1,139,793,628)
ER Gross profit 332,102,942 341,850,613
HEREHEMAZT Selling and marketing expenses (1,893,235) (2,000,851)
GG Administrative expenses (54,391,469) (82,179,138)
BORUMRBNEEBERE Credit loss allowance for trade receivables (15,363,770) (8,135,000)
MEMT Research and development expenses (73,603,329) (75,341,624)
HA A Other income 8 5,380,401 974,626
Hib(B8),Wam— 358 Other (losses)/gains, net 9 (17,751,284) 11,869,338
BT Operating profit 174,480,256 187,037,964
BB Finance income 10 3,932,470 1,435,829
B 75 AR Finance costs 10 (25,647,919) (27,455,883)
BB A3 Finance costs, net (21,715,449) (26,020,054)
BR P 18 %L A 04 A Profit before income tax 11 152,764,807 161,017,910
FiEBAX Income tax expense 14 (24,688,546) (48,275,390)
EARABEBEABEERNTR Profit for the year attributable to owners
of the Company 128,076,261 112,742,520
HitrfraWas  MKRHE Other comprehensive income, net of tax
HRE{EEEFH 7 EDERIER - ltem that may be subsequently reclassified to
profit or 108s:
R Currency translation differences (479,050) (8,939,331)
EREANGEHAE Total comprehensive income for the year 127,597,211 103,803,189
KARBEARLGERGZARE Total comprehensive income attributable
to owners of the Company 127,597,211 103,803,189
FREF-EXREE Earnings per Share - Basic and diluted 16 0.11 0.09
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

A20235F12H31H As at 31 December 2023

2023%F 20224
2023 2022
ks AR®ET ARETT
Notes RMB RMB
kRBEE Non-current assets
M- BELRZE Property, plant and equipment 17 1,527,518,212 1,560,472,364
FREEE Right-of-use assets 18 43,587,482 43,676,683
EBEEE Intangible assets 19 - -
RERRIEE E Deferred tax assets 32 4,956,487 3,304,108
HEES Rental deposit 25 173,994 -
Hih&EE Other assets 20 43,865,825 8,432,808
1,620,102,000 1,615,885,963
REBEE Current assets
EE Inventories 21 9,709,236 11,635,569
B 5 MW SRR Trade receivables 22 543,918,046 567,035,544
e E R Loan receivables 23 - -
SEKRE Note investment 24 - -
ERNRIE - Ze Rk Prepayments, deposits and
H i JfE I 3B other receivables 25 16,955,555 22,568,010
BRREETAEAM Financial assets at fair value
mealmE(RAA through other comprehensive
EBETAHMES income (“FVOCI")
WEDHWERVEE 27 79,658,832 28,812,893
e hBESEEYD Cash and cash equivalents 26 202,617,643 360,738,465
852,859,312 990,790,481
REEE Current liabilities
B 5 Kk H A FER IR Trade and other payables 29 371,046,210 584,316,014
AHaE Contract liabilities 7 6,225,082 8,853,806
R Borrowings 30 287,000,000 241,760,000
HEARE Lease liabilities 31 2,128,151 10,834,491
IS Income tax payable 1,838,049 14,721,087
668,237,492 860,485,398
REBEEZE Net current assets 184,621,820 130,305,083
EEHERRBAR Total assets less current liabilities 1,804,723,820 1,746,191,046
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OB RRE
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
7R 2023%E12H31H As at 31 December 2023

2023 20224F
2023 2022
izt ARETT AR T
Notes RMB RMB
kRBERE Non-current liabilities
& Borrowings 30 246,000,000 330,770,119
HEBE Lease liabilities 31 2,659,874 2,428,882
EERIEBE Deferred tax liabilities 32 42,633,676 27,158,986
291,293,550 360,357,987
EERE NET ASSETS 1,513,430,270 1,385,833,059
EXRRGFHE Capital and reserves
EKATEBEAEGEES Equity attributable to owners
of the Company
fi& 7% Share capital 33 836,016 836,016
H b 15 Other reserves 34 1,345,135,711 1,329,304,835
B & Retained earnings 167,458,543 55,692,208
EEem TOTAL EQUITY 1,513,430,270 1,385,833,059

AR B RMERAESETER2024F 3258
ERBRETZEEANTALTRAESE:

behalf by:

% 5 SE®
Yao Li Gao Guimin

EF =S
Director Director
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EHEREEX
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

E £2023F12H31H IL £ E For the year

ended 31 December 2023

KRARBEAEL
Attributable to the owners of the Company
(RitER)/
B RGEE ZTRHBEE ERZH Hit REBEA b
(Accumulated
Statutory Currency losses)/
Share Share surplus translation retained
capital premium reserve differences Others earnings Total
AR ARBT ARBTL ARBTL AR AR®TR AR®TR
RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB
1 it34(a) Hit34(b) W it34(c) W it34(d) 1 it34(e)
Note 34(a) Note 34(b) Note 34(c) Note 34(d) Note 34(e)
R2022F1 1AM & & Balance at 1 January 2022 836,016 1,144,391,968 144,887,543 890,891 33,428,253 (42,404,801)  1,282,029,870
FEREF Profit for the year - - - - - 112,742,520 112,742,520
HEinindlia Other comprehensive income
-ERZHE - Currency translation differences - - - (8,939,331) - - (8,939,331)
FRGANEEE Total comprehensive income
for the year - - - (8,939,331 - 112,742,520 108,803,189
HREEANEEEANS R Transaction with owners in their
ETNRS: capacity as owners:
ERTETRHBGEE Appropriation to statutory
surplus reserves - - 14,645,511 - - (14,645,511) -
FREFEANERBAN Total transactions with owners
FHETHRSHBE in their capacity as owners
for the year - - 14,645,511 - - (14,645,511) -
R2022F128318 K Balance at 31 December 2022
2023F1R1AME and 1 January 2023 836,016  1,144,391,968 159,533,054 (8,048,440) 33,428,253 55,692,208 1,385,833,059
&R Profit for the year - - - - - 128,076,261 128,076,261
Hihira s Other comprehensive income
-ERZHE - Currency translation differences - - - (479,050) - - (479,050)
FREANERE Total comprehensive income
for the year - = = 479,050) - 128076261 127,597,211
HEBANEETAN Transaction with owners in their
FRHETHRS: capacity as owners:
ERTETRHBGEE Appropriation to statutory
surplus reserves = = 16,309,926 = = (16,309,926) =
FRAREANERBAN Total transactions with owners
FHETHRSBE in their capacity as owners
for the year = = 16,309,926 = o (16,309,926) o
R2023F12B31A ML Balance at 31 December 2023 836,016  1,144,391,968 175,842,980 (8,527,490) 33,428,253 167,458,543  1,513,430,270
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EHEERER
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
B £2023F12H31H L £ E For the year ended 31 December 2023

2023% 20225
2023 2022
k3 ARER AR
Notes RMB RMB
RETBMBRERE Cash flows from operating activities
B TS 5 X B i A Profit before income tax expenses 152,764,807 161,017,910
R Adjustments for:
BREESHE Amortisation of intangible assets 19 - 269,348
FREEESH Amortisation of right-of-use assets 18 1,950,471 1,990,028
ME HERRENE Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 77 130,372,407 124,107,610
BORWFENEESBRE Credit loss allowance for trade receivables 22 15,363,770 8,135,000
ISR A— 35 Finance costs — net 21,715,449 26,020,054
ME - BERZENTE Written off of property, plant and equipment 17 19,309,391 7,537,864
fE 5 e %5 Exchange gain, net (542,472) (18,837,634)
LELTHEF LT Operating profit before working capital changes 340,933,823 310,240,180
BERL/ (M) Decrease/(increase) in inventories 1,926,333 (1,489,019)
B 5 W IR Increase in trade receivables (128,223,097) (147,960,021)
BEAnEBEEFAEMEEKER Increase in financial assets at FVOCI
EREEEM (50,845,939) (5,369,133)
HEMEEREMNFKE  ZEREM  (Increase)/decrease in other assets and
FE U R IB (% hn) /R prepayments, deposits and other receivables (51,410,679) 24,955,419
BN HEMEMZECORD), M (Decrease)/increase in trade and other payables (55,463,936) 83,510,625
AHNEERD Decrease in contract liabilities (2,628,724) (491,073)
HEELHHE 2 Cash generated from operations 54,287,781 263,396,978
BRFE Interest paid (29,130,958) (30,000,232
BEMEN REDNR Income tax and withholding tax paid (23,749,273) (36,289,111)
BETEMEREFE Net cash generated from operating activities 1,407,550 197,107,635
REZBFARSRETE Net cash flows used in investing activities
EEWE BMERZBEUR Purchase of property, plant and equipment and
HitRBEE other long-term assets (69,378,570) (114,563,260)
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2023F 20224
2023 2022
k3 AR®R ARBT
Notes RMB RMB

METEHMERESRE Cash flows from financing activities
fEENE A Proceeds from borrowings 360,000,000 480,833,818
BERER Repayments of borrowings (399,530,119) (510,020,000)
HEERMR Payment of lease liabilities (482,557) (688,765)
RAARRREMNRE Dividends paid to the Company’s shareholder 15 (50,000,000) -
REEFHMARLTE Net cash used in financing activities (90,012,676) (29,874,947)

BERBESLEBYORD), INFEE Net (decrease)/increase in cash and
cash equivalents (157,983,696) 52,669,428

FINRERESEEY Cash and cash equivalents

at beginning of year 360,738,465 297,652,618
ExgmsoxE Effect of foreign exchange rate changes (137,126) 10,516,419
EXRRERBEEEY Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 202,617,643 360,738,465
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China Gas Industry Investment
Holdings Co. Ltd. ([A& 28 ]) %2006
FOH4BEHREHSTMA L AHE
MEeEBRDA o NARH M IS
Bz #b4Ik /& Cricket  Square, Hutchins
Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman
KY1-1111, Cayman Islands ° EFiE2A
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B EREY, S ZER
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ZIBHA REENEEEL
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1.

GENERAL INFORMATION

China Gas Industry Investment Holdings Co. Ltd. (the “Company”)
was incorporated in the Cayman lIslands on 4 August 2006 as an
exempted company with limited liability. The Company’s registered
office is located at Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681,
Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman lIslands. The principal place of
business of its subsidiaries is the People’s Republic of China (the
“PRC").

The Company is an investment holding company. The Company and
its subsidiaries (together “the Group”) is principally engaged in the
production and supply of industrial gases in the PRC.

ADOPTION OF INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“IFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS”)

(@) New standards, interpretations and

amendments adopted from 1 January 2023
The adoption of IFRS Accounting Standards which became
effective for the financial year beginning on 1 January 2023.

Amendments to IAS 1 and  Disclosure of Accounting Policies
IFRS Practice Statement 2

IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts and related
amendments

Amendments to IAS 8 Definition of Accounting estimates

Amendment to IAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and

Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction

Amendment to IAS 12 International Tax Reform — Pillar Two
Model Rules
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2. MNEEREEHREER 2. ADOPTION OF INTERNATIONAL
(B EREER S FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

aHZE Bl Do) (“IFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS”)
(Continued)

(a) BE2023F1H1AEHEHK (@) New standards, interpretations and
el R - REREITAR amendments adopted from 1 January 2023
(%) (Continued)

EFRGEAZEEIATE The Directors do not anticipate that the application of the
HaiBmixENETMNERXR amendments have a significant impact on the consolidated
T o financial statements.

(b) EEMEERE X (b) New or amended IFRS Accounting Standards
o RS 5T B BR B i 3R 2 that have been issued but are not yet effective
BlE %R
AT B 5 B K = [E A OF B 7S =R The following new or amended IFRS Accounting Standards,
KAEBEHEF TR IE 5T B B B potentially relevant to the Group’s consolidated financial
B EER @ ERD KB statements, have been issued, but are not yet effective and
5 B RER BRERE have not been early adopted by the Group. The Group’s
EIZE N - ANEEEBRFIE current intention is to apply these changes on the date they
R ELEBAKNERAERZES become effective.

2 -

ARy BREEN EfADNEE Amendments to IFRS 16 Liability in a Sale and Leaseback’
F16% 2R

BRet el S1%y aELEATDS Amendments to IAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or
BEA e Non-current!

BRei R S1%y WEL2nERE Amendments to IAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants'
CHE af

BRestEagSrsty tEERELH Amendments to IAS 7 Supplier Finance Arrangements'
CHES

BB R E01% 7 BT A K it Amendments to IAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability?
CHES

BRI RREER REEHEBLSH Amendments to IFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets between
FRREResT E£5440%7 and IAS 28 an Investor and its Associate or Joint
£31E08% 7 BMEELES Venture®

CHES RA®
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2. ADOPTION OF INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“IFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS”)

(Continued)
(b) New or amended IFRS Accounting Standards
that have been issued but are not yet effective

(Continued)
! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025
8 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined

The Directors do not anticipate that the application of the
amendments and revision in the future will have a significant
impact on the consolidated financial statements.

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION

(@) Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with all applicable International Financial Reporting
Standards and International Accounting Standards as issued
by the International Accounting Standards Board (‘IASB”) and
Interpretations (collectively “IFRS Accounting Standards”)
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. In addition, the financial statements include
applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Listing Rules”).

(b) Basis of measurement
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
under the historical cost convention, as modified by the
revaluation of financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVOCI”) which is carried at fair value.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

(c)

(d)

136 CHINA GAS INDUSTRY INVESTMENT HOLDINGS CO. LTD.

Functional and presentation currency

The functional currency of the Company is United States
dollars (“USD”) and the subsidiaries established in the PRC
considered Renminbi (“RMB”) as their functional currency.
The consolidated financial statements are presented in RMB
as in the opinion of the directors of the Company, it presents
more relevant information to the management who monitors
the performance and financial position of the Group based on
RMB.

Prior year Investigation

On 24 March 2021, the board of directors of the Company
(the “Board”) was informed by the previous auditor that they
required additional information and documentation on (i) three
overdue receivables of the Company as at 31 December 2020
(as detailed in sub-notes Il (i) to (i) below as Transaction 1,
Transaction 2 and Transaction 3 and also in note 23); and
(i) the investment in a loan note by the Company in January
2021 (as disclosed below in sub-note Il (iv) as Transaction 4
and also in note 24) during the course of the consolidation
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2020.
According to the resignation letter of the previous auditor,
the management provided preliminary explanation that the
Transaction 1, Transaction 2 and Transaction 3 were entered
into in order to attract the counter-parties who intended to
subscribe for the Company’s shares (the “Shares”) upon the
Company’s initial public offering (“lPO”) and Transaction 4 was
entered into purely for the purpose of managing the Company’s
free cash to earn a higher return and was not associated with
Transactions 1, 2 and 3.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

(d) Prior year Investigation (Continued)

/.

Scope of the Investigation and the Expanded
Investigation

Upon receiving the previous auditor’s notification, on
24 March 2021,
investigation committee comprising certain Directors,

the Board formed an independent

including all the independent non-executive Directors
(the “Investigation Committee”), to carry out an
independent investigation (the “Investigation”) on the
On 12 April

an accounting firm that is not the Company’s

matters raised by the previous auditor.
2021,
auditor (the “Forensic Accountant”) was appointed
as the independent forensic accountant to assist the
Investigation Committee in conducting the Investigation.

On 8 May 2021, Mr. David T Chen (“Mr. Chen”) (a then
executive Director and the then chairman of the Board)
upon the request of the Investigation Committee and in
order to facilitate the Investigation, agreed to have all
his day-to-day duties, powers and authorities suspended
pending outcome of the Investigation.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

(d) Prior year Investigation (Continued)

/.
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Scope of the Investigation and the Expanded
Investigation (Continued)

The primary scope of the Investigation is to conduct
an independent fact-finding in respect of Transactions
1, 2, 3 and 4 (the “Transactions”), so as to help

assess whether or not there were reasonable
commercial substance and business rationale behind
the Transactions. The major investigation procedures
conducted by the Forensic Accountant included, but not

limited to, the following:

(i) obtaining and reviewing relevant documents and

correspondences relating to the Transactions
(including but not limited to the Loan Agreement
1, Loan Agreement 2 and Loan Agreement 3 and
Investment Agreement (all of which were defined in
the sub-heading “Summary of the Key Findings
of the

between the Group and the counterparties to

Investigation”), correspondences
the Transactions or others with respect to the
Transactions, internal records of the Company,
bank documentation, payment proof of listing
expenses incurred for the IPO by the Company
and the list of investors during the IPO and the

corresponding subscription records;

(i) reviewing the internal control policies and
procedures of the Group in relation to the entering
of the Transactions and conducting interviews
with relevant personnel of the Group who are

responsible for carrying out such procedures;
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

(d) Prior year Investigation (Continued)
=y . Scope of the Investigation and the Expanded
Investigation (Continued)
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(i)

conducting interview with relevant personnel of

the Group (including Directors, management,
employees from the finance department and other
relevant personnel) to understand, among others,
the circumstances leading to the entering of the
Transactions (including the approval procedures),
as well as its business rationale and commercial

substance;

conducting interviews with relevant representatives
IPO to
the circumstances

of two of the underwriters to the
understand, among others,
leading to the entering of the Transactions, as well
as to ascertain whether they took any role in the
entering of the Transactions and whether they have
any relationships with the counterparties to the
Transactions; and

performing preservation on electronic data
under the custody of relevant personnel of the
Group, developing search terms pertaining to the
Transactions and reviewing electronic data with
responsive hits of the search terms.

£ %R Annual Report 2023 139



SOt R M
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
£ £2023F12A31H I £ E For the year ended 31 December 2023

3.

im BB %

(d)

(&)

r—FHEE

/.

ﬁéﬁﬁﬁﬁéfﬂ

R E
%%%mﬁﬁm%é'u
RAs S RTZ SRR E
Eiﬁaﬁmmﬁﬁm
ZHMEECRAEEH
B LAOREREERAS
FhRAE(TREE]D) (KA
RIERMNE R BEE)
202141 18 £20214F
AH30H B #EIT AU AN &
Er) e T 758 ([T
RAE] ERAEHRBA
[(BYRFE]D - EHAE
#) = 2 & B 7202041 A
1HZ=2021F 48308
BIEABI E R T FRBR o £
RBERERTEEERER
SHEEE  BIEEEER
B RENEEEY

EREGHERRE I
ETHERR - AEMRT
AERATERTHBEA
SEBRAELEE LD
15 -

E‘ui

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

(d) Prior year Investigation (Continued)

/.

140 CHINA GAS INDUSTRY INVESTMENT HOLDINGS CO. LTD.

Scope of the Investigation and the Expanded
Investigation (Continued)

On 22 July 2021, having considered the then state of
findings from the Investigation, and with agreement
from the previous auditor, the Investigation Committee
decided to expand the scope of the Investigation
to cover certain business activities of the Group
Chen and Mr.
Bai”) (the then chief financial controller of the Company)

conducted by Mr. Bai Xueping (“Mr.
for the period between 1 January 2021 to 30 April
2021
the Investigation,

(the “Expanded Investigation” together with
the “Independent Investigation”)
pursuant to the recommendation of the previous auditor.
The primary scope of the Expanded Investigation
focused on a review period from 1 January 2020 to 30
April 2021 to understand the involvement of Mr. Chen
and Mr. Bai in the management of the Group, including
as to day-to-day business operations, investment or
fund-raising activities, chop and contract management
process and conducting sample testing to investigate
whether Mr. Chen and Mr. Bai

conduct which overrode the Group’s existing corporate

had engaged in

governance mechanisms.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

(d) Prior year Investigation (Continued)
The Independent Investigation was completed in March 2022
with the following key findings:

1. Summary of the Key Findings of the Investigation
The Independent Investigation had certain limitations
in respect of the nature and extent of the procedures
conducted. During the course of the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements of the Group for
the year ended 31 December 2020, the Board took
into account the following findings of the Independent
Investigation, considered the relevant information and
supporting evidence available and had used their best
effort to estimate the relevant financial impact of the
matters identified in the Independent Investigation.

(i) Transaction 1 — RMB50,000,000 advanced by the
Company to Company A on 7 December 2020
pursuant to a loan agreement dated 30 November
2020 (the “Loan Agreement 1”) signed by the
Company as lender and Company A as borrower,
purporting to set out the terms for a loan of
RMB50,000,000 from the Company to Company
A at an interest rate of 2% per annum, repayable
on 30 December 2020.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

(d) Prior year Investigation (Continued)
.

Summary of the Key Findings of the Investigation
(Continued)

(i

(i)

Transaction 2 — RMB53,522,000 advanced by the
Company to Company B on 10 December 2020
pursuant to a loan agreement dated 1 December
2020 (the “Loan Agreement 2”) signed by the
Company as lender and Company B as borrower,
purporting to set out the terms for a loan of
RMB53,522,000 from the Company to Company
B at an interest rate of 2% per annum, repayable
on 30 December 2020.

Transaction 3 — RMB14,478,000 advanced by
the Company to Company C (Company C and
together with Company A and Company B, the
“Borrowers”) on 10 December 2020 pursuant to
a loan agreement dated 1 December 2020 (the
“Loan Agreement 3” and together with Loan
Agreement 1 and Loan Agreement 2, the “Loan
Agreements”) signed by the Company as lender
and Company C as borrower, purporting to set out
the terms for a loan of RMB14,478,000 from the
Company to Company C at an interest rate of 2
% per annum, repayable on 30 December 2020.
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3. REEE» 3. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)
(d E—FRAEHE) (d) Prior year Investigation (Continued)
I HENFEZLEREE Il.  Summary of the Key Findings of the Investigation

(4&) (Continued)

vy X 54—18 & B 5 (iv) Transaction 4 - HK$80,000,000 (approximately
B20214F1H18H RMB66,400,000) paid by the Company on
MREmE(RE 28 January 2021 pursuant to a subscription
WED ARFR agreement dated 18 January 2021 (the
2021F1 528 A =+ “Investment Agreement”) in respect of
80,000,000/ 7T (47 HK$80,000,000 secured loan note (“Investment”)
A R #66,400,000 issued by Company D with a fixed return of 4.5%
TL)RBARDELT per annum, due on 17 December 2021.
80,000,000/ 7T
EREXREEE

EFWmEXEETF
4.5% + FA20214F12
A178 2 8) ([#&

&) o

HE S Findings of the Investigation

(i) 2020F 11 H30H (i) Between 30 November 2020 and 1 December
Z2020F12H1H 2020, Mr. Chen on behalf of the Company entered
B BRAEERE into the Loan Agreements with the Borrowers
RAE G R AT for the advancement of short term loans in an
ERBE W aggregate sum of RMB118,000,000 (the “Loans”).
BBEEAARE
118,000,0007T &Y 52

HER(ERD -
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

(d) Prior year Investigation (Continued)

1.

144 CHINA GAS INDUSTRY INVESTMENT HOLDINGS CO. LTD.

Summary of the Key Findings of the Investigation
(Continued)
Findings of the Investigation (Continued)

(i)

(i)

(iv)

On 7 December 2020, the Company transferred
RMB50,000,000 from RMB sub-account (the
“Bank A RMB Sub-Account”) of a bank account
held by the Company at a bank (the “Bank A
Account”) to Company A. On 10 December
2020, the Company transferred RMB53,522,000
and RMB14,478,000 from the Bank A RMB
Sub-Account to Company B and Company C,
respectively.

The telegraphic transfers of the Loans from the
Company’s Bank A RMB Sub-Account to each of
the Borrowers were approved by Mr. Chen and Mr.
Bai (at the behest of Mr. Chen).

The Loan Agreements were not tabled before the
Board for discussion or approval. The Board had
Chen
admitted that the Loan Agreements were entered
into without the Board’s prior approval and any
background check on the Borrowers and that no

not approved the Loan Agreements. Mr.

guarantee was provided as security for the Loans.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

(d) Prior year Investigation (Continued)
1. Summary of the Key Findings of the Investigation

(Continued)

Findings of the Investigation (Continued)

(vy  Mr. Chen contended that the sum of
RMB118,000,000 paid out from the Company’s
Bank A RMB Sub-Account were dividend
payable to China Gas Investors Ltd. (a controlling
shareholder of the Company) (“CGI”) and were
therefore funds belonging to CGIl. Mr. Chen had
not sought consent from CGI in relation to the
change of use of the said funds and the change
of use of the said funds had not been approved
in compliance with the articles of association
of the Company (the “Articles”). The Directors
interviewed by Forensic Accountant considered
that the funds in the Bank A RMB Sub-Account
were dividends payable to the shareholders of
the Company and belonged to the Company and
that any change of the use of the funds in the
Bank A RMB Sub-Account must comply with
the provisions of the Articles and the relevant
procedure of the Company.

(vij  The Bank A Account is held in the name of and is
owned by the Company. The Bank A RMB Sub-
Account was set up to hold dividend payable to the
shareholders of the Company before completion
of the IPO. In the financial statements of the
Company published during the IPO and audited by
the previous auditors, the asset of the Company
comprised such Bank A Account.
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3. REEE» 3. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)
d E—FRBEHE) (d) Prior year Investigation (Continued)
I HENFEZREE Il. ~ Summary of the Key Findings of the Investigation
(& (Continued)
HAEER(E) Findings of the Investigation (Continued)
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(vii)

According to Mr. Chen, the business rationale for
making the Loans was to obtain confidence and
good impression from the investors and fulfil their
financial needs, so as to attract investors to make
investment in the Company in the IPO and the
making of the Loans had no direct connection with
the IPO. According to Mr. Chen, it was after the IPO
that one of the underwriters of the IPO notified him
that a subscriber who subscribed for the Shares for
the sum of US$18,000,000 at the IPO is the sole
director and sole shareholder of Company A, the
sole director and sole shareholder of Company D,
and a former director and shareholder of Company
C. Based on the IPO share allocation list, such
subscriber subscribed for 13,138,000 Shares.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

(d) Prior year Investigation (Continued)
1. Summary of the Key Findings of the Investigation

(Continued)

Findings of the Investigation (Continued)

(viii)  Notwithstanding the fact that the Borrowers were
three different companies, the Borrowers were
potentially associated with one another given that
the form and content of the Loan Agreements were
highly similar and that certain direct and indirect
connections among the Borrowers were identified
through desktop internet searches conducted by
the Forensic Accountant.

(ix)  On 18 January 2021, Mr. Chen on behalf of the
Company entered into the Investment Agreement
with  Company D. On 28 January 2021, the
Company paid HK$80,000,000 to Company D
via a bank account maintained with another bank
(‘Bank B”) (the “Bank B Account”) which held
the IPO proceeds. The Investment Agreement was
not tabled before the Board for discussion and
the Investment was not approved by the Board
contrary to the Company’s policy on financial
management and control. The telegraphic transfer
of the Investment from the Bank B Account of the
Company was approved by Mr. Chen and Mr. Bai
(at the behest of Mr. Chen).
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

(d) Prior year Investigation (Continued)
.

Summary of the Key Findings of the Investigation
(Continued)
Findings of the Investigation (Continued)

(x)

In a board preparatory meeting held on 13 January
2021, Mr. Chen made brief reference to potential
investments with IPO proceeds. As the information
provided by Mr. Chen was limited, the Directors
who participated in the meeting required that the
use of the IPO proceeds must comply with law
and regulations and save for a portion of the IPO
proceeds allocated for use for the Company’s
Hong Kong office, the remaining IPO proceeds
should be remitted back to mainland China and
be applied for the purposes set out in the IPO
prospectus of the Company. According to the
Company’s policy on financial management and
control, absent an applicable pre-approved budget
item, if the Company enters into, amends or
terminates a transaction or a series of transactions
under any agreement involving an amount
exceeding RMB1,000,000, prior approval from the
Board shall be required. No resolution was passed
in such meeting in relation to the investment
products proposed by Mr. Chen.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

(d) Prior year Investigation (Continued)
1. Summary of the Key Findings of the Investigation

(Continued)

Findings of the Investigation (Continued)

(xi)  According to Mr. Chen, the purpose of the
Investment was to earn a higher return. Mr. Chen
admitted that the Investment Agreement was
entered into () contrary to legal advice he had
obtained from the Company’s then legal advisers,
and (i) before any due diligence was conducted
and before any security documents were obtained.

(xii)  Mr. Bai expressed the view that he personally
did not agree to the Transactions and suspected
that the counterparties of the Transactions were
potentially associated with one another, and
that there was a possibility that the Investment
Agreement was entered into for the purpose of
expediting the repayment of the Loans. According
to Mr. Bai, the telegraphic transfer was signed by
him at the behest of Mr. Chen.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

(d) Prior year Investigation (Continued)
.

Summary of the Key Findings of the Investigation
(Continued)
Findings of the Investigation (Continued)

(il

On 31 March 2021, Mr. Chen told a number
of Directors that if the Company agreed to a
“put option” agreement (the “Proposed Option
Agreement”), Company A would procure
immediate
Company. Mr. Chen alleged that the Proposed

Option Agreement was proposed by Company A

repayment of the Loans to the

but to be entered into with another subscriber of
the IPO in respect of not more than 100,000,000
Shares at an option price of HK$1.5 per Share,
with an exercise period of 5 to 31 days after the
signing of the Proposed Option Agreement. The
Proposed Option Agreement was in draft form
and did not bear a signatory block for Company
A or any known representative of Company A. Mr.
Chen did not proffer a reasonable explanation as to
why Company A was willing to procure immediate
repayment of all three loans if the Proposed Option
Agreement was entered. Mr. Chen also did not
provide relevant background information about
the proposed counterparty. The Proposed Option
Agreement was voted down by the Board.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

(d) Prior year Investigation (Continued)

1.

Summary of the Key Findings of the Investigation

(Continued)

Findings of the Investigation (Continued)

(xiv) The Forensic Accountant conducted an analysis
of the top 38 investors in the international
offering tranche of the IPO and found that as
at 15 November 2021, ten of such investors
(representing shareholdings of 96,178,000 shares
in aggregate) were potentially connected, of which:
(i) three investors (representing shareholdings of
36,110,000 Shares in aggregate) appeared to have
direct connection with the counter-parties of the
Transactions and (i) seven investors (representing
shareholdings of 60,068,000 Shares in aggregate)
appeared to have indirect connections with the
counter-parties of the Transactions.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

(d) Prior year Investigation (Continued)
.

Summary of the Key Findings of the Investigation
(Continued)
Findings of the Expanded Investigation

0

(i)

(i)

On 20 February 2021, the Company and Xijie’ai
(Shanghai)
(“Xijie’ai”) entered into an agreement (“Xijie’ai
Agreement”) whereby the Company agreed to
reimburse Xijig'ai a sum of HK$2,000,000 for
expenses paid by Xijie’ai for the Company in

Investment Management Co., Ltd

relation to the preparation of the IPO. Mr. Chen was
involved in the signing of the Xijie'ai Agreement on
behalf of the Company as well as for Xijie’ai.

On 7 April 2021, a sum of HK$2,000,000 was
paid to Xijie'ai via a bank account of the Company
maintained with Bank B.

Xijie'ai is a wholly-owned company established in
the PRC on 9 May 2007 by OxyChina Limited (a
company incorporated under the law of the British
Virgin Islands and is owned as to 70% by Mr.
Chen, 10% by Mr. Bai and by two independent
third parties of the Company each holding 10%).
The legal representative of Xijie'ai is Mr. Chen.
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3. WHEEEw 3. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

(d E—FRAEHE) (d) Prior year Investigation (Continued)
I HENFEZREE Il. ~ Summary of the Key Findings of the Investigation
(%) (Continued)
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Findings of the Expanded Investigation (Continued)

(iv)

According to the Company’s policy on financial
management and control, absent an applicable
pre-approved budget item, if the Company enters

A BET R into, amends or terminates a transaction or a series
IE—IEs— R of transactions under any agreement involving an
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HEWBEEIEE M from the Board shall be required. There are no
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board resolutions) to support that the Xijie'ai
Agreement was approved by the Board.

According to the Articles, a director who to

Efrm- E2RH his knowledge is, whether directly or indirectly,
NN IRV RN interested in a contract or arrangement or
& BESBEE] ALY proposed contract or arrangement with the
BRI LHRER Company shall declare the nature of his interest at
BEESREER the meeting of the board at which the question of
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entering into the contract or arrangement is first
considered, if he knows his interest then exists
or in any other case at the first meeting of the
board after he knows that he is or has become so
interested. None of the supporting documents or
representations provided by the Company to the
Forensic Accountant shows that Mr. Chen and Mr.
Bai had declared his interest to the Board.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

(d) Prior year Investigation (Continued)

1.
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Summary of the Key Findings of the Investigation
(Continued)
Findings of the Expanded Investigation (Continued)

(vij Save and except for the Xijie'ai Agreement entered
into with Xijie'ai, the Expanded Investigation has not
uncovered direct evidence of management override
of Mr. Chen and Mr. Bai.

The Board had reviewed the content and the findings
of the Investigation and the Expanded Investigation.
The Board was of the view that the Investigation
and the Expanded Investigation had comprehensively
investigated into the matters raised by the previous
auditor. The Board was of the view that, based on its
review of the findings of the Independent Investigation
and on balance, the nature of Transactions 1 to 3 was
likely to be as stated in the Loan Agreements that they
were loans from the Company to the Borrowers, and the
nature of Transaction 4 was likely to be as stated in the
Investment Agreement that it was an investment in loan
note made by the Company for the purpose of managing
free cash to earn higher return. None of the Transactions
was approved by the Board. Notwithstanding the
Forensic Accountant’s conclusion that save and except
for the Xijie'ai Agreements, the Expanded Investigation
did not uncover direct evidence of management override
by Mr. Chen and Mr. Bai,
Transactions were approved by the Board, and that, in

given that none of the

particular, the telegraphic transfers made pursuant to the
Loan Agreements and the Investment Agreement were
approved by Mr. Chen and Mr. Bai themselves, the Board
considered that there was management override by Mr.
Chen and Mr. Bai.
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3. MEHEE» 3. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continueq)
(d E—FRAEHE) (d) Prior year Investigation (Continued)

I HENFEZREE Il. ~ Summary of the Key Findings of the Investigation
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(Continued)
Findings of the Expanded Investigation (Continued)

Although the Company had continuously demanded
for settlement with the Borrowers, the Company has
not received any repayment up to date. After taking
into account that the Loans became long overdue and
recoverability of the balances, the Group considered that
it was unlikely to recover the outstanding loan balances
of RMB118,000,000 and hence an impairment provision
on loan receivables of RMB118,000,000 was made and
recorded separately as a line item in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income for the year ended
31 December 2020.

On 17 December 2021 when the Investment became
due, the Company did not receive any repayment,
and the Company has not received any repayment
since then. Although the Company had continuously
demanded settlement from the counter-parties, the
Company has not received any repayment up to date.
After taking into account recoverability of the balance,
the Group considered that it was unlikely to recover
the outstanding investment balance of RMB66,400,000
and hence an impairment provision on note investment
of RMB66,400,000, which was made and recorded
separately as a line item in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income for the year ended 31 December
2021.
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3. WHEEEw 3. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

d E—FRBEHE) (d) Prior year Investigation (Continued)
I HENFEZREE Il. ~ Summary of the Key Findings of the Investigation
(%) (Continued)
ERATHNAETER Findings of the Expanded Investigation (Continued)
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continued to take actions to recover the outstanding amounts

from the relevant parties,

issue writ of summons in the Court of First Instance of the
High Court of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region
(the “Court”) against each of Company A, Company B,
Company C and Company D as defendant for, among other
things, the respective outstanding balances and interests. As
the Company did not receive any response to the writs of
summons, the Company applied to the Court to enter default
judgment against Company A, Company B, Company C and

Company D.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Court gave
judgments in favour of the Company and granted default
judgment against each of Company A, Company B, Company
C and Company D for, among other things, the respective

outstanding balances and interests.

As at the date of this report,

recoverability of the loan receivables and note investment and
considered there is no reasonable expectation to recover the

outstanding balance.
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including acting as plaintiff to

the Company revisited the
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4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with the following accounting policies which conform
with IFRS Accounting Standards issued by IASB. For the purposes
of preparation of the consolidated financial statements, information
is considered material if such information is reasonably expected to
influence decisions that the primary users of financial statements
make on the basis of those financial statements when considered
together with other information included in the financial statements.

(@) Subsidiaries

Consolidation

Subsidiaries are entities over which the Group has control. The
Group controls an entity when the Group is exposed to, or has
rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity
and has the ability to affect those returns through its power to
direct the activities of the entity. Subsidiaries are consolidated
from the date on which control is transferred to the Group.
They are deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains/
losses on transactions between the companies within the
Group are eliminated on consolidation.

Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less
impairment. Cost includes direct attributable costs of
investment. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the
Company on the basis of dividend received and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is
required upon receiving a dividend from these investments
if the dividend exceeds the total comprehensive income of
the subsidiary in the period the dividend is declared or if the
carrying amount of the investment in the separate financial
statements exceeds the carrying amount in the consolidated
financial statements of the investee’s net assets including
goodwill.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
IN FO RMATI 0 N (Continued)

(b)

(c)
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Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent
with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating
The board of directors of the Company,
who is responsible for allocating resources and assessing

decision-maker.

performance of the operating segments, has been identified
as the chief operating decision-maker (“CODM?”). The Group’s
business activities, for which discrete financial statements
are available, are regularly reviewed and evaluated by the
CODM. The Group has determined that it has three reportable
segments as follows:

- Supply of industrial gas

- Liquefied natural gas (“LNG”) and gas transmission
service

- Technical support and management services

Foreign currency translation

Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements of each of the
Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity operates (the
“functional currency”). The Company’s functional currency
is USD, and the subsidiaries are incorporated in the PRC and
these entities considered RMB as their functional currency.
Since the majority of assets and operations of the Group
are located in the PRC, the Historical Financial Information is
presented in RMB, which is the Group’s presentation currency.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

IN FO RMATI 0 N (Continued)

(c)

Foreign currency translation (Continued)
Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional
currency using the exchange rates at the dates of the
transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from
the settlement of such transactions and from the translation
of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies at year end exchange rates are generally recognised
in consolidated statements of comprehensive income.

Group companies

The results and financial position of foreign operations (none
of which has the currency of a hyperinflationary economy)
that have a functional currency different from the presentation
currency are translated into the presentation currency as
follows:

- assets and liabilities for each consolidated statement of
financial position presented are translated at the closing
rate at the date of that consolidated statement of financial
position

- income and expenses for each consolidated statement
of comprehensive income are translated at average
exchange rates (unless this is not a reasonable
approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates
prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case
income and expenses are translated at the dates of the
transactions), and

- all resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income.
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4. ERETHERER 4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

(#) INFORMATION (continued)

(c) H&BE &) (c) Foreign currency translation (Continued)
YNNG ), Group companies (Continued)
EHARE  REBIEEMT On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the
AIREFEUANRIEERZEHR translation of any net investment in foreign entities, and
BEz8rmERREMeRT of borrowings and other financial instruments designated
AEECZERLEZENEMES as hedges of such investments, are recognised in other
WHEAER - REEEINER comprehensive income. When a foreign operation is sold or
NEEBIREFEAX LD HE any borrowings forming part of the net investment are repaid,
B - BEEE R ZEEHN the associated exchange differences are reclassified to profit
NEEEE  FALERES or loss, as part of the gain or loss on sale.
EHEH—ZD o

(d) W% BERRKHE (d) Property, plant and equipment
ME BMEREEHE(WE B Property, plant and equipment (‘PP&E”) is stated at historical
ERBHEDZELRNANRITE cost less depreciation. Historical cost includes expenditure that
HIER - BN ABRIFEWEEIEE is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.
BEEEMOHRAL -
BERAEEEZBERABED Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount
RIREOEF =R AT g R AR or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when
SEKEASMETEEEK A it is probable that future economic benefits associated with
MBERTHFEFAEEMNERER the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can
BEXEREBULEE (WEA) - be measured reliably. The carrying amount of any component
ARSI ABBELEENTABY accounted for as a separate asset is derecognised when
FREEN B IRRLIEER - replaced. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to
FiBEEMBEERRENEESE profit or loss during the financial period in which they are
BB AR R AT 2 o incurred.
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4. ERETHERER 4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
(#) INFORMATION (continued)
d % -BERRXREE) (d) Property, plant and equipment (Continued)
WE BELRBRENITETR Depreciation on Property, plant and equipment is calculated
B ERAFTHARBERS using the straight-line method to allocate their cost to their
EREK A EHREEE residual values over their estimated useful lives, as follows:
HIEWMT:
RER EEAEAFH
Residual Estimated
value rate useful lives
BEY Buildings 3% 304 30 years
T 3 Machinery 3% 20%F 20 vears
BEFHEB Electronic equipment 0% 5% 5 years
TAREMBZE Instruments and other equipment 0% 104 10 years
B Vehicles 10% 104F 10 years
HEXNR Leasehold improvements 0% MEFRGPREEEMGT

AERFES UBRERE
Shorter of remaining term

of the lease and the estimated
useful lives of assets

RERERR  BEENEER
FE B E IS T AER > A AE
HBE T E -

MEENREESREMGA
WEewE - MEEMREES
IR MO = R ATy m & %8 o

HEMKZERERIEBLL
BAERARREERET X
RAHEERERATEM(E
18), W — R h R

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and
adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater
than its estimated recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing
proceeds with carrying amount and are
“Other (losses)/gains, net” in the consolidated statements of
comprehensive income.

recognised in
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4. ERETHERER 4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

(%) INFORMATION (continued)

d % -BERRXREE) (d) Property, plant and equipment (Continued)
TRIBE(ERIRDELR Construction in progress (“CIP”) represents leasehold
ERPNEHENR - E£EREN improvements, production line and manufacturing plants
BEMR S o 1F 2 T2 LARK AR under construction. Construction in progress is stated at cost
2 REBEEAB)IER - K less accumulated impairment losses, if any. Cost includes
AeiEk THAMEBENZIRE the costs of construction and acquisition, and capitalized
B3R AR R BB A AR I B ANE K costs attributable to the construction during the period
o BREE B T A N 2R 1 1 R of construction. No provision for depreciation is made on
ERZA TS IEEREIREN construction in progress until such time as the relevant assets
mEREB EBWHEERHE are completed and ready for intended use. When the assets
FHH% CRATIEEYE  WE concerned are available for use, the costs are transferred to

Bt Wik EMBRITE - property, plant and equipment and depreciated in accordance

with the policy as stated in above.

(e) EMEERE (e) Impairment of non-financial assets
BEREERBRAFERAFTFHNELE Intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life are not
EDE#E  EETGFETR subject to amortisation and are tested annually for impairment,
BAFE NEEHEEMHREBER or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances
By H g LR REDR indicate that they might be impaired. Other assets are tested
TR SRR ERR - & for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances
BEMFHBRIBRARFEHERE indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An
[H 8 Al g R W EIEF - B & 3t impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the
HEEEETHRENR - BE carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount.
EERERZEENEDEBLERY The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value
WESERZFEER - ATRE less costs to sell and value in use.

THRUNEENAABERLE
RAEFEBEEMEFRSE

B -

R EREMS  EEZREY For the purpose of assessing impairment, assets are
A#HpEeRE (ERAIEEL grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately

ﬁiﬁﬁJﬁéE‘ké%fﬁ Al &Y identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units which are largely
REMANBEEEAE J)E)]E— independent of the cash inflows from other assets or group

EAKFEDHE - R BN - of assets). Non-financial assets other than goodwill that

WIE R E E’J?Finﬁﬁéﬁ 3@& suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of

iﬁ;ﬁifii’]A?ﬁﬂ{E% Y Al T the impairment at the end of each reporting period.

EITRE ©
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

IN FO RMATI 0 N (Continued)

(f)

Financial assets

Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following
measurement categories:

- those to be measured subsequently at fair value through
other comprehensive income,

those to be measured subsequently at fair value through
profit or loss, and

- those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity’s business model for
managing the financial assets and the contractual terms of the
cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses will be
recorded either in profit or loss or other comprehensive income
(“OCI”). For investments in equity instruments that are not
held for trading, this will depend on whether the Group has
made an irrevocable election at the time of initial recognition
to account for the equity investment at fair value through other
comprehensive income.

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and only when
its business model for managing those assets changes.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

(f) Financial assets (Continued)
Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on trade-date, the date on which the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets are
derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the
financial assets have expired or have been transferred and the
Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards

of ownership.

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset at
its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at fair
value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction
costs of financial assets carried at fair value through profit or

loss are recorded in profit or loss.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on the
Group’s business model for managing the asset and the cash
flow characteristics of the asset. There are two measurement
categories into which the Group classifies its debt instruments:

Amortised cost:

contractual cash flows where those cash flows represent solely
payments of principal and interest are measured at amortised
cost. A gain or loss on a debt investment that is subsequently
measured at amortised cost and is not part of a hedging
relationship is recognised in profit or loss when the asset is
derecognised or impaired. Interest income from these financial
assets is included in finance income using the effective interest

method.

164 CHINA GAS INDUSTRY INVESTMENT HOLDINGS CO. LTD.

Assets that are held for collection of
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (Continued)

(f)

Financial assets (Continued)

Measurement (Continued)

Debt instruments (Continued)

Fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI’):
Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows
and for selling the financial assets, where the assets’ cash
flows represent solely payments of principal and interest, are
measured at FVOCI. Movements in the carrying amount are
taken through OCI, except for the recognition of impairment
gains or losses, interest income and foreign exchange gains
and losses which are recognised in profit or loss. When
the financial asset is derecognised, the cumulative gain or
loss previously recognised in OCI is reclassified from equity
to profit or loss and recognised in “Other (losses)/gains,
net”. Interest income from these financial assets is included
in finance income using the effective interest rate method.
Foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in “Other
(losses)/gains, net” and impairment expenses are presented
as separate line item in the consolidated statements of
comprehensive income.

Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount
is reported in the consolidated statement of financial
position when there is a legally enforceable right to offset
the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle
on a net basis, or realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously. The legally enforceable right must not be
contingent on future events and must be enforceable in
the normal course of business and in the event of default,
insolvency or bankruptcy of the company or the counterparty.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

(f)

166 CHINA GAS INDUSTRY INVESTMENT HOLDINGS CO. LTD.

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses on a forward looking basis the expected
credit losses associated with its assets carried at amortised
cost and financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.
The impairment methodology applied depends on whether
there has been a significant increase in credit risk.

For trade receivables, the Group applies the simplified
approach permitted by IFRS 9, which requires expected
lifetime losses to be recognised from initial recognition of the

receivables.

Impairment on other receivables is measured as either
12-month expected credit losses or lifetime expected credit
loss, depending on whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition. If a significant
increase in credit risk of a receivable has occurred since initial
recognition, then impairment is measured as lifetime expected

credit losses.

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial
asset has increased significantly since initial recognition and
when estimating ECL, the Group considers reasonable and
supportable information that is relevant and available without
undue cost or effort. This includes both quantitative and
qualitative information analysis, based on the Group’s historical
experience and informed credit assessment and including
forward-looking information.

The Group assumes that the credit risk on a financial asset
has increased significantly if it is more than 30 days past due.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
IN FO RMATI 0 N (Continued)

(9)

(h)

Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for
products sold or services performed in the ordinary course
of business. If collection of trade and other receivables is
expected in one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle
of the business if longer), they are classified as current assets.

If not, they are presented as non-current assets.

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at the
amount of consideration that is unconditional unless they
contain significant financing components, when they are
recognised at fair value. The Group holds the trade and other
receivables with the objective to collect the contractual cash
flows and therefore measures them subsequently at amortised
cost using the effective interest method.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are obligations to pay for goods
or services that have been acquired in the ordinary course
of business from suppliers. Trade and other payables are
classified as current liabilities if payment is due within one year
or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the business, if
longer). If not, they are presented as non-current liabilities.

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at fair value
and subsequently measured at, amortised cost using the
effective interest method.
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4. ERETHERER 4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
(%) INFORMATION (continveq)
(i) B () Borrowings
BRNFT AR R BENRAE Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of
ERR KR - EHRBER transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently
S AR BR ¢ FTAS BIE (0 carried at amortised cost; any difference between the
bR 5 R AR) B IE BB B 2 /Y proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption amount
E A ZRBRABERFEERE is recognised in profit or loss over the period of the borrowings
HEEEBEEANER - using the effective interest method.
MR AT B IR ED 5 3k 2 FB &b Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognised
Z AR LERRERE N as transaction costs of the loan to the extent that it is probable
WERABRERBERRHK that some or all of the facility will be drawn down. In this case,
Ko RUERT BRABEL the fee is deferred until the draw-down occurs. To the extent
ZRERNEFELE BRI - MEEME there is no evidence that it is probable that some or all of the
BESRAEGERLIHE facility will be drawn down, the fee is capitalised as a pre-
HEE - BZBRERETU payment for liquidity services and amortised over the period
EREARBESRBENTE of the facility to which it relates.
NI WEBREE A M #
EEXNFTANETERR - Borrowings are removed from the statement of financial
FEHREmE BRSNS position when the obligation specified in the contract is
MARFBR - BRIESER discharged, cancelled or expired. The difference between
FTE— AR eRAGENERE the carrying amount of a financial liability that has been
HENREZEZB(BEERD extinguished or transferred to another party and the
EENIFR e EESC RKIEDN consideration paid, including any non-cash assets transferred
BE)EEETERAEMILA or liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit or loss as other
S BF T A A o income or finance costs.
BRIEAR & B A TG G ERNG Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group
AEMEERPEEEREH has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability
Rig & D12ME A - T AME K& for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period.

Aﬁﬁm@ﬁ@°
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
IN FO RMATI 0 N (Continued)

()

(k)

Borrowing costs

General and specific borrowing costs directly attributable to
the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets,
which are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of
time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are capitalised,
until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their
intended use or sale.

Other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which
they are incurred.

Dividend

Dividends are recognised when they become legally payable.
In the case of final dividends, this is when approved by the
shareholders at the AGM.
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4. ERETHERER 4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

(#) INFORMATION (continveq)

) BNHAREZEREH () Current and deferred income tax
BTS2 R E The income tax expense or credit for the period is the tax
ZRIZEEERBERMEREE payable on the current period’s taxable income based on the
REHERTWAFTTERNER applicable income tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by
FRE BEMRETRIEE RS changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to
EHELAGEARBBEEEDN temporary differences and to unused tax losses.
EERIBEEERBEZISED
BB A 12 7 Current income tax
BEAPRE R X B IRBALDF R The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis
EMBRAREEMERELE of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the
R B B R RS B 7S RO 2R statement of financial position date in the countries where the
HEIE B M EE BMH OB Company and its subsidiaries operate and generate taxable
ERIFE - BERERBE AL income. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in
AR EFTIRR IS R E BT tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax
mB RN WEERB regulation is subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions
ST AR 4 T8 HR 78 M) B TS K B X2 where appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be
RIE R RO TE A o paid to the tax authorities.

W RE T 13 Deferred income tax

BILFSMERBEEREE Deferred income tax is recognised, using the liability method,
FEEMNHEAREREENY on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of
Wi Z MR - Al WIET assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts. However,
HEABERKEVILHEREE deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if they arise from
Bl g FARER - MIELEFS the initial recognition of goodwill. Deferred income tax is not
RREBERS (TREEKEH) accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or
FHEENBENVISER liability in a transaction other than a business combination that
MEXSKITTEGHER at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor
RERBEZ  BATgTHAA taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined using
IR - BREMGEHARE VB tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantively
MAEXBHBERMKELER/M enacted by the consolidated statement of financial position
B R(EBE)ETE - WHEH date and are expected to apply when the related deferred
RERERRELEMSHEES income tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax liability
BNELEMSHABERER - is settled.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (Continued)

U]

Current and deferred income tax (Continued)
Deferred income tax (Continued)

Deferred income tax assets are recognised only if it is probable
that future taxable profit will be available to utilise those
temporary differences and losses.

Deferred income tax liabilities are provided on taxable
temporary differences arising from investments in subsidiaries,
except for deferred income tax liability where the timing of the
reversal of the temporary difference is controlled by the Group
and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse
in the foreseeable future.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised on deductible
temporary differences arising from investments in subsidiaries
only to the extent that it is probable the temporary difference
will reverse in the future and there is sufficient taxable profit
available against which the temporary difference can be
utilised.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there
is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets and
liabilities and when the deferred income tax balances relate
to the same taxation authority. Current tax assets and tax
liabilities are offset where the entity has a legally enforceable
right to offset and intends either to settle on a net basis, or
to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except
to the extent that it relates to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case, the tax
is also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity, respectively.
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4. ERETHERER 4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

(#) INFORMATION (continued)

) BNHARIEZERESHE) () Current and deferred income tax (Continued)
BT 137 (48) Deferred income tax (Continued)
AEEBETARKABERLE Companies within the Group may be entitled to claim special
BEREERENAERAXSR tax deductions for investments in qualifying assets or in
WP IBIR - NE B % relation to qualifying expenditure. The Group accounts for such
EREARINEHRIEE R - Al allowances as tax credits, which means that the allowance
BEBRDEMMEE XA reduces income tax payable and current tax expense.
BERX -

(m) EERF (m) Employee benefits
FHIE T Short-term obligations
TERF S (BEEHANEER Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary
{H 18 8 AR 7% #9 B 48 SR 181218 benefits, annual leave and sick leave that are expected to be
AABHEENIFEEEEF - settled wholly within 12 months after the end of the period in
FRERBR AENREERE which the employees render the related service are recognised
AN EEREER  Wiks in respect of employees’ services up to the end of the reporting
HFEERNEHABI NS period and are measured at the amounts expected to be paid
E-BEREGHUBRAEKRZ when the liabilities are settled. The liabilities are presented
TIVERNEA R B FIEAE - as current employee benefit obligations in the consolidated

statement of financial position.

Bk EMT Pension obligations

FENEBEESBNEDD Full-time employees in the PRC are covered by various
BEETRETERSFTERE - government-sponsored defined contribution pension plans
RENETE - EEEERIE under which the employees are entitled to a monthly pension
ETHERBHENRKE - B based on certain formulas. The relevant government agencies
BAETKESEEILEBRKNES are responsible for the pension liability to these retired
FRARESEE AEBEETAM employees. The Group contributes on a monthly basis to these
ZERNESFTEIHR - R I pension plans. Under these plans, the Group has no further
ZETE BRI EEIN R payment obligation for post-retirement benefits beyond the
By mEmE T NRINER contributions made. Contributions to these plans are expensed
oo sz FETEIM RN E £ as incurred and contributions paid to the defined-contribution
T mBNEEEREE - NE pension plans for an employee are not available to reduce the
FEERAAREE I TREEMRNK Group’s future obligations to such defined contribution pension
RARSEIE#HRAR P AREER plans even if the employee leaves.
HEEEEETERARSETE D

RIREE -
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
IN FO RMATI 0 N (Continued)

(m) Employee benefits (Continued)

(n)

Housing funds, medical insurances and other social
insurances

Employees of the Group in the PRC are entitled to participate
in various government-supervised housing funds, medical
insurance plan. The Group
contributes on a monthly basis to these funds based on certain

insurances and other social

percentages of the salaries of the employees, subject to certain
ceiling. The Group’s liability in respect of these funds is limited
to the contributions payable in each year. Contributions to the
housing funds, medical insurances and other social insurances
are expensed as incurred.

Bonus entitlernents

The expected cost of bonus payments is recognised as
a liability when the Group has a present contractual or
constructive obligation as a result of services rendered by
employees and a reliable estimate of the obligation can be
made.

Earnings per share
Basic earnings per share
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing:

- the profit attributable to owners of the Company,
excluding any costs of servicing equity other than
ordinary shares, and

- by the weighted average number of ordinary shares
outstanding during the financial year, adjusted for bonus
elements in ordinary shares issued during the year and
excluding treasury shares.
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4. ERETHERER 4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
(%) INFORMATION (continued)
n) SEREFE (n) Earnings per share (Continued)
& fi 158 & 1 Diluted earnings per share
FRBERFAERTESRE Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the
KRBT ATAREE - WaA: determination of basic earnings per share to take into account:
— HETHEEZAREEN - the after income tax effect of interest and other financing
e &Eﬁtﬁﬂ%ﬁﬁﬂ’ﬂﬁ% costs associated with dilutive potential ordinary shares,
FriGBiEeE . and
- GEBREMEAEEEELTE - the weighted average number of additional ordinary
REEBRERT T shares that would have been outstanding assuming the
B 78 SN 8 AR B9 N T conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares.
2 o
(o) WEHER (0) Revenue recognition
Wz Ty 2 ek Bl H RIE R Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
NAEEE  REREA RS received or receivable, and represents amounts receivable for
fE T REIR MR A E UL industrial gas generated and supplied or services provided,
B MBRIEETEZY - stated net of value added taxes.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
IN FO RMATI 0 N (Continued)

(o)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue is recognised when or as the control of the goods or
services is transferred to a customer. Depending on the terms
of the contract and the laws that apply to the contract, control
of the goods and services may be transferred over time or at
a point of time. The following is a description of the accounting
policy for our principle revenue streams:

Supply of industrial gas

Sales and distribution of natural gas are recognised at a
point in time when control is transferred to customers, which
generally coincides with the time when gas is transmitted and
used by the customers, and is based on the gas consumption
data derived from meter readings. Payment of the transaction
price is due immediately at the point the customer consume
the gas.

Supply of liquefied industrial gas and liquefied natural
gas (“LNG’)

For supply of liquefied industrial gas and liquefied natural gas
for which the control of products is transferred to customer
on delivery, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains the physical possession of products and the
Group has present right to payment and the collection of the
consideration is probable.

Gas transmission service

For gas transmission service for which the obligation of service
is satisfied on transmission of gas, revenue is recognised for
each reporting period based on the volume of gas transmitted
and the unit service fee as agreed in the service contract.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
IN FO RMATI 0 N (Continued)

(o) Revenue recognition (Continued)
Technical support and management services

The Group provides technical support and management
services in respect of the production and supply of industrial
gas products. Revenue recognition is based on satisfying the
performance obligation related to the actual volume of gas
transmitted and the unit price as agreed upon in the service

contract.

Others

Others consist of income from sales of compressed natural gas
and LNG for vehicles at natural gas station, other special gas
and technical support and management services etc., which
are recognised when the relevant items are delivered to the

buyers.

Leases

(p)

The Group leases land, office and buildings as lessee. Rental
contracts are typically made for fixed periods of 1 to 20 years
and may have extension options. Lease terms are negotiated
on an individual basis and contain a wide range of different

terms and conditions.

Leases are

is available for use by the Group. Each lease payment is
allocated between the liability and finance cost. The finance
cost is charged to profit or loss over the lease period so as to
produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining
balance of the liability for each period. The right-of-use asset
is amortised over the shorter of the asset’s useful life and the

lease term on a straight-line basis.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
IN FO R MAT'O N (Continued)

(p)

Leases (Continued)

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured
on a present value basis. Lease liabilities include the net
present value of the following lease payments:

° fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments),
less any lease incentives receivable
° variable lease payment that are based on an index or a

rate

o amounts expected to be payable by the lessee under
residual value guarantees

° the exercise price of a purchase option if the lessee is

reasonably certain to exercise that option, and

° payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the
lease term reflects the lessee exercising that option.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the

following:

° the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability

° any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives received
any initial direct costs, and

° restoration costs.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate

implicit in the lease, if that rate can be determined, or the
Group’s incremental borrowing rate.
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4. ERETFTBEREHR 4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
(#) INFORMATION (continued)
(p) HE#E) (p) Leases (Continued)
M HMEEEE MR IRE Payments associated with short-term leases are recognised
BERERERAMZ - BH on a straight-line basis as an expense in profit or loss. Short-
HENHESRABI2E AT term leases are leases with a lease term of 12 months or less
ZHE UREBEKRMBRE and leases with a remaining term of 12 months or less as of
HAFGFEREKAZAR the date of initial adoption of IFRS 16.
TR EAPR B12fE A E A
& .
FREEENMHEEAGERES M The right-of-use assets and the lease liabilities are present
RN ERPERTR © separately on the consolidated statement of financial position.
(q) FAE (q) Related parties
iy FALTHHABRREKE () A person or a close member of that person’s family is
BERNEEBEE - % related to the Group if that person:
N
() HBEREE TS () has control or joint control over the Group;

TR 2l L [R) 4% I 4%

iy HEAKEBEKRY (i)  has significant influence over the Group; or
27 3%

(i) AEAEELAKEE (i) is a member of key management personnel of the
NAIZEEER Group or the Group’s parent.

N
iy WRETIERGESE - B (i) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following

RS BN [H G R conditions apply:

() “EBERASEB ()  the entity and the Group are members of the same
FA—S£EMNKE AT group (which means that each parent, subsidiary
(BEB/EAF - and fellow subsidiary is related to the others).
(o= NS DA )

BRRELEEH

§) o
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
IN FO RMATI 0 N (Continued)

(q) Related parties (Continued)
(i) (Continued)

(i

(i)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a
member).

both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third entity.

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of the employees of the Group or an entity
related to the Group.

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (g)(i).

a person identified in (qg)(i)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity).

the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services
to the group or to the group’s parent.
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4. EXGHBRER 4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
(%) INFORMATION (continued)
( BEEHE) (q) Related parties (Continued)
R-ATHIERKEKEIRTE Close members of the family of a person are those family
A 2 AN THEEETE members who may be expected to influence, or be influenced
BEIREERIZATEEN by, that person in their dealings with the entity and include:

EREXBKRE B

- RBEATHTFEREEK - that person’s children and spouse or domestic partner;
RE B

- HBAALHEREREN - children of that person’s spouse or domestic partner;
BRFL R and

- BRBEATHZBEALTHR - dependents of that person or that person’s spouse or
BIREFEOHTHE domestic partner.
Ao

5. MRS {HsT R HE 5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
AND JUDGEMENTS

B RHE TR ERTLH K HEMm Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based
REELFEN G BEEABAER on historical experience and other factors, including expectations
THRKEHNEGETED - of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the

circumstances.
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5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
AND JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future.
The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal
the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have
a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are
addressed below.

(a) Deferred taxation
The Group’s operating subsidiaries in the PRC are subject
to Enterprise Income Tax. Significant judgement is required
in determining the deferred tax relating to certain temporary
differences and tax losses in various jurisdictions. There are
many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax
determination is uncertain. The Group recognises assets or
liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues based on estimates
of whether additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax
outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that
were initially recorded, such differences will impact the deferred
income tax assets and liabilities in the period in which such
determination is made.

(b) Useful lives and residual value of property,

plant and equipment

The Group’s management determines the estimated useful
lives, residual values and related depreciation charges for
its property, plant and equipment. The estimates are based
on the historical experience of the actual useful lives and
residual values of similar nature and functions. Management
will increase the depreciation charges where useful lives are
less than previously estimated lives or residual values are
less than previously estimated values. Actual economic lives
and residual values may differ from estimated useful lives and
residual values. Periodic review could result in a change in
depreciable and amortisable lives and residual values, which
therefore affect the depreciation and amortisation charges in
future periods.
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5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
AND JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

(c)

(d)
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Impairment of property, plant and equipment

The Group evaluates the impairment risks of property,
equipment and leasehold improvements in accordance with
the accounting policies stated in note 4(e).

amounts of property, plant and equipment is the value in

Recoverable

use, which is higher than the asset’s fair value less costs
of disposal. When calculating the value in use, the Group is
required to estimate and evaluate the future cash flow of each
assets group and the discount rate to determine the current
value. As at 31 December 2023, the net carrying amounts of
property, plant and equipment are RMB1,527,518,212 (2022:
RMB1,560,472,364).

Impairment of trade, notes and other

receivables

The loss allowances for trade, notes and other receivables
are based on assumptions about risk of default and expected
credit loss rates. The Group uses judgement in making these
assumptions and selecting the inputs to the impairment
calculation, based on the Group’s past history, existing market
conditions as well as forward looking estimates at the end
of each reporting period. Details of the key assumptions and
inputs used are disclosed in note 39(a).
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6.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The executive Directors of the Company have been identified as
the chief operating decision-makers of the Group who review the
Group’s internal reporting in order to assess performance of the
Group on a regular basis and allocate resources.

The Group is primarily engaged in the production and supply of
industrial gas in the PRC. Additionally, the Group is involved in
production and supply of liquefied natural gas (“LNG”) and related
gas transmission service. The Group also provides technical
support and management services. The chief operating decision-
makers assess performance of the business based on a measure
of operating results and consider the business from the product
perspective. Information reported to the chief operating decision-
makers for the purposes of resources allocation and performance
assessment focuses on the operation results of the Group as a whole
as the Group’s resources are integrated. Accordingly, the Group has
identified three (2022: two) operating segments as follows:

- Supply of industrial gas
- LNG and gas transmission service

- Technical support and management services
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6. PEER @

() BEREEEECFAERLR
%O EESERERER
WAEETAREHBNHBE
W AEEEABRE DT %

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continueq)

(i)  The Group’s reportable segments are managed separately
as each business offers different products and services and
requires different business strategies. The following summary
describes the operations in each of the Group’s reportable

FEHEL A an T - segments:
BZ2023512A31ALEE
Year ended 31 December 2023

METXRE RELRXAKR BWXER
(BERKL) SKBHERE EERB H i ]

Supply of Technical

industrial gas LNG and gas support and

(pipeline and  transmission management
liquefied) service services  Elimination Group
AR¥TT AR¥RT AR¥T AR AR¥TRT
RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB
7 U Segment revenue 1,203,621,320 305,356,594 2,917,278  (20,741,204) 1,491,153,988
E7 Gross profit 320,611,598 10,050,185 1,441,159 - 332,102,942

HE2022F12A3BLEEE
Year ended 31 December 2022

HEIXRAE REXRER BWIER
(BB K1) REHERSE BB R% Fafis AEHE

Supply of Technical

industrial gas LNG and gas  support and

(pipeline and transmission  management
liquefied) service services Elimination Group
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARET ARET
RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB
7 U Segment revenue 1,194,342,987 305,207,749 - (17,906,495) 1,481,644,241
E7 Gross profit 334,105,185 7,745,428 - - 341,850,613
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DEEE 2

(i)

(iii)

i 32 & #
ANRRHEHETMRT -
MAEEEZE R P E XL E
HER  BHWKBRAPER
o B - B4R 251 48 U 2K
38 & K} o

HXEFEFAENESH
HAREEBEKEI0%A EHE
P

#H £2023F12H31H L £ For the year ended 31 December 2023

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
(i) Geographic information
The Company is domiciled in the Cayman Islands while
the Group operates its business in mainland China and all
its revenue is derived in mainland China. Accordingly, no
geographical information on the total revenues is presented.

(iii) Information about major customers
The customers which contributed more than 10% of the total
revenue of the Group are as follows:

20234 20224

2023 2022

AR®T AR

RMB RMB

EFPA Customer A 1,084,929,182 1,005,008,243
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7. Wz 7.
AEEFEREIRATP AL -

REVENUE

AEBFERPEALETEAERMET
¥R BRIERARREEREH X
R 7% o 7S & B 7 B 220234 2022
F12A31BILFEZERE DS

All the Group’s revenue is derived from contracts with customers.

The Group is principally engaged in the production and supply of
industrial gases, liquefied natural gas and related gas transmission
service in the PRC. An analysis of the Group’s revenue by category
for the year ended 31 December 2023 and 2022 is disclosed as

DT ENT follows:
2023 20224
2023 2022
AR T AR
RMB RMB
RE-—RHEHER Recognised at a point in time
HEEBEBTERE Supply of pipeline industrial gas 998,622,439 927,740,024
HERCTERE Supply of liquefied industrial gas 165,703,046 228,032,728
HERIECRXARRRE Supply of LNG and gas
) 3% AR 15 transmission service 305,356,594 305,207,749
R HEREERS Technical support and management
services 2,917,278 -
Hts Others 18,554,631 20,663,740
1,491,153,988 1,481,644,241
EHEaE Contract liabilities

=41 on the consolidated statement of financial position.
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a2z
7. LI& I (&) 7. REVENUE (continuea)
=R -S1C)) Contract liabilities (Continued)
AEEDHERRTIEGHNEE: The Group has recognised the following contract liabilities:
2023%F 20224
2023 2022
AR®R AREETT
RMB RMB
KBTI EEBEMAABEE:  Contract liabilities arising from:
—HERI TEREE — Supply of liquefied industrial gas 3,542,269 4,296,926
—fERIERAR - Supply of LNG 2,112,083 4,053,350
—H Aty — Others 570,730 503,530
6,225,082 8,853,806
HENEEHEBNERRA RS Revenue recognised in relation to contract
liabilities
TREIRBZFEHEFVHEE SN The following table shows how much of the revenue recognised in
EEEBNCERIES - each of the year relates to carried-forward contract liabilities at the
beginning of the year.
20234 20224F
2023 2022
ARY T AR T
RMB RMB
HEREITERE Supply of liquefied industrial gas 4,068,197 2,879,697
HEBRIELRXAR Supply of LNG 3,506,820 2,176,986
Hith Others 427,276 524,318
8,002,293 5,581,001
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8. Hitlkr A 8. OTHER INCOME
2023%F 20224
2023 2022
ARY T AR
RMB RMB
BB (H2F) Government grants (note) 5,324,539 830,219
Hith Others 55,862 144,407
5,380,401 974,626
Hat: BSHBIEEK ARG  BRSFBITE Note: Government grants are all income related and there exists no unfulfilled
B A0 17 7E A B B I fF sk H A 3 8 conditions or other contingencies attaching to these government grants.

e

9. H#h(E5E) W —E% 9. OTHER (LOSSES)/GAINS, NET

20234 20224

2023 2022

AR®T ARMETT

RMB RMB

HNIE W 25 5 58 Net foreign exchange gains 1,917,896 19,620,971

HHEME  BERRE Written off of property, plant and

(H1a£17) equipment (note 17) (19,309,391) (7,537,864)
HAith Others (359,789) (213,769)
(17,751,284) 11,869,338
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10. BA RS R AN — 2R

10. FINANCE COSTS, NET

20234 20224
2023 2022
AR®T AR
RMB RMB

HBEKA : Finance income:
RERITFRAF B U A Interest income from bank deposits 3,932,470 1,435,829

B - Finance costs:

RITEZOF B Interest expenses on bank borrowings (29,002,175) (29,826,809)
AL IR F B Discount interest (542,923) -
HEABENMNERX Interest expense on lease liabilities (203,336) (197,783)
m:EXMres Add: amount capitalised 4,100,515 2,568,709
FFr 52t 87 7 Bk AR Finance costs expensed (25,647,919) (27,455,883)
BF 7 Pk AN — 5 58 Finance costs, net (21,715,449) (26,020,054)

HZE2023FE12A31AILFEE - & F4&
BRNEENTBRATERL  F15
N 54.86% (20224F : 4.99%) °

MENHEBRAXETERERENWE

30MfE 3K -

2023 (2022: 4.99%).

disclosed in note 30.
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M. ZHEE2ENRAX

11. EXPENSES BY NATURE

2023%F 20224
2023 2022
AR AR
RMB RMB
% BAD B & Auditor’s remuneration 3,200,000 3,700,000
NAEENHEME Consumption of utilities 803,384,731 796,860,170
BEM R R EEEEFERTEE Consumption of raw materials and
low value consumables 173,404,120 186,939,664
BN mWTEE Changes in inventories of
finished goods 567,580 102,409
WM BMEREZEBEITE Depreciation of property, plant and
(Bt at17) equipment (note 17) 130,372,407 124,107,610
FREEEREAF18) Amortisation of right-of-use assets
(note 18) 1,950,471 1,990,028
BERAMBXIZ (K iE12) Employee benefits expenses (note 12) 55,370,540 58,384,236
mEEEREAF19) Amortisation of intangible assets
(note 19) = 269,348
EERBE Professional service fee 5,350,506 26,258,691
EoRWHIENEEERE Credit loss allowance for trade
Biw(Hitz2) receivables (note 22) 15,363,770 8,135,000
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12. BEERAMFAX

12. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSES

20234 20224
2023 2022
ARETT ARETT
RMB RMB
T8  He - L4l Wages, salaries, bonuses 40,432,181 44,461,126
FTEARS  BERRE Housing funds, medical insurance and
E k= 18 FH other social welfare contributions
(K1 a%0) (note (i) 7,571,888 6,782,989
BIRK A — R E M FRET 8 Pension costs — defined contribution
(H7 2 (i) plans (note (i) 5,004,105 4,958,873
H {th 18 F Other benefits 2,362,366 2,181,248
55,370,540 58,384,236
Kiat - Notes:

(i)

AEENFREEN2HELERNE
ENERLES  BERBRRHEME
ExEeRBTE AEETARER
B ¥ & #915% 224% (20224 : 15% &
24%) (BREETLR)AZSEESEL
R AEBERZEECHEEIRRE
FRERIAFHHRK -

REBEPREEGIRERAT  AKER
HAEE B KA AR KA &
Ao AEEREFARBBRA(BIEL
E e RUMRILA) % (RE L
R)mZEHEELMAR - MAKEE
%5 B A 0% E20% (20224 : 0%
£20%) (FRAEBETFTLER)ELHER B
REF I EFEBAER T RIKER
M EM B E - BREBERIKG E&
ERRNEE L MRRERFNEHE
£ o

(i)

Employees of the Group in the PRC are entitled to participate in various
government-supervised housing funds, medical insurance and other employee
social insurance plan. The Group contributes on a monthly basis to these funds
based on approximately 15% to 24% (2022: 15% to 24%) of the salaries of the
employees, subject to certain ceiling. The Group’s liability in respect of these
funds is limited to the contributions payable in each year.

As stipulated by rules and regulations in the PRC, the Group contributes to
state-sponsored retirement schemes for its employees in the PRC. The Group’s
employees make monthly contributions to the schemes at approximately 8%
of the relevant income (comprising wages, salaries, allowances and bonus,
and subject to maximum caps), while the Group contributes 0% to 20% (2022:
0% to 20%) of such relevant income, subject to certain ceiling and has no
further obligations for the actual payment of post-retirement benefits beyond
the contributions. The state-sponsored retirement schemes are responsible for
the entire post-retirement benefit obligations payable to the retired employees.
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13.EEMEURTRES
FAL
@ EEMSEBEIETHR
AB)
BREFEBAEMRAUEREEQF
BOFEENESTLREEITHRA

13. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS AND THE
FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

(a) Directors’ emoluments (including chief

executives)
Directors’ and chief executives’ remuneration for both years,
disclosed pursuant to the applicable Listing Rules and Hong

EMENMSIT: Kong Companies Ordinances is as follows:
FEAES
BRERRR
b - BHRAEA- Hipit g
¥& B4 RERRGY BRHR Ezng BERA @it
Housing funds,
Pension medical insurance
Wages,  costs-defined and other
salaries, contribution social welfare Director's  Discretionary
bonuses plans contributions fees bonus Total
N o ARBT ARBT ARBT ARBT ARBT
RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB
HZE2023512AALEE Year ended 31 December 2023
HITEF Executive directors
s iy) Yao Li fnote (ij) - - - - - -
mER M) Gao Guimin (note (i) 367,200 - - - - 367,200
FHTEE Non-executive directors
RER W i) Zhang Aimin (note (if) - - - - - -
KR (Wit (i) Zhang Wenli fnote (iv)) - - - - - -
2a Lai Vui - - - 539,633 - 539,633
it Ng Shuk Ming = = - 539,633 = 539,633
BUFHTEE Indlependent non-executive directors
b Siu Chi Hung = = = 539,633 = 539,633
Bl Xiao Huan Wei = = = 539,633 = 539,633
FE Li Chun Elsy - - - 539,633 - 539,633
367,200 = = 2,698,165 = 3,065,365
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13. EEM &L LR EEES 13. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS AND THE

#}AT FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS
(Continued)
(@ EEME(EBREETH (a) Directors’ emoluments (including chief
AB)#E) executives) (Continued)
EELRS -
EERRR
TH RiAE- g
$o.0 BRbHsE BRER EEEe Bt g3t

Housing funds,
Pension  medical insurance

Wages, costs-defined and other
salaries, contribution social welfare Director's Discretionary
bonuses plans contributions fees bonus Total
ARET ARET ARET ARET ARET ARET
RvVB RMB RMB RmMB RmMB RvVB
HZ2022512A31ALEE Year ended 31 December 2022
HITEF Executive directors
B2y David T Chen (note (j) - - - 358,581 - 358,581
A iy) Yao Li fnote (i) - - - - - -
SEQW M) Gao Guimin (nofe (i) 382,990 15,578 39,868 - - 438,436
HFHTEE Non-executive directors
RER W i) Zhang Aimin (note (i) - - - - - -
28 Lai Yui - - - 516,485 - 516,485
ik Ng Shuk Ming - - - 516,485 - 516,485
BUFHTEE Independent non-executive directors
R Siu Chi Hung - - - 516,485 - 516,485
EhE Xiao Huan Wei - - - 516,485 - 516,485
3£ Li Chun Elsy - - - 516,485 - 516,485
382,990 15,578 39,868 2,941,006 - 3,379,442
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13.EEM LU AEEES 13. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS AND THE
;AT FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

(Continued)

(@) EEMES(BRFTETH (a)

AB)#E)
Hiat -

(i) PR K 4 B2021F5811H B & =
B 75 0 18 R20226F 5858 1% B
% o

(ii) NS EHRELEE2023F
12A31BILFEN R CREES
& A R #1,079,2667C fl A B
#1,079,2667T (20224F : A B ¥
1,032,9707T A1 A R #51,032,970

TT) °

(iii) R B R2023F1F20H EF {E I
[A & 7£ & 20234 K% 20224F 12
ASIBLEEESRAKREES
e A R#29,0137L 1A R
516,4857C °

(iv) 3R SCFI 20231 A20 B E &
I 7 & /£ 8 £2023F 12 A31H
LEFERBREESHEARE
510,6207T °

V) REEE BRESAARER
BREMHE + EARMAKE
EEFIPENE: FEPS B T
Wi -

(vij TEBEAREHE LI HUK
BUE R AR AR U SRAR LR A ©

(vii)y  RMEH AEEILARIREM
BERBG MR ERSE =T ZHR
3o

(vii)  PA20238%F %2022 12H318 -
BEAEE  IZSEFEHN
FAERBREZSEERH®N
ERAZZANER £EFXR
Hih 2 HRHE -

194 CHINA GAS INDUSTRY INVESTMENT HOLDINGS CO. LTD.

Directors’ emoluments (including chief
executives) (Continued)

Notes:

(i

(iii

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(vii)

David T Chen was suspended his duties since 11 May 2021 and
removed on 5 May 2022.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, Yao Li and Gao Guimin
agreed to waive their directors’ fee of RMB1,079,266 and RMB1,079,266
respectively (2022: RMB1,032,970 and RMB1,032,970).

Zhang Aimin resigned on 20 January 2023 and agreed to waive his
director’s fee of RMB29,013 and RMB516,485 during the years ended
31 December 2023 and 2022 respectively.

Zhang Wenli was appointed on 20 January 2023 and agreed to waive
his director’s fee of RMB510,620 during the year ended 31 December
2023.

No directors received any emoluments from the Group as an inducement
to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office
during the reporting period.

None of the directors received or receive any retirement benefits or
termination benefits during the reporting period.

The Group did not pay consideration to any third parties for making
available directors’ services during the reporting period.

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, there are no loans, quasi-loans
and other dealings arrangement in favour of directors, controlled bodies
corporate by and controlled entities with such Directors.
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13.EEMEUREEBRS
;AT

(b) EEEEHFAL
AEEBREGERHFATH =4
(20225 : =H) BASKEESE -
HE &8N M 5E13() © SR FA

#H £2023F12H31H L £ For the year ended 31 December 2023

13. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS AND THE
FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

(Continued)

(b) The five highest paid individuals
Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the
Group, 3 (2022: 3) were directors of the Group, whose
emoluments are included in note 13(a). The emoluments of the

THE ST remaining individuals were as follows:
20234 20224
2023 2022
AR T AR
RMB RMB
TE & J64L Wages, salaries, bonuses 2,112,554 517,396

BIRKA—FEMFKETE]  Pension costs — defined

contribution plans 29,699 2,577
IR A Termination benefits - 3,537,746
2,142,253 4,057,719

HB& M FTIIEEN :

Their emoluments were within the following bands:

2023%F 20224
2023 2022
A" ABL
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
& Emolument band
500,001 7T & HKD500,001 to HKD1,000,000
1,000,000 7T 1 1
1,500,001 7T & HKD1,500,001 to HKD2,000,000
2,000,000/% 7t 1 -
4,000,001/ 8 T & HKD4,000,001 to HKD4,500,000
4,500,000 7T = 1
2 2
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13.EEM LU AEEES 13. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS AND THE

#FALT FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS
(Continued)

(b) EBEEZEEHFALTE) (b) The five highest paid individuals (Continued)
REA AKBE W EEEME During the year, no emoluments were paid by the Group
EFEMAEESFALTEN to any directors or any of the five highest paid individuals
ERBe  ERRSIMARSE as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group, or as
B 3 A0 A AR 5 [ 1% Y 22 B SR B compensation for loss of office. There were no arrangements
e RNER - EFHEDT under which a director waived or agreed to waive any
SEMLBEARERRERE emolument during the year.

ER B2 -
B E2023F12H31HIEFE & No remuneration of the five highest paid individuals were paid
2022F12A31H It FE - A& by the Group through the payment of service charges to its
BYmRahtse o AT related party for the years ended 31 December 2023 and 31
HFM (TN ABEBMEBE X December 2022.
NRBEE) -
A
14. FRIB X 14. INCOME TAX EXPENSE
REBMMGHRAZ O T The income tax expense of the Group is analysed as follows:
2023%F 20224
2023 2022
AR AR
RMB RMB

BV EA % 18 Current tax

—FEEMEH - PRC enterprise income tax 10,866,235 31,152,096

IEE T I8 (M 7#32) Deferred tax (note 32)

—REEB I H — Charged to profit or loss for the year 13,822,311 17,123,294

FSBiR X Income tax expense 24,688,546 48,275,390
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14. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

consolidated entities as follows:

The tax on the Group’s profit before tax differs from the theoretical
amount that would arise using the statutory tax rate of 25% in
mainland China, being the tax rate applicable to the majority of

B P 15 35 9 2 BT 2 )

HERRBBAAEERENA
BaEm AR RFTED

IR

HpRPAEERN TR EM
T & (H L)

BARMBAR RS RRIN
BEMBREH (D)

AHMBFAZ 2R

B AT 1S
(K1 it(c)

B A 2 B K B 52 6 mJ HTRL
ERMEsE
¥ EERELTEHEEN

HIEER

Bt 2 e R R IR A0 (B 22 (@)

B AP WA K i ()

H

PSR S2

Profit before income tax expense

Tax thereon at domestic rates applicable
to profit or loss in the jurisdictions
concerned

Effect of different tax rates in other
jurisdictions (note (a))

Preferential income tax rates applicable
to subsidiaries and branches (hote (b))

Tax effect of expenses not deductible
for tax purposes

Withholding tax on profits made in China
(note (c))

Utilisation of previously unrecognised
deductible temporary differences

Tax losses for which no deferred income
tax assets were recognised

Super deduction for research and
development (note (d)

Income not subject to tax (hote (g)

Others

Income tax expense

20234 20224
2023 2022
AR AR T
RMB RMB
152,764,807 161,017,910
38,191,202 40,254,478
2,960,238 3,272,144
(11,567,023) (1,556,682)
472,344 152,806
15,474,690 18,390,319
(10,482,567) (331,868)
1,446,584 4,799,287

(11,752,528)

(16,651,814)

(49,786) (63,171)
(4,608) 9,891
24,688,546 48,275,390
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14. FRIBFHBE X

et -

(@)

RERSEMR

ARABRBEREHRERTNENHAEHS
AR REREERAR - EBMMN
FRSHE o AN ARAR @ ERRZ SR
ERBAMMMEFSEMNB -

FEIEEMER

RIBRITED - REREM - AEER
R RS ET RS RBED
R PR EA P A 1 BT SR R R i A A R
FTH o RFE RO EMEREA25% °
AEBEWBARELERREARAF
ERA AP BRI - 72019
F - 2020F 2021 F ZHEBAEHE
15% © R20224F - FILEMREERA
RIEEZ EE - I 1% 20224 « 2023
FR2024AFHEZHEBBTE15% o K
SENBRARREERRRERARN
022F R APHEIEMEE - I
20224 « 20234 K2024F Z HE H
Fr {3 8 %£15% o

hEITEMN R

RIFERTERIER  AEFEKL
B AR BE P 20084F1 A1 B 14 P EE 4 B9
FESNE R E & 5 R AR SR R AR
TEH P15 HE10% © AR A 2 5t H o B
JBRBIR D IRREFIHEREETRIRALE -

Tt 2 B sz My B AR A T

REFZEAREMBERRHEEEBME
5 B 2008 G #B A SR MR BE VA= AR
HEMETHOCEGERE T HY
RERBEFI S B EENN
B H X M150% I EAT I FH X o B
FEAREMBEBRREERBTBEMR
2018%F E20204F & I i E20234 4
WHER - EREEFNCEFTER
18 L HA R P R A R SR L AT E
AR B R M9175% FIE AT FORE A = -
R2023F3A F FEAREMBEBRE
HrEAm—BINE  SHHEMEE
B EEERNETHEBANERT ST
B B H BT E 4 9 AT B X 9200%
FIVERIINBIBI S o

14. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

Notes:

@)
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Cayman lIslands income tax

The Company is incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted company
with limited liability under the Cayman Islands Companies Law and is not
subject to income tax. In addition, upon payments of dividends by the Company
to its shareholders, no Cayman lIslands withholding tax will be imposed.

PRC enterprise income tax

Income tax provision of the Group in respect of operations in mainland China
has been calculated at the applicable tax rate on the estimated assessable
profits for the period, based on the existing legislation, interpretations and
practises in respect thereof. The general corporate income tax rate in the PRC
is 25%. Tangshan Tangsteel Gases Co., Ltd., a subsidiary of the Group, was
approved as High and New Technology Enterprise in the PRC and was entitled
to a preferential income tax rate of 15% in the years of 2019, 2020 and 2021.
In 2022, Tangshan Tangsteel Gases Co., Ltd. renewed this qualification and will
continue to enjoy this preferential tax rate of 15% in the years of 2022, 2023
and 2024. Luanxian Tangsteel Gases Co., Ltd., a subsidiary of the Group, was
approved as High and New Technology Enterprise in the PRC in 2022, and is
entitled to a preferential income tax rate of 15% in the years of 2022, 2023 and
2024.

PRC withholding tax

According to the applicable PRC tax regulations, dividends distributed by a
company established in the PRC to a foreign investor with respect to profits
derived after 1 January 2008 are generally subject to a 10% withholding
The Company has recognised deferred tax liabilities for
undistributed profits of its subsidiaries in the PRC.

income tax.

Super deduction for research and development expense

According to the relevant laws and regulations promulgated by the State Tax
Bureau of the People’s Republic of China that was effective from 2008 onwards,
enterprises engaging in research and development activities are entitled to
claim 150% of their research and development expenses so incurred as tax
deductible expenses when determining their assessable profits for that period.
According to regulations promulgated by the State Tax Bureau of the People’s
Republic of China that was effective from 2018 to 2020, later extended to
2023, enterprises engaging in research and development activities are entitled
to claim 175% of their research and development expenses so incurred as tax
deductible expenses when determining their assessable profits for that period.
In March 2023, the State Tax Bureau of the People’s Republic of China issued a
notice to announce enterprises engaging in research and development activities
are entitled to claim 200% of their research and development expenses so
incurred as tax deductible expenses when determining their assessable profits
for that period.
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14. FRIBFHBE X 14.

Bz (&)

© ER AW A

BEHEARANBERRTLEHRMGE
BEORRER KRR ARBETE
M B P A B E e SRR A
BAMBEREETEETXGRELN
I 25 #910% ©

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

Notes: (Continued)
(e) Income not subject to tax

According to the relevant laws and regulations promulgated by the State Tax
Bureau of the People’s Republic of China, the Group’s subsidiaries in Mainland
China are entitled to deduct 10% of their revenue generated from supply of
self-produced industrial hydrogen gas when determining their assessable profits
during the period.

15. R & 15. DIVIDENDS

20234 20224
2023 2022
AR®T AR
RMB RMB

FER R B Dividends payable at beginning
of the year 100,671,500 100,671,500
FAERNKE Dividends paid during the year (50,000,000) -
50,671,500 100,671,500

R2024F3A25BRITNEE S &%
F BEREBRIRRERAORBR
B (20224 « &) ©

H E2023F12A31HIEFERN - &
BREREAERARINARE
50,000,0007T H i% B (20224 : #&) -

At a meeting of the Directors held on 25 March 2024, the Directors
did not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the Reporting

Period (2022: Nil).

RMB50,000,000 dividend was paid to China Gas Investors Ltd.
during the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: Nil).
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16. EIR &R 16. EARNINGS PER SHARE
BREAREERFTBE TP The calculation of basic and diluted earnings per Share is based on
BETE o the following data.

2023%F 20224F
2023 2022
AR® T AR T
RMB RMB
b=l Earnings
RATHEA ANEEFERSF  Profit for the year attributable to owners
of the Company 128,076,261 112,742,520
20234 20224
2023 2022
2 H H B
Number Number
gk 4= Number of Shares
T3 IR N A S £ Weighted average number of ordinary
shares 1,200,000,000 1,200,000,000
K &F - Note:
A E B R E £20234F % 2022F 12 A318 1t Diluted earnings per share were the same as the basic earnings per Share as the
FETAFEEEHELBR  WEREER Group had no potential dilutive ordinary shares during the years ended 31 December
MEFGREAZFER - 2023 and 2022.
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17. 9% BERRE 17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

IAR
BEY HEXR B ETRE HitiR ARE ERIR @t
Instruments
Leasehold Electronic and other Construction
Build impr t: Machinery i i t Vehicl in progress Total
AR¥R AR¥R AR%R AR¥ER AR¥%RT AR¥R AR¥%R AR¥%RT
RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB
R2022F1A18 At 1 January 2022
A Cost 221,792,644 54,068,343 2,238,823,336 6,909,539 60,849,605 13,071,506 14,165,265 2,609,680,138
REHHTE Accumulated depreciation (56,716,783) (36,424,913) (920,554,942) (5,928,525) (41,841,484) (7,498,371) - (1,068,965,018)
RERE Net book amount 165,075,761 17,643,430 1,318,268,394 981,014 19,008,121 5,573,135 14,165,265 1,540,715,120
B ZE2022F12A31HLFE  Year ended 31 December 2022
FENREFE Opening net book amount 165,075,761 17,643,430  1,318,268,394 981,014 19,008,121 5,573,135 14,165,265 1,540,715,120
RE Additions - - 249,381 1,707,628 191,150 - 142,731,942 144,880,101
BREAMBIEREMEN  Transfer from prepayments
BERRE for construction in progress
and equipment - - - - - - 6,522,617 6,522,617
REEES Internal transfer 14,064,380 - 64,479,356 - - - (78,543,736) -
i Written off (7,537,864) - - - - - - (7,537,864)
HEER Depreciation charge (8,080,400) (2,108,320) (109,013,176) (338,588) (3,957,023) (615,103) - (124,107,610)
FEREEFE Closing net book amount 163,521,877 15,640,110 1,273,983,955 2,350,054 16,242,248 4,958,032 84,876,088 1,560,472,364
R2022F12831A At 31 December 2022
WA Cost 215,378,961 54,068,343 2,303,552,073 8,617,167 61,040,755 7,991,840 84,876,088 2,735,525,227
2HFE Accumulated depreciation (651857,084)  (38528233)  (1,029,568118)  (6.267113)  (45,798,507)  (3,033,808) - (1,175,052,869)
REFE Net book amount 163,621,877 15,540,110 1,273,983,955 2,350,054 15,242,248 4,958,032 84,876,088 1,560,472,364
H2023F1A1A At 1 January 2023
2% Cost 215,378,961 54,068,343  2,303,552,073 8,617,167 61,040,755 7,991,840 84,876,088 2,735,525,227
R E Accumulated depreciation (51,857,084) (38,528,233) (1,029,568,118) (6,267,113)  (45,798,507)  (3,033,808) = (1,175,052,863)
RERE Net book amount 163,521,877 15,540,110  1,273,983,955 2,350,054 15,242,248 4,958,032 84,876,088 1,560,472,364
B £2023F12A31HLFE  Year ended 31 December 2023
FONE@EE Opening net book amount 163,521,877 15,540,110  1,273,983,955 2,350,054 15,242,248 4,958,032 84,876,088 1,560,472,364
RE Additions - - 654,867 7,521 386,549 - 111,876,709 112,925,646
BRATRIZRKMEN  Transfer from prepayments
BRFRE for construction in progress and
equipment = = = = = = 3,802,000 3,802,000
786 8 % Internal transfer = = 39,513,482 - - - (39,513,482) -
] Written off - - (19,306,994) (1,298) (1,099) - - (19,309,391)
FEER Depreciation charge (7,851,031) (2,103,320)  (116,603,849) 497,771)  (2,731,151) (585,285) = (130,372,407)
FREEFE Closing net book amount 155,670,846 13,436,790 1,178,241,461 1,858,506 12,896,547 4,372,747 161,041,315 1,527,518,212
R2023512A318 At 31 December 2023
A Cost 215,378,961 54,068,343  2,343,720,422 8,624,688 61,427,304 7,991,840 161,041,315 2,852,252,873
Bt E Accumulated depreciation (59,708,115) (40,631,553) (1,165,478,961) (6,766,182)  (48,530,757) (3,619,093) = (1,324,734,661)
REFE Net book amount 155,670,846 13,436,790 1,178,241,461 1,858,506 12,896,547 4,372,747 161,041,315 1,527,518,212
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17. ¥ - BERRZE =) 17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(Continued)

REHGEEREZRNBNITERX Depreciation expenses have been charged to the consolidated
LU statement of comprehensive income as follows:

20234 20224
2023 2022
ARM T ARETT
RMB RMB
$HE KA Cost of sales 99,115,544 91,361,141
THRAX Administrative expenses 22,486,649 23,062,378
ML Research and development expenses 8,770,214 9,684,091
130,372,407 124,107,610

R2023F12 A31H » /K & & {5 f£ &
FEETEEYNEEM B #
B REEEYNEELBENAA
R #40,831,31770 (20226 : A R ¥
42,585,1197T) ° AN& B IFEEEE 1L
EMREERAREHS AR LA
T b A o

REBAEETIERBEHORNE
BE BEEECEBRASEARKNHEL
BRFEIRITEAS  RAFEHALE
BHEBEYE - BERREBETHE
Al - BEEXReELEML(RE
ELEBEN])BrRRFEREDTRE
HHNBEEXRSELEMKTE
1TaHE - AT E S BRIEEREER
RABERLEXNARE PR ERE

-
iE °

As at 31 December 2023, the Group is still in the process of applying
for the building ownership certificates of certain of its buildings, and
the aggregated carrying amounts of these buildings amounted to
approximately RMB40,831,317 (2022: RMB42,585,119). The Group
is in the process of obtaining land use rights for the land at Yutian
Branch of Tangshan Tangsteel Gases Co., Ltd..

In preparation for the Group’s future development on its industrial
gas business, the management has performed an impairment
assessment on the Group’s related property, plant and equipment
during the current year, taking into account the Group’s future
operating plans and the outlook of the industry. The assessment was
performed on the relevant assets or cash generating unit (“CGU”)
level when there are indicators of possible impairment of that assets
or CGU. The recoverable amount has been determined based on
the higher of value-in-use and fair value less costs of disposal.
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17. ¥  BERRKRE®

REBEREHE2023F 12310 IEFE
BERENEERREEMARAR
SERXERSCELAEVNANFEER
PRHERBHEZEY - TPREBE -
HEEETBAEGEMAR  MEXE
EREETENREELEN - REE
2023 12A31AILFER X&EEHE
BEZZHARBER D EKANTH
HrahE % - (FARATISEERTT
MESBRAE - ENHBEETE
AA™EG  BEREEETAABEAA
R¥EZTT -

RE AT 14 48 R - N5 B R E £2023
F1I2A3MB LS ERABRMETHER
AR #19,309,3917L (20224 « A R¥E
7,537,8647T) * W & HHER A W= &
W EM (E518) Wz —FEIBET
AR - BHRABRMMRE  ETEER
202312 AR EEHE AR BEER
HERA - BIAREEZ I (20224 : A
R Zr) - & £2023F128318 1t
FEETHESRERAKK19,309,391
T (20224 : A R#7,537,8647T) °

#H; £2023F12 318 L £ E For the year ended 31 December 2023

17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(Continued)

The assets that were impaired by the Group during the year ended
31 December 2023 included buildings used specifically to serve a
particular customer within one of the Group’s CGU. Following the
customer’s relocation, the relevant assets had no further alternative
use and could not be transferred to a different CGU. Subsequently
after the year ended 31 December 2023, management of the Group
assessed their recoverable amount with reference to their fair value
less cost of disposal as level 3 measurement using the market
approach. Given there was no available market for the relevant
assets, management determined the fair value to be RMBNIl.

Based on the assessment result, the Group recognised a written off
for properties of RMB19,309,391 for the year ended 31 December
2023 (2022: RMB7,537,864) and recorded it under the line item
of “Other (losses)/gains, net” on the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income. As a result of technological written off to
its fair value less cost of disposal which was RMB Nil as at 31
December 2023 (2022: RMB Nil) and the amount written off was
RMB19,309,391 for the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022:
RMB7,537,864).
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18. FAREE 18. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS
+ it fF R HEWE #t
Land use Leased
rights properties Total
AR®ETT AR AR®T
RMB RMB RMB
B ZE2022F12A31H 1L F£E Year ended 31 December 2022
FOREFE Opening net book amount 41,833,631 3,833,080 45,666,711
BEBERWE11) Amortisation charge (note 11) (877,215) (1,112,813) (1,990,028)
FRIEETFME Closing net book amount 40,956,416 2,720,267 43,676,683
B £2023F12H31H L EE Year ended 31 December 2023
FUREFE Opening net book amount 40,956,416 2,720,267 43,676,683
RNE Additions - 1,861,270 1,861,270
BB R W) Amortisation charge (note 11) (877,215) (1,073,256) (1,950,471)
FRIEMFME Closing net book amount 40,079,201 3,508,281 43,587,482
20235 20224
2023 2022
AR ARETT
RMB RMB
FREEEHH Amortisation of right-of-use assets 1,950,471 1,990,028
FBEMRAX Interest expenses 203,336 197,783
B HITH SRR IR R The cash outflow relating to
short-term leases 3,740,376 3,587,430
HEEAKEETHNIELARE The cash outflow for leases
as operating activities 25,430 49,046
HEEARELZENIRESR The cash outflow for leases
as financing activities 457,127 639,719
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T E B
Computer software
AR®T
RMB
B E2022F12A31ALFE Year ended 31 December 2022
FURMEFAE Opening net book amount 269,348
BB RN F11) Amortisation charge (note 11) (269,348)
FREEFE Closing net book amount -
"2022512A31H At 31 December 2022
DN Cost 1,837,718
g 3ic Accumulated amortisation (1,837,718)
REFE Net book amount -
B £2023F12A31BLLEE Year ended 31 December 2023
FHREFEE Opening net book amount -
BB R K E1) Amortisation charge (note 11) -
FRIEEFE Closing net book amount -
72023%F12H31H At 31 December 2023
DN Cost 1,837,718
g Accumulated amortisation (1,837,718)
FRIEEFE Closing net book amount -

I 4 8 5 7 S AP A £20234F 12 A 31
BIEFENNEHGERERPHIT
B H o #iHHT A R269,348
TLEF AR £2022F 12 A31H IEFEH
EHGERERTFHITHEASZS -

No amortisation expenses have been charged to administrative

expenses in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income
for the year ended 31 December 2023. Amortisation expenses with
the amount of RMB269,348 have been charged to administrative
expenses in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income
for the year ended 31 December 2022.
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20. Htt & & 20. OTHER ASSETS
20234 20224
2023 2022
AR AR
RMB RMB
ERTIRENMREMNTENRIE  Prepayments for construction in
progress and equipment 43,865,825 8,432,808
21. 78 21. INVENTORIES
20234 20224
2023 2022
ARMTT AR T
RMB RMB
25K Finished goods 6,305,811 9,181,456
H1 Spare parts 3,403,425 2,454,113
B Less: provisions - -
9,709,236 11,635,569
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Bz =+
22. EZERRIE 22. TRADE RECEIVABLES
2023%F 20224
2023 2022
ARYTT AR T
RMB RMB
=070 & e Trade receivables 567,416,816 575,170,544
R A s Less: allowance for impairment (23,498,770) (8,135,000)
543,918,046 567,035,544
MR20234F 2 2022F 12 A31H + A& E As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the fair values of the trade
B REWFIEN A BEEEREE receivables of the Group approximated their carrying amounts.
BE o
et - Notes:
(a) NWTABUREZARAEENE S EWR (a) Ageing analysis of trade receivables (net of allowance) based on the invoice
T8 (FOBR B 48) M BR e 4T - date is as follows:
2023%F 20224
2023 2022
AR¥ T AR T
RMB RMB
B Z6fE A Up to 6 months 519,639,415 529,420,167
618 A =14 6 months to 1 year 3,253,126 14,346,868
15224 1 to 2 years 2,833,423 22,230,873
2F LA E Over 2 years 18,192,082 1,037,636
543,918,046 567,035,544
AEENBESERFE-—REHZEAE The Group’s trade receivables are generally collectible within 180 days (2022:
HEEF180K (20224 : 180K) AT U el © 180 days) from the invoice date. No interest is charged on the trade receivables.
B 5 e Wk B TR BT /] FI) &8, o
(b) R20234F 2022612 A31H + AEEE (b) As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the carrying amount of the Group’s trade

SREYGFIERREEIAAREEE - receivables are denominated in RMB.
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== =h . .
22. EZ W RIE @) 22. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)
Hiat: (%) Notes: (Continued)
() AEEBBHERFENEEBEBREZ (0) Movements on the Group’s credit loss allowance of trade receivables are as
#E)INN follows:
20235 20224
2023 2022
AR# T AREETT
RMB RMB
REH At the beginning of the year 8,135,000 B
EHRANEEBERE Credit loss allowance recognised 15,363,770 8,135,000
RER At the end of the year 23,498,770 8,135,000

(@) NS B FE AR BR B A iR S E R oS Y
A ErERMEEBR  &AHE
REBHEHBENREREER -
TEHEERDAERE PO FAEE R
HENBAEEBEAREE - BAF
BREFUAE URMFERFEHE
JE WK IE B 1 1 B AT R A IE 1 R B AR
A=A R o B2023512 A31H 20224
12A318  BEBEEEGETENT :

(d) The Group applies the IFRS 9 simplified approach to measuring expected credit
losses, which requires expected lifetime losses to be recognised from initial
recognition. The expected loss rates are based on the payment profiles of
related customers and the corresponding historical credit losses. The historical
loss rates are adjusted to reflect current and forward-looking information on
macroeconomic factors affecting the ability of the customers to settle the
receivables. The loss allowance provisions as at 31 December 2023 and 31
December 2022 are determined as follows:

o g gt
B 53 BR3EA 3Z6fE A HBiBefE A @Er
Up to 3 to Over
3 months 6 months 6 months
Current past due past due past due Total
AR¥TT
RMB
2023%F 2023
TEHIE B K Expected loss rate 3.19% 3.60% 8.20% 20.69%
REm4AE Gross carrying amount 528,692,433 5,991,688 2,829,825 29,902,870 567,416,816
BRI RS Loss allowance provision 16,863,296 215,793 232,038 6,187,643 23,498,770
20224 2022
EHIE R R Expected loss rate 0.45% 0.59% 0.75% 15.73%
BREAE Gross carrying amount 521,062,694 12,903,641 5,063,327 36,140,882 575,170,544
E RS Loss allowance provision 2,337,500 75,500 38,000 5,684,000 8,135,000
(e) B E2023F12A31H I FE - 2% A (e) During the year ended 31 December 2023, certain trade receivables with
A R #135,976,826 L B0 & T & 5 fE IR aggregate amount of RMB135,976,826 were settled with trade payables with
HNEAREEEIRENRBBARE amount of RMB125,916,462 (note 29) and lease liabilities of RMB10,060,364
125,916,4627C (i 29 R EBBEAR (note 26(c)).

#10,060,364 7T ([ 5£26(c)) °
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=
23. ERE X 23. LOAN RECEIVABLES
20234 20224
2023 2022
AR® AR T
RMB RMB
47 9 R A R E L Unsecured and non-guaranteed,

B EFEER fixed-rate loan receivables - 118,000,000
BB R E Less: written off - (118,000,000)
BB G Allowance for impairment - (118,000,000)
2t e Add: written off = 118,000,000
EWER - F58 Loan receivables, net - -
REE2020F 12 A31HIEEE - A& During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group had entered
BV =MERBE T2 BERA into three loan agreements with the aggregate principal amount of
K #118,000,0007T » ZEXR ZF 1B RMB118,000,000. Details of these transactions set out as below:
AT
(@) F20209F11H30H « 7N & & £ (@ On 30 November 2020, the Group entered into the Loan

NAEART M B o IRIBE Agreement 1 with Company A. Pursuant to the Loan
K1 AEBRARAR S Agreement 1, the Group provided a loan with the principal
A& % A R #50,000,0007T H amount of RMB50,000,000 to Company A, and the loan would
BER - mMZEREHH BX mature and the aggregate principal amount outstanding and
BEASBHURFTBREFR all accrued and unpaid interest shall be immediately due and
A F B 2020512 A30H #5 payable on 30 December 2020 and was outstanding as at 31
B F 5 B jE A - B 72023412 December 2023 and 31 December 2022

A318 Kk2022F12H318 K &
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23. EWE R

(o)

R2020F12 A1H » REBEN
AIBEI M EFHE2 - RIBEX
%2 AEBMEARBRMEAR
4 % A R¥53,522,000L N &
HoMZERBRE - AKRE
BABEURERE AN
T B 7202012 B30 8 # Bl B
EIH 1 - B 72023412 A 31
HK2022%F12 H31H KRB E -

M2020F 12 A1H » REEERD
BICET U EX =S - REBEEK
&S AEBE R AFCEMEAR
& ¥ A R #14,478,000t H &
FoMZERKEE - BRE
BAS BRI KRFTE R AN
F B 02020412 A30 8 #5 BN BF
ZIHA e - B 72023412 H31
HK%2022F 12 A31H K& -

AEEBREAEHEAERERPHRSE
BEEBEEBEREBEBER AR
118,000,0007T * 18 & $ 2020412 A
STHRBEELRS BT - BIE2022F12
A31RLIEFE &Lt R AU E A 7]
BEMER - AR¥118,000,0007THIE

23. LOAN RECEIVABLES (continueq)

(b)

The Group
separately as a line

On 1 December 2020, the Group entered into the Loan
Agreement 2 with Company B. Pursuant to the Loan
Agreement 2, the Group provided a loan with the principal
amount of RMB53,522,000 to Company B, and the loan would
mature and the aggregate principal amount outstanding and
all accrued and unpaid interest shall be immediately due and
payable on 30 December 2020 and was outstanding as at 31
December 2023 and 31 December 2022.

On 1 December 2020, the Group entered into the Loan
Agreement 3 with Company C. Pursuant to the Loan
Agreement 3, the Group provided a loan with the principal
amount of RMB14,478,000 to Company C, and the loan would
mature and the aggregate principal amount outstanding and
all accrued and unpaid interest shall be immediately due and
payable on 30 December 2020 and was outstanding as at 31
December 2023 and 31 December 2022.

recorded an impairment loss of RMB118,000,000

item on the consolidated statement of

comprehensive income which represents the aggregate amount of

principal outstanding as at 31 December 2020. During the year
ended 31 December 2022, after taking into account the possibility
of recoverability, RMB118,000,000 of the loans were written off.
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24. ZEKRE

H £2023%F12H31H L £ E For the year ended 31 December 2023

24. NOTE INVESTMENT

2023 % 20224F

2023 2022

ARM T AR

RMB RMB

BIHEENEZERRE Secured fixed-rate note investment - 66,400,000
B B EE Less: written off - (66,400,000)
BE B Allowance for impairment - (66,400,000)
0B Add: written off - 66,400,000

RBERE - F8

Note investment, net = -

MR2021F18188 A E E #H A R D
IV E W UWREARDET
MIEHEREE TSR EERE
/80,000,000 Jt(H8 & BN A R #&
66,400,0007T) ([E#E]) - RIEEKE
ek REIDAEEREERASER
HZEZERBE2021F12A178 (B HE %
HFBREFE - ZEMNEEFE
H®E A% - (FAREMIER - 28
DA EE HH EUGRIE 72022
F12A31H Kk2023F12H31H * A&
BEUA N FTE ERT AN B WA E
i o

REBREHEEREERPHS
BEBEEREREEEARE
66,400,0007T * #8E 12021412 531
HYAREERS SR - LEEA KD
MR ATRE IR - Bl E2022F12 H31H
IFFE - AR#66,400,0007T H) 21
B e

On 18 January 2021, the Group entered into the Investment
Agreement with Company D to subscribe for a secure loan note
issued by Company D with the gross proceeds of HK$80,000,000
(equivalent to RMB66,400,000) (the “Note”). Pursuant to the
Investment Agreement, Company D shall repay the principal amount
outstanding together with all interest accrued thereon up to and
including the date of repayment on 17 December 2021. Fixed return
of the Note is 4.5% per annum. As securities for the Note, Company
D grants a charge on its receivables in favour of the Group. The
aggregate principal amount and all accrued and unpaid interest were
outstanding as at 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2023.

The Group recorded an impairment loss of RMB66,400,000
separately as a line item on the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income which represents the amount of principal
outstanding as at 31 December 2021. During the year ended
31 December 2022, after taking into account the possibility of
recoverability, RMB66,400,000 of the Note was written off.
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o5 FEEIE - 4 R EM  25. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER

7 g 25 78 RECEIVABLES

20234 20224
2023 2022
AR®T AR
RMB RMB
AUy el R E R ([EER ) Value-added tax (“VAT”) recoverable 4,327,575 10,190,850

JE W2 78 Bk 75 30 TR (B £38(c)(i) Receivables due from related parties
(note 38(c)(ii) 54,241 67,629
NAEEREMIEBEMNKIE Utilities and other prepayments 9,709,593 9,267,645
2 Deposits 2,310,885 2,338,587
EAh Others 727,255 703,299
17,129,549 22,568,010
R FEBNHA R & Less: non-current portion 173,994 -
16,955,555 22,568,010

PR2023F 2202212 H31H + EffE
WHENEAEETEUARERS
TLEHE - WEAERZREAHRN AR
EEES -

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the carrying amounts of other
receivables were primarily denominated in RMB and HKD and
approximated their fair values at each of the reporting dates.

BERWEE IR BE REMH
122 0 3H AN BT B A0 EL At B ORIR B

Other receivables that are measured at amortised costs included
receivables due from related parties, deposits and others were

HRAEBREERR - RN E 22023
FEK2022F12 A B IEFEEHDIER
BEBRETBB12EA/TEEE - B
HEEBBERE REAZEEUK
HEEBEHNRSE  BTRERWFIEREED
FHEE - MR20234F 2022412 531
A BEEREAER TR R
TE B AR PR AS B R A e

considered to be of low credit risk, and thus the impairment provision
recognised during the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022
was limited to 12 months expected losses. The expected credit
losses was minimal as these receivables had no history of default,
certain amount of receivables were subsequently settled, and there
was no significant unfavourable current conditions and forecast
future economic conditions identified as at 31 December 2023 and
2022.

212 CHINA GAS INDUSTRY INVESTMENT HOLDINGS CO. LTD.



SO B HRRMEE
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
#H £2023F12H31H L £ For the year ended 31 December 2023

26. HERBEEEY 26. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
(@ BeRkREeSEEYEE: (@) Cash and cash equivalents comprise:

20234 20224

2023 2022

ARM T ARETT

RMB RMB

FITHE Cash at banks 202,617,643 360,738,465
BUAT&IBE: Denominated in:

20234 20224F

2023 2022

ARM T ARETT

RMB RMB

AR RMB 195,342,532 296,516,532

x7T USD 4,758,799 4,673,069

BT HKD 2,516,312 59,548,864

202,617,643 360,738,465
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26. BERBELSEEY

26. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (continueq)

(b) MEETBHMELEEENY (b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from
R : financing activities:
&% HEEE @
Lease
Borrowings liabilities Total
AR% T AR%TT AR¥T
RMB RMB RMB
202251 A1R At 1 January 2022 601,716,301 13,722,369 615,438,670
REBESRENEE: Change from financing cash flows:
REMER Additions of new borrowings 480,833,818 - 480,833,818
BEER Repayment of borrowings (510,020,000) - (510,020,000)
MENK Lease payments - (688,765) (688,765)
EHAE Exchange adjustments - 31,986 31,986
Hih@s: Other changes:
BB AR Finance costs - 197,783 197,783
R2022F12831A & At 31 December 2022 and
2023F181H 1 January 2023 572,530,119 13,263,373 585,793,492
RERSRENED: Change from financing cash flows:
REIEX Additions of new borrowings 360,000,000 - 360,000,000
BEEX Repayment of borrowings (399,530,119) - (399,530,119)
MERK Lease payments - (482,557) (482,557)
ERAE Exchange adjustments - 2,967 2,967
Heth#g: Other changes:
B A Finance costs - 203,336 203,336
TR New lease entered - 1,861,270 1,861,270
HikRe# Other non-cash movement - (10,060,364) (10,060,364)
#2023F12831A At 31 December 2023 533,000,000 4,788,025 537,788,025
(c) FEFBEXRH: () Major non-cash transactions:

BREABESEEZREN  HE
2023F12A31B L F[E © R
K=z AEEHEAEA
R ¥10,060,364 T/ TE S E
W SR TE P4 8 o

Saved as disclosed elsewhere in this report, during the year
ended 31 December 2023, the Group’s lease liabilities with
amount of RMB 10,060,364 were net off with certain trade
receivables in accordance with the offset agreements.

214 CHINA GAS INDUSTRY INVESTMENT HOLDINGS CO. LTD.



SO B R RM A

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
#H £2023F12H31H L £ For the year ended 31 December 2023

27. M AAREBESTAHEME 27. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
AcWB(EAALABES THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE

ARG E RS DNE INCOME (“FVOCI”)
MEE

RAREEIARMESKNEHER The financial assets at FVOCI comprise the following investments in
AEETHHERERRE - notes recelvables:
2023%F 20224
2023 2022
AR AR
RMB RMB
& Wi 2 4% Notes receivables 79,658,832 28,812,893
MR EN B SE - HES These assets are classified as current assets due to their short
MEAREEE o maturity.
RUEZZSREER  RALEE On disposal of these financial assets, any related balance within the
SO H fih A g 2% B2 4 6 4T R 4B FVOCI reserve is reclassified to profit or loss.

BRBEF BB -
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28. I RIEBI T HEF T A 28. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY

TRETEREENBENEREE:

CATEGORY

The following table shows the carrying amounts of financial assets

and liabilities:

2023%F 20224
2023 2022
AR AR
RMB RMB
tHMEE Financial assets
HEBERLGT B 2HBEE Financial assets at amortised
cost
- BZEKHIA - Trade receivables 543,918,046 567,035,544
- BEEREREMmER - Deposits, prepayments and
FIBE (TR E] WK EEE other receivables
BN AREEREME (excluding recoverable VAT
3R38) and prepaid utilities and
other prepayments) 3,092,381 3,109,515
-BHEeRBESEEY - Cash and cash equivalents 202,617,643 360,738,465
BARBEGARMEZES WZEE Financial assets at FVOCI
THEE
- B EE - Notes receivables 79,658,832 28,812,893
A= =R Financial liabilities
HEBEK LT ENEHERE Financial liabilities at amortised
cost
- BRE REEHE) - Borrowings (principal and
accrued interest) 534,290,173 573,949,079
- B REAMEMARE - Trade and other payables
(TEREFSRERIEAR (excluding salaries and bonus
FERT B IE R B FI B payables and taxes payable
and interests payable) 362,196,789 575,418,828
-HERAE - B - Lease liabilities — current 2,128,151 10,834,491
-HEaE - S - Lease liabilities = non-current 2,659,874 2,428,882

216 CHINA GAS INDUSTRY INVESTMENT HOLD

INGS CO. LTD



SO B HRRMEE
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
#H £2023F12H31H L £ For the year ended 31 December 2023

0.EFZNKHEMENFIE 29. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

20234 20224
2023 2022
ARY T AREETT
RMB RMB
=) ANE /O Trade payables 227,881,226 381,680,822
EENMEREENRE Payables for construction and
equipment 43,323,575 49,457,365
FERT AR B Dividend payable 50,671,500 100,671,500
EIERLE B ENRIE Payables for operating service fee 25,288,109 21,168,000
FET A I8 Taxes payable 3,455,654 829,098
ER & RAEAL Salaries and bonus payable 4,103,594 6,649,128
HERBEENFIE Payables for professional service fee 5,904,579 13,744,238
Ze Deposits 1,798,802 1,887,472
JE A~ F1) B Interests payable 1,290,173 1,418,960
HAh Others 7,328,998 6,809,431
371,046,210 584,316,014
NBEEAARELENE S ENKIAN Ageing analysis of the trade payables based on invoice date are as
BRI T follows:
2023%F 20224
2023 2022
ARY T AREETT
RMB RMB
NS Less than 1 year 198,543,206 320,585,126
1224 1 to 2 years 19,974,792 55,841,805
2E3F 2 to 3 years 6,271,121 3,662,931
8 B3 Over 3 years 3,092,107 1,590,960
227,881,226 381,680,822
R2023%F & 2022F 12 A31H » A& E As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the carrying amount of the
HMEZEMNZIENREENLARE Group’s trade payables were denominated in RMB. Certain trade
B BRERKERE  ETEIEMNK payables with amount of RMB125,916,462 were net off with certain
A A R#125,916,462 T H TE S E trade receivables in accordance with the offset agreements.

WK E P o
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30. f& ™ 30. BORROWINGS

2023%F 20224F
2023 2022
AR®T AREETT
RMB RMB
JEBNER : Non-current:
1F & BB RBERM ) Long-term borrowings due after one
year (note i) 246,000,000 330,770,119
BIHA Current:
1F N B BB A & HA 18 5k (07 22 1) Long-term borrowings due within one
year (note i) 87,000,000 41,760,000
% B tE R (B At i) Short-term borrowings (note /) 200,000,000 200,000,000
533,000,000 572,530,119
B aEa) - Note (i):

R2019F - REBEFT L —HRERBRITEAS
#2581 B i A R #560,000,000t I A F I E
RHE - X EFMERDNERBEAEED
EEEEFER THARERIEREELEE
B & o 720204 9A 202142 A + 20224 6A
K20225 97 « FFE A4.9875%H) HF HHE R
AR #21,496,4017T « A R¥26,179,9007T * A
K #12,833,8187T & A K #28,000,0007T T3 5
Rl EZRE AR - R2022F12A318 * AR
62,530,1197C AR B 8 + HHARY19,760,0007T
BIEEERBER —FREIH - K20225128
STHBEEFEENREFE R A K16,597,966
JT o B E2028F12A31BILFE - A KEE
EHREEE B E2023F12 A1 B E T MK

In 2019, the Group entered into a five-year loan facility with an aggregate principal
amount not exceeding RMB560,000,000 from Bank of Communication. Borrowings
drawn down from the loan facility are collateralized by the fixed assets of the Group,
and shall be used in the construction of the industrial gas production plant. In
September 2020, February 2021, June 2022 and September 2022, five-year loans of
RMB21,496,401, RMB26,179,900, RMB12,833,818 and RMB28,000,000 with an annual
interest rate of 4.9875% were drawn down from the facility respectively. As at 31
December 2022, RMB62,530,119 was outstanding in which RMB19,760,000 was due
within one year according to repayment schedule. The net book value of the pledged
assets was RMB16,597,966 as at 31 December 2022. All the outstanding loan was
repaid during the year ended 31 December 2023 and there was no pledged assets
as at 31 December 2023.
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30. B &)

HiEa) : (&)

20226 - REB DRI =ZERBRMBTT
A MBEE BB A K#100,000,0007T B E 3K A
& o FFIER490%MHE A K¥100,000,000
7T+ AR #100,000,0007T & A R # 50,000,000
TLTh D RIR2022411 A ~ 2022412 A 20234
1AB#%et ERE - R2028F12A318 k2022
F12A318 © A R #¥223,000,0007T & A R #
200,000,0007T & (& % - H A R #87,000,000
7T J AR #22,000,000 T AR 4R E B R R A —
FNENHE - ERBEERRELER -

20214 - REE T — AR B ILE L BN
PR RTTAS 425 T8 B A K 1200,000,0007T
WEREE - AR#110,000,000tE %A E
IR - FHIEA5.00% ° K2023F 6 + ZE K
EEERERBEEEME - ARK110,000,000
TEEZMERI FFERLIO% - B
2023F 12 A31H K&2022%12A310 - A R ¥
110,000,0007¢ } A K #110,000,0007T & (&
B-ERBEEAREER -

&2 i) -

20224  AEEFIV—EBRERBRITES
4 58 18 3B A R #100,000,0007T 4 M 4F Hi &
BENEE - R2023412 A31H & 2022412 A
318 -+ & E F F &5 5l 724.35% K 4.568% &) 72
HASR 7T 5 3 A R #100,000,0007T A % fE 38 B 30
MAIRI - ERBEEIRREER -

720224 - AEE DRI LMEARERBETH
81748 %% B A R50,000,0007C 8 — F H1E
BER W@ o 12023512 5310 k2022412 A
318 - FFE H4.35%H) A8 88 A RITER
A #5100,000,0007T /3 & & 18 3R B 5 1 7% 17
oo e BEERREER-

H £2023%F12H31H L £ E For the year ended 31 December 2023

30. BORROWINGS (Continued)

Note (i): (Continued)

In 2022, the Group entered into three loan facilities with aggregate principal amount
not exceeding RMB100,000,000 from Bank of Cangzhou respectively. Loans of
RMB100,000,000, RMB100,000,000 and RMB50,000,000 with an annual interest rate
of 4.90% were drawn down from the facilities in November 2022, December 2022
and January 2023 respectively. As at 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022,
RMB223,000,000 and RMB200,000,000 was outstanding in which RMB87,000,000
and RMB22,000,000 was due within one year according to repayment schedule. The

borrowings are unsecured and unguaranteed.

In 2021, the Group entered into a loan facility with an aggregate principal amount
not exceeding RMB200,000,000 from Hebei Tangshan Rural Commercial Bank.
RMB110,000,000 was drawn from the facility with an annual interest rate of 5.00%. In
June 2023, the loan was repaid and the loan facility was rescheduled. RMB110,000,000
was drawn from the facility with an annual interest rate of 4.90%. As at 31
December 2023 and 31 December 2022, RMB110,000,000 and RMB110,000,000 was
outstanding respectively. The borrowing is unsecured and unguaranteed.

Note (ii):

In 2022, the Group entered two-year revolving loan facilities with an aggregate
principal amount not exceeding RMB100,000,000 from Bank of Communications.
As at 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022, short-term bank borrowings of
RMB100,000,000 with a fixed rate of 4.35% and 4.568% per annum respectively were
drawn down from such revolving loan facility. The borrowings are unsecured and

unguaranteed.

In 2022, the Group entered into two one-year revolving loan agreements with principal
amount of RMB50,000,000 from Industrial and Commercial Bank of China respectively.
As at 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022, short term bank borrowings
outstanding of RMB100,000,000 with annual interest rate of 4.35% was drawn down
from each revolving loan agreement. The borrowings are unsecured and unguaranteed.

£ %R Annual Report 2023 219



SOt R M
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
£ £2023F12A31H I £ E For the year ended 31 December 2023

30. (B R @)
st (i) < (45)
R2023F 22022412 A31H » K& H
EFRATI EEE:

30. BORROWINGS (Continued)

Note (ii): (Continued)
As of 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group’s borrowings were
denominated in following currencies:

20234 20224

2023 2022

AR® T ARETT

RMB RMB

AR RMB 533,000,000 572,530,119

REEER20234F K 2022512 A31HK)
ERENBBERT

As of 31 December 2023 and 2022, the maturities of the Group’s
borrowings are set out as follows:

20234 20224

2023 2022

AR AR®IT

RMB RMB

15K Within 1 year 287,000,000 241,760,000
1224 Between 1 and 2 years 136,000,000 211,560,000
2E54F Between 2 and 5 years 110,000,000 119,210,119
533,000,000 572,530,119

20234 [ 2022F 12 A31THHE R F)

As of 31 December 2023 and 2022, the effective interest rates are

D28 (IR N as follows:
2023 20224
2023 2022
FRERIRITER Short-term bank borrowings 4.35% 4.45%
RHERITER Long-term bank borrowings 4.90% 5.06%
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M. HEAE 31. LEASE LIABILITIES

20234 20224
2023 2022
AR AREETT
RMB RMB

=R E TR E Minimum lease payment due
- 1R — Within 1 year 2,313,611 10,983,063
- 1226 — Between 1 to 2 years 1,528,081 832,104
- 2&54F — Between 2 to 5 years 1,288,594 1,830,708
5,130,286 13,645,875
B RIREEE A Less: future finance charges (342,261) (382,502)
HEBEBRE Present value of lease liabilities 4,788,025 13,263,373
-1FR — Within 1 year 2,128,151 10,834,491
- 1&22%F — Between 1 to 2 years 1,415,744 717,994
- 2E5%F - Between 2 to 5 years 1,244,130 1,710,888
4,788,025 13,263,373
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32. ELEFRE M 32. DEFERRED INCOME TAXES
BELEMGHFEIMAT: Details of the deferred income tax are analysed as follows:
2023%F 20224
2023 2022
AR AR
RMB RMB
RIETIA & E Deferred tax assets 4,956,487 3,304,108
ELEHIEAG Deferred tax liabilities (42,633,676) (27,158,986)
(37,677,189) (23,854,878)
EHAELEHAEENABALE Details of the deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised and
FRAFERBEFENFBOT movements during the current and prior year is as follows:

nE BE RENE  EZERRE

RBEHE BB HEBE @t
Allowance on
Impairment on Withholding impairment
property, plant tax on profit to of trade
and equipment  be distributed receivables Total
ARBT ARBT AR®R ARBT
RMB RMB RMB RMB
202251818 As at 1 January 2022 (2,037,083) 19,785,267 - 17,748,184
B/ (ER)AMEAWER  Debited/credited) to the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income 308,125 18,390,319 (1,575,150) 17,123,294
FRNH Payment during the year - (11,016,600) - (11,016,600
2022128318 & At 31 December 2022 and
2023F1A1H 1 January 2023 (1,728,958) 27,158,986 (1,575,150) 23,854,878
B,/ (E2) A4S A UER  Debited/credited) to the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income 308,125 15,474,690 (1,960,504) 13,822,311
#2023512A31H At 31 December 2023 (1,420,833) 42,633,676 (3,535,654) 37,677,189
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2. EEFT BBl 32. DEFERRED INCOME TAXES (continuea)

bt - Note:

RIFFPRCEMRGHEREBRATE  ~5E According to the PRC CIT Law and its related regulations, the Group is subject to a
AP B E SR GEEFRBRIINE EZER withholding tax at 10%, unless reduced by tax treaties or arrangements, for dividends
AEHIRE B 2 B 200841 A1 H #E EE A 7y & FI 4 distributed by a PRC enterprise to its immediate holding company outside the PRC
MI0%ETENT - RIEBBRIRIHERTHR or earnings generated beginning on 1 January 2008 and undistributed earnings
A M R2008F1A18 2 A E & B K 5 Tk & 7 generated prior to 1 January 2008 are exempted from such withholding tax. Since,
Bl BRTEINRL o Fh A 5 [ 42 I A £ B B BT the Group controls the dividend policy of the Group’s PRC subsidiaries, deferred tax
BRAIMBREEE  AUHANEEPEHKEAR liability arising from the undistributed profits of the Group’s PRC subsidiaries is only
B AR 3R ) BT EE A 9 IR B 18 & (5 2 DA TR A7 provided to the extent that such profits are expected to be distributed in the foreseeable
ARAIR SRR E BRI ERRTRER - future.

BEMSHEEDHREESHESERITNAY Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax losses carrying forwards and
B RERERR - M DART 38 38 7R 2R FE AR A i I deductible temporary differences to the extent that realisation of the related tax benefits
BRI WEE AR o M2023F12A31H » & through the future taxable profits is probable. As at 31 December 2023, the Group
S E I E L E 18 A R 90,072,986 7T (2022F - did not recognise deferred income tax assets in respect of losses of RMB90,072,986
AR #142,611,528 ) lEREIEFTEHEE (2022: RMB142,611,528). These tax losses will expire from 2024 to 2033.

ZER BB BB 2024F = 2033F 5 £ -

33. BRA 33. SHARE CAPITAL

R4 & E ok |
Number of
shares Amount
EE Authorised
SREE0.0001E THWEER : Ordinary shares of USD0.0001 each:
R2023F12A31H & At 31 December 2023 and 200,000% 7T
202212 A31H 31 December 2022 (BEBEARY
1,388,6917T)
USD200,000
(Equivalent to
2,000,000,000 RMB1,388,691)
g 4= AR% R
Number of
shares RMB
ERTRAZEBR: Ordinary shares, issued and fully paid:
H2023F12A31H & At 31 December 2023 and
2022912 A31H 31 December 2022 1,200,000,000 836,016
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34. #1E 34. RESERVES

K& The Group

H £20234F N2022F12A31H It F Details of the movements of the Group’s reserves for the years

B AEEREREBEEHFEEINREH ended 31 December 2023 and 2022 are presented in the

EEEERK - consolidated statement of changes in equity.

BmANREEOEERENDOT The nature and purposes of reserves within equity as follows:

@ BHEEREZXEARMNEAE (@ Share premium is arising from the issuance of new shares
BB EITH D - R20194 at price in excess of the par value of the shares. In June
6A AEBHECGIFILREE 2019, the Group entered into an interest-free loan agreement
;i E - A& £ 559,650,000 with CGI with the principal amount of USD9,650,000. In
% JT > R2019F11A » CGl # November 2019, CGI capitalised such shareholder loan into
BEBREERER AR RT 4,245,494 shares of the Company, of which RMB2,989 and
4,245 494 I8 1h - ERARE RMB67,930,117 were recorded as share capital and other
2,989 & A R #67,930,1177TC reserves, respectively.

DRI RRA R B HE -

b) EERHBRFEEEREMAES (b)  Statutory surplus reserves represented the amount transferred
EERFPBRAIOHERAN from net profit for the year of the subsidiaries established in
FRLAF (EREB AR the PRC (based on the subsidiaries PRC statutory financial
ETEMIETRR) ERORIE B statements) in accordance with the relevant PRC laws until
EREETRARBELZT the statutory surplus reserves reach 50% of the registered
WEARFEMEAKS0% A LE © capital of the subsidiaries. The statutory surplus reserves
ZEEERBBREBETATR - cannot be reduced except either in setting off the accumulated
ERANEE R ERIEER losses or increasing capital, provided the remaining balance
BRoh - BARRENRTEHRT of this reserve is not less than 25% registered capital of the
BLRZEMB AR GZEMER subsidiaries.

#25% o

gEoh - RIBRBIINE B EIER In addition, in accordance with the Law of the PRC on
PRI ENBARAME Enterprises with Foreign Investments and the stipulated
EHBIRSCIRTE - EIHAESF provisions of the articles of association of wholly owned foreign
ERHENRTBEEENLERE subsidiaries in the PRC, appropriation from net profits (after
HZEAREITERATEENH offsetting accumulated losses brought forward from prior
HES DETREESOM years) should be made by these companies to their respective
MBD LA EILREFIE10% ° Reserve Fund. The percentage of net profit to be appropriated
ERBESEREIGZIMER to the Reserve Fund is not less than 10% of the net profit.
50% s Bl B 7B 3K o When the balance of the Reserve Fund reaches 50% of the

registered capital, such transfer needs not be made.

224 CHINA GAS INDUSTRY INVESTMENT HOLDINGS CO. LTD.



SO B R RM A

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
#H; £2023F12 318 L £ E For the year ended 31 December 2023

34. % B

AEB )

(©

R EEBEREUARE
5N B 1) B B B 51 B8R 1 % 4 BY
BmRELEN A IERREE
8 o BEETSIR I A0 FT R
B HERTRE -

AEEBNEBKLERNAIEILRE
MEEER AR (EHRED
R2007FE KL BEERNET A
AT B RE DA R AR (3R
8 B 12 1) 9 Bl % B50% K&50%
HEZE - PR20155F  RIE— &7
NEIEABE TR EE
REMRENS0%EEET
ARNF  ARBTMEGD EE
WEBAR L BEREXMKES
RAR([EEBBEEZMIFZEN
KRB BEETTRMAEI50% ° 3%
NAEH%  EMRERAN
NEINEEMBE AR MAR
Al EEEEFTMECGID R
HEH50% K 50% 2 o

R2007F K B g% - K
NCIDSSEE il v E=A=NCIh=i-g =
R 19 il ) 8 R RS EE AT
& A R 72,068,6007T © &t A
S EE M S - R R (e
ERRET Y HE BTEH
REFRTRBROE THEN
BEYHEN(BEYE RN
21 HIR A30E - HERE
MRENEXNEEHR - FE
YERHBETNRCTEESYE
BEE ZEBMELEREDE
% T O RS 1R A A 8 B 1D
HHEE - RIEE=HHERM
HOEERE  FINEFRE
ZEFRAEEEMEBEHNE
B A AN R#72068,6007T ° &
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34. R ES E RVES (Continued)

The Group (Continued)

(©

Currency translation differences comprise all relevant
translation differences arising from the translation of the
financial statements of operations with functional currency
other than RMB. The reserve is dealt with in accordance with
the accounting policy set out in note 4(c).

Tangshan Tangsteel Gases Co., Ltd. (“TTG”), the major
operating company of the Group, was established in 2007 as a
joint venture company owned as to 50% by the Company and
50% by HBIS Company Limited (“HBIS Company”). In 2015,
pursuant to a series of corporate restructuring agreements,
HBIS Company transferred its 50% equity interests in TTG to
the Company in exchange for 50% of the Company’s issued
shares which were held by Shanghai Huitang Zhihe Investment
Co., Ltd. (“SH Huitang Zhihe”), a wholly owned subsidiary
of HBIS Company. Following this corporate restructuring, TTG
became a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company and the
Company became owned as to 50% by SH Huitang Zhihe and
50% by CGl.

Upon establishment of TTG in 2007, each of the Company
and the HBIS Company agreed to make additional capital
contributions into TTG in the same proportion with the
amount of RMB72,068,600, respectively. With respect to
HBIS Company’s contribution, HBIS Company entered into
an agreement with TTG to grant TTG the rights to use
certain of HBIS Company’s plants and buildings (“Building
Use Agreement”) for a period of 30 years, same as official
joint venture period of 30 years of TTG. The Building Use
Agreement also specified that the plants and buildings
should be transferred to TTG as HBIS Company’s capital
contribution when the property certificates are obtained.
Based on a valuation report issued by a third party appraiser,
both parties agreed that the value of such use rights as at
the agreement date was RMB72,068,600. TTG recorded this
amount as right of use assets in its statement of financial
position, and amortized them on a straight-line basis over the
30-year period, and correspondingly credited “other reserves”
under equity since the use rights were considered as HBIS
Company’s capital contribution to TTG.
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34. R ES E RVES (Continued)

The Group (Continued)

(d)
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With respect to the Company, the Company made cash
contribution and entered into an interest free long-term loan
arrangement with TTG in 2007, with a total principal amount
of RMB72,068,600. The term of the loan was 30 years and
shall be automatically converted into TTG’s paid-in capital upon
the transfer of HBIS Company’s plants and buildings to TTG
as described above. In the Group’s corporate restructuring
in 2015, the Company transferred its right on the loan to
CGI at Nil consideration. Based on the contractual terms
and the commitment made by CGI, management concluded
that the loan did not meet the definition of financial liability
and recorded the amount in “other reserves” in equity in
the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2015.

In December 2018, the Group entered into agreement with
CGl to early terminate the above loan agreement and both
parties agreed that the loan would be fully settled with a cash
repayment of USD 9.65 million (equivalent to RMB66,667,025)
by TTG to CGI. The repayment was recorded as a reduction
in the balance of other reserves.

Concurrent with the early termination of the loan agreement
between CGI and TTG, TTG and HBIS Company entered
into an agreement to early terminate the above Building Use
Agreement and entered into a new Assets Use Agreement
whereby TTG will pay rental fees to HBIS Company for the
use of the plants and buildings going forward. Accordingly,
TTG wrote off the unamortised balance of the right of use
assets with the amount of RMB44,041,922 at the time of the
termination, with the same amount being reduced from the
balance of other reserves.

As at 31 December 2023, amounts of RMB43,543,329 (2022:
RMB37,566,229) included the reserves of subsidiaries in the
PRC were undistributable which is for production safety fund
in accordance with the “Administrative Measures for the Actual
and Use of Expenses for Work Safety” issued by the Ministry
of Finance and the Ministry of Emergency Management of the
PRC.
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35. R AT BEARRLE 35. HOLDING COMPANY’S STATEMENT OF
FINANCIAL POSITION

2023%F 20224
2023 2022
Jiog=3 AR AR T
Notes RMB RMB
ERBEE Non-current assets
FREEE Right-of-use assets 1,499,357 80,294
KER B EAT Investment in a subsidiary 920,668,379 920,668,379
ERT—HEKB AR Loan to a subsidiary 217,492,800 214,384,800
HEZS Rental deposit 173,994 -
1,139,834,530 1,135,133,473
REBEE Current assets
biogeia Deposit - 48,966
JE s B Bt 5 3k 1B Amount due from a related party 45,311 44,690
JEW—MIM B ARZIE  Amount due from a subsidiary - 301,445
e E R Loan receivables 23 - -
ZEKRE Note investment 24 - -
HERREEFEY Cash and cash equivalents 13,718,956 86,241,483
13,764,267 86,636,584
REEE Current liabilities
B 5 & E b JE T 3B Trade and other payables 54,706,079 112,545,738
JERN—REI B ARIZIE  Amount due to a subsidiary 385,656 -
HeEaE Lease liabilities 744,156 90,398
55,835,891 112,636,136
REBEEFE Net current liabilities (42,071,624) (25,999,552)
HMEERARBEE Total assets less current liabilities 1,097,762,906 1,109,133,921
ERBEE Non-current liability
HeEaE Lease liabilities 948,986 -
EEZFE NET ASSETS 1,096,813,920 1,109,133,921
EAXARGEE Capital and reserves
% Z< Share capital 33 836,016 836,016
1 Reserves 1,225,215,520 1,222,061,271
RETEBE Accumulated losses (129,237,616) (113,763,366)
EEem TOTAL EQUITY 1,096,813,920 1,109,133,921
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35. R AT BEARRLE 35. HOLDING COMPANY’S STATEMENT OF
(#) FINANCIAL POSITION (continueq)

AR ERNHEEESOT The movements of the Company’s reserves during the reporting
period are as follows:

R EE EREH RitE R M@
Currency
Share translation  Accumulated
premium differences losses Total
AR AR%R AR®R AR®TRT
RMB RMB RMB RMB
72022%F181H At 1 January 2022 1,208,504,005 890,891 (178,218,482) 1,031,176,414
F R Profit for the year - - 64,455,116 64,455,116
WMEARQRMELZ  Exchange differences arising on
PE H ZRE translation of the Company - 12,666,375 - 12,666,375
72022512H31HK At 31 December 2022 and
2023F1H1H 1 January 2023 1,208,504,005 13,557,266 (113,763,366) 1,108,297,905
FANEBE Loss for the year - - (15,474,250) (15,474,250)
WMENRNFFFESZ  Exchange differences arising on
Mo =% translation of the Company - 3,154,249 - 3,154,249
#2023%F12H31H As 31 December 2023 1,208,504,005 16,711,515 (129,237,616)  1,095,977,904
R2023F12A31H » Kt AKRQAAE 2 As at 31 December 2023, the Company’s reserves available for
B HEREFTEEE  AQTAH distribution, factoring in the share premium and accumulated losses
Dk 2 R A R ¥#1,079,266,389 of the Company, amounted to RMB1,079,266,389.
ﬁ: °
BIEFRSQFEEEBE])  ARAlZ Under the Cayman Companies Act (As Revised), the share premium
R EERRBEITHIK @ &4 of the Company can be distributed as dividend on the condition
RANFEENEERHEEZIRN that the Company is able to pay its debts when they fall due in
REBHEREEKBEPIHNEGE the ordinary course of business immediately following the date
o pAN - IR E DR IR (= (B A A on which the dividend is proposed to be paid. Additionally, the
AR REBIBALNGABERRAA distribution of share premium as a dividend must be approved by
MBTEAERIE - an ordinary resolution passed by the shareholders of the Company

in accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association.
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36. A Fff BE 2 B HY R 22 36. INTEREST IN SUBSIDIARIES

R2023F 202212 A31H - HIBA Details of the subsidiaries as at 31 December 2023 and 2022 are
AIFFIBWT shown as follows:

SMRLBY BREXR/
WEAREE RUBERFELEAR FEIE-EN RNF AR R L TEER

Place of incorporation/

establishment and principal Paid up capital/  Proportion of equity interest Principal
Name of subsidiary country of operation registered capital  attributable to the Company activities

EZ12A31A
As of December 31,
2023% 20227
2023 2022
HERA:
Directly held:
EUEARBARARA (W ia) PE - BREERA ARET777.965, 40470 100% 100% IXREOHEERME
Tangshan Tangsteel Gases Co., Ltd." (Note g) PRC, limited liability company* RMBT777,965,404 100% 100%  Production and supply
of industrial gases
BERAE:
Indirectly held:
REEARRARRR W Ha) E - FREERA AR 12,000,000 100% 100%  RIERAREEERERE
Luanxian Tangsteel Gases Co., Ltd." (Note g/ PRC, limited liability company RMB12,000,000 100% 100%  Production and
supply of LNG
BUBERINNAUBERAR M ita) hE - BREERA AR 3,000,007 100% 100%  AERICKARMNENR
Tangshan Tangsteel Dongxin Village Gases PRC, limited liability company RMB3,000,000 100% 100%  An automobile LNG
Refuelling Station Co., Ltd.* (Note a) filing station
PRE(EL)REGRRA N Zaky PE - AREERA AR #72,000,0007C TEHA 100% IXRENEERKE
Zhongai Investment (Tangshan) Gases Co., Ltd.*  PRC, limited liability company RMBT72,000,000 N/A 100%  Production and supply
(Notes a and b) of industrial gases

Wiita: FARBIHERBI12A318EREN Note a:  All companies have adopted 31 December as their financial year end date.

BFEEEER -

Kiatb - ZARR2023F6 19058 - Note b: It was deregistered on 19 June 2023.
FIRBERBEEERELAIEEELE # Registered as wholly foreign owned enterprises under PRC law.

* The English is for identification purpose only.
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37. EXREIE 37. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
RERBFTNEHRREENERT L Capital expenditure contracted for at the end of the year but not yet
PUNNE incurred is as follows:

2023%F 20224
2023 2022
ARM T AR T
RMB RMB
WS B DA TS ) R HE Commitments for the acquisition of:
-ME BEMEE - Property, plant and equipment 172,630,238 126,129,153

3. AT RF 38. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
W—A A EEREEES SR Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability,
S AER U B REERKEEET directly or indirectly, to control the other party or exercise significant
HTERTEN AEFHEREH influence over the other party in making financial and operating
HEoMEFZHRAZEY HFEKX decisions. Parties are also considered to be related if they are
TENMAES  AEFTERR subject to common control, common significant influence or joint
BRE - control.

THR R ACEAEEREEHR, The following companies are related parties of the Group that had
ARG A EEREH T o balances and/or transactions with the Group.
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38. @Bt A R F (2

(a)

LAWK AR S V&R

38. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(Continued)

(@) Names and relationships with related parties

=L B
Name Relationship
hEREREERAF(CGI) R
China Gas Investors Ltd. (‘CGI") Shareholder
LEEEBAREFRAR(LEERBA) S
Shanghai Huitang Zhihe Investment Co., Ltd. (“SH Huitang Zhihe’) Shareholder

AHBHERRE(GTERSG)

HBIS Company Limited (“HBIS Company”)
BUREEEEREEAR(DTHESR])
Tangshan Iron and Steel Group Co., Ltd. (‘HBIS Tangsteel’)

AHEEERAR(THER])
HBIS Group Co., Ltd. (“HBIS”)
ELRERTARAF

Tangshan Middle and Heavy Plate Co., Ltd.

EHERENERAA

Tangsteel Qinglong Furnace Charge Co., Ltd.

L= HEFR AR

HBIS Laoting Iron and Steel Co., Ltd.
ELUTEHRAREMELR

Tangshan Stainless Steel Co., Ltd.
ELRHEEERERERLA

Tangshan Iron and Steel Group Heavy Machinery and Equipment Co., Ltd.

BLUAHSERRAERBERAT

Tangshan Iron and Steel Group High-strength Car Plate Co., Ltd.

BUWATARERBEREALR

Tangshan Chuangyuan Fangda Electric Co., Ltd.

B IHEGEL)KBEREERT

Tangsteels Veolia (Tangshan) Water Co., Ltd.
EHERELECIBERARN(ERESR)

HBIS Tangsteel Meijin (Tangshan) Coal Chemical Co., Ltd. (“Tangshan Meijin”)

LEEEBNAEGRA
Parent company of SH Huitang Zhihe
R 17 B AR 3R

Shareholder of HBIS Company
AHERNET QA

Parent company of HBIS Tangsteel
A B A7 B B R R
Subsidiary of HBIS Company
A5 B A B B R R
Subsidiary of HBIS Company
I S8 R 17 B B I 8 )
Subsidiary of HBIS Company
M E R B AR
Subsidiary of HBIS Tangsteel
A ER B AR
Subsidiary of HBIS Tangsteel
e Eolnl=INGi|
Subsidiary of HBIS Tangsteel
M ERE B AR
Subsidiary of HBIS Tangsteel
AEERNBEA

Associate of HBIS Tangsteel
AEERABEA

Associate of HBIS Tangsteel
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3. A AR F 38. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(Continued)

(a) BEBEREBEBRINER (@) Names and relationships with related parties
(%) (Continued)
A7 B
Name Relationship
BULERR AEERABEA
Tangshan Hongci Hospital Associate of HBIS Tangsteel
EHERIREMRABRAF MHEERABEA
Tangsteel International Engineering Technology Corp. Associate of HBIS Tangsteel
BLBEMBNMBEERRA HEEROBEA
Tangshan Huitang Wulian Technology Co., Ltd. Associate of HBIS Tangsteel
AR (LB REERERAA —ZRERRNHELF
CGll (Shanghai) Investment Management Co., Ltd. Subsidiary of an indirect shareholder
BLEEFEERNERAA 3 e B B 8 )
Tangshan Huitang New Business Co., Ltd. Subsidiary of HBIS Tangsteel
BELRASEELXERANA(ELEE]) EE-E Lokl =N

Tangshan Iron and Steel Group Jinheng Enterprise Development Corporation
(“Tangshan Jinheng”)

EL2EANERERATF

Tangshan Jinheng Human Resource Management Co., Ltd.

Subsidiary of HBIS Tangsteel

BEleBOMEAF
Subsidiary of Tangshan Jinheng

BILEEIERMREERAF A 58 R B A )
Tangshan Huitang Industrial Technology Service Co., Ltd. Subsidiary of HBIS Tangsteel
ARLERMREERLDF EE =Tl -INS]
Hegang Industrial Technology Service Co., Ltd. Subsidiary of HBIS
AMEEERRA Gk ol PN

HBIS Group Hong Kong Co., Limited Subsidiary of HBIS
AEBRAERERAA AHEENAERE

HBIS-POSCO Automotive Steel Co., Ltd.

Joint Venture of HBIS
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3. A AR F 38. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(Continued)

(b) EEEBENEARS (b) Significant transactions with related parties

() BEIHEX- Yx- () Purchases of utilities, property, plant and
Vi 4 equipment
2023% 20224
2023 2022
ARMT AR T
RMB RMB
A1 8 Bz 10 B PR 1 7 HBIS Company Limited 50,065,154 87,647,146
&1L T 85 # A PR Tangshan Stainless Steel Co., Ltd.
BEERAR 71,904 1,084,394
EILFERMBR AT Tangshan Middle and Heavy Plate
Co., Ltd. 218,284,548 220,705,113
FE #f 5% £7 Tangshan Meijin 186,183,838 175,858,195
&8 B S 7 (B LL) K7 Tangsteels Veolia (Tangshan) Water
BEREERA Co., Ltd. 12,418,660 12,352,570
BElLal T RERER Tangshan Chuangyuan Fangda
Egaa/NG] Electric Co., Ltd. 9,215,602 -
A 2 =M AR AR HBIS Laoting Iron and Steel
Co., Ltd. 455,283,310 408,234,630
931,523,016 906,782,048
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38.BEEARZ

(b)

(i)

38. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(Continued)
HEBINEARSZ(#) (b) Significant transactions with related parties
(Continued)
HEEm (i) Sales of products
20234 20224
2023 2022
AR T AR®EIT
RMB RMB
A1 8 i 1 7 PR 1 A HBIS Company Limited 1,205,007 1,926,585
BLUTNFEREREE Tangshan Stainless Steel Co., Ltd.
NS - 340,316
BElWFRERMER AR Tangshan Middle and Heavy Plate
Co., Ltd. 335,457,628 324,732,184
BILHEEEm% A58 Tangshan Iron and Steel Group
AR QR High-strength Car Plate Co., Ltd. 35,699,114 54,250,217
&5 ] 55 8 Tangshan Meijin 12,015,538 10,064,485
B EEEE#EHE  Tangshan Iron and Steel Group
BRAF Heavy Machinery and Equipment
Co., Ltd. 1,152,473 1,330,914
fEILSAEERT Tangshan Hongci Hospital 278,650 266,814
EILM#EEBEARET Tangshan Iron and Steel Group
NG Co., Ltd. 1,770,872 1,622,666
FEILEIZT A KRERABR Tangshan Chuangyuan Fangda
BEERAR] Electric Co., Ltd. 27,511 25,398
A% =M AR AR HBIS Laoting Iron and Steel
Co., Ltd. 677,901,710 607,598,828
AHEIE T ERE R HBIS-POSCO Automotive Steel
NG Co., Ltd. 1,199,561 -
A TERMARKE AR Hegang Industrial Technology
NS Service Co., Ltd. - 137,212

1,066,708,064

1,002,295,619

234 CHINA GAS INDUSTRY INVESTMENT HOLDINGS CO. LTD.



SO B HRRMEE
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
#H £2023F12H31H L £ For the year ended 31 December 2023

3. A AR F 38. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)
(b) EHEBENEARRZ(E) (b) Significant transactions with related parties
(Continued)
(i) [ EGHE T FE (1 5k 8 B i (i)  Gas transmission and other services provided to
K B i R 7% related parties
20234 20224
2023 2022
AR¥T ARETT
RMB RMB
A % 1 B PR A E) HBIS Company Limited 27,238,028 13,043,923
B #EEEm% 258  Tangshan Iron and Steel Group
RB R A A High-strength Car Plate Co., Ltd. 2,287,278 -
EiSsEER AR AT Tangsteel Qinglong Furnace Charge
Co., Ltd. 990,000 -
30,515,306 13,043,923
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38.BE AR Z#)

(b)

(iv)

38. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(Continued)
HEBINEARSZ(#) (b) Significant transactions with related parties
(Continued)
% %R (iv)  Receipt of services
20234 20224
2023 2022
AR T AR®EIT
RMB RMB
A1 8 i 1 7 PR 1 A HBIS Company Limited 34,252,245 24,609,472
EILUAI T KERAER Tangshan Chuangyuan Fangda
/NG Electric Co., Ltd. - 13,274
=GN 1 Tangshan Hongci Hospital 474,115 -
BLEEHESERD Tangshan Huitang New Business
BRAA] Co., Ltd. = 94,180
FEILM#EEBEABRET  Tangshan Iron and Steel Group Co.,
NG Ltd. 1,585,945 1,197,485
BLHEEEESEMRE Tangshan Iron and Steel Group
ERMB AT Jinheng Enterprise Development
Corporation 2,463,182 1,359,678
EIWLFRERMBRAR  Tangshan Middle and Heavy Plate
Co., Ltd. 349,430 349,430
ElL&EBANERABR Tangshan Jinheng Human
NS Resource Management Co., Ltd. 1,214,084 874,670
EILEEYWEEIZER Tangshan Huitang Wulian
NC] Technology Co., Ltd. 271,420 540,620
BILEETERMRMGE Tangshan Huitang Industrial
BRAA] Technology Service Co., Ltd. 154,619 145,416
40,765,040 29,184,225
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3. A AR F 38. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)
(b) EHEBLENEAXRZ (&) (b) Significant transactions with related parties
(Continued)
V) JETEERHERE (v)  Interest expenses on lease liabilities due to related
FILEFH & parties
20234 20224
2023 2022
AR¥TT AR T
RMB RMB
A 8 i% 19 7B PR A 7 HBIS Company Limited 125,127 150,940
BB BRAF HBIS Group Hong Kong
Co., Limited 54,768 -
179,895 150,940
Vi) BEEF (Vi) Purchase of materials
20234 20224F
2023 2022
ARMT AR T
RMB RMB
o 8 (% 1D B R A R HBIS Company Limited 11,070 15,364
(i) YHERTEE T (E R E (vij)  Right-of-use asset acquired from related parties
E
20234 20224
2023 2022
AR¥TT AR®IT
RMB RMB
BB BRAF HBIS Group Hong Kong
Co., Limited 1,861,270 -
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38.BE AR Z#)

(c) EZEAEETS AV45ER

38. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(Continued)

(c) Balances with related parties

() EZENZE () Trade receivables
20234 20224
2023 2022
AR AR T
RMB RMB
AR B R AR HBIS Company Limited 11,364,191 35,781,332
g =M AR AR HBIS Laoting Iron and Steel
Co., Ltd. 289,009,488 316,021,429
&5 i 35 8 Tangshan Meijin = 6,745,179
EBILUFRERMERART  Tangshan Middle and Heavy Plate
Co., Ltd. 211,841,028 150,012,972
BT AR AT
NG Tangshan Stainless Steel Co., Ltd. 20,780,346 22,484 250
EILM#EEBES®/5E Tangshan Iron and Steel Group
R B BR A A High-strength Car Plate Co., Ltd. 7,389,345 18,351,087
FEIMEEEE®ERE  Tangshan Iron and Steel Group
BRAF Heavy Machinery and Equipment
Co., Ltd. 4,117,445 3,071,727
EiMEEER AR AR Tangsteel Qinglong Furnace Charge
Co., Ltd. 1,272,000 1,004,608
ELM#EEE AR ET Tangshan Iron and Steel Group
NG Co., Ltd. 3,269,396 2,942,654
&1L 5k ZR B B Tangshan Hongci Hospital 38,375 110,625
A TERMARM AR Hegang Industrial Technology
NS Service Co., Ltd. 94,360 94,360
AHEIE R ERER HBIS-POSCO Automotive Steel
NG Co., Ltd. 1,355,504 -
550,531,478 556,620,223
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38. Bt TR B 38. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)
(c) EEREB L WNERE) (c) Balances with related parties (Continued)
(i) E M EYE (i) Other receivables

20234 20224
2023 2022
AR¥RT ARBIT
RMB RMB

ELM#EEE AR ET  Tangshan lron and Steel Group

AR Co., Ltd. 8,930 22,939
FEEBEBMIEEARBR  Shanghai Huitang Zhihe Investment
NG Co., Ltd. 45,311 44,690
54,241 67,629
JrE Wt A B 77 e EL A ZRIE T Other receivables due from related parties are
A PR RIREK unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on
EiE - demand.
(i) BAIEE (i) Contract liabilities
2023% 20224
2023 2022
AR®RT AR T
RMB RMB

BIlAl T RERER Tangshan Chuangyuan Fangda
EL A A Electric Co., Ltd. 2,093 3,180
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38.BE AR Z#)

(c) HEBAHMERRE
(i) BEZENAE

38. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(Continued)

(c) Balances with related parties (Continued)

(iv)  Trade payables

20234 20224
2023 2022
AR AR T
RMB RMB
A1 8 i% 19 7B PR 7 HBIS Company Limited 22,769 145,720,796
& #f 5% 87 Tangshan Meijin 153,406,923 154,209,365
BlFRERMER AR Tangshan Middle and Heavy Plate
Co., Ltd. 26,751,150 23,144,909
B 8 Bk 57 HE (B L) 7K 7 Tangsteels Veolia (Tangshan) Water
BREMEAT Co., Ltd. 5,141,118 9,608,032
BILEEYWHERIEER Tangshan Huitang Wulian
AR Technology Co., Ltd. 289,356 301,650
BLEEFSERND Tangshan Huitang New Business
BRAA Co., Ltd. - 435,214
FEILM#EEEABRET Tangshan Iron and Steel Group
~A] Co., Ltd. 911,724 866,019
BT A KERER Tangshan Chuangyuan Fangda
ERaa/NC] Electric Co., Ltd. 53,044 63,044
ELMEEES B D% Tangshan Iron and Steel Group
ERB AT Jinheng Enterprise Development
Corporation 151,194 78,930
BILEETERMRAE Tangshan Huitang Industrial
BRAF] Technology Service Co., Ltd. 174,720 164,320
186,901,998 334,592,279
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3. A AR F 38. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(Continued)
(c) EEREB L WNERE) (c) Balances with related parties (Continued)
V) HMENNE (v)  Other payables

20234 20224
2023 2022
AR AR T
RMB RMB
FEREKREAR AR China Gas Investors Ltd. 50,671,500 100,671,500
A AR B R A A HBIS Company Limited 21,531,750 17,551,629

BlWal T RER/RER Tangshan Chuangyuan Fangda
EERR Electric Co., Ltd. 5,111,667 3,430,890

BLHEEE AR ST Tangshan Iron and Steel Group
NS Co., Ltd = 1,013,351

BT #EMERE Tangshan Stainless Steel Co., Ltd.

NS 700 700
L (L)W EEE  CGll (Shanghai) Investment

BRAA Management Co., Ltd. 7,500,000 7,500,000

fE 8 B BR TAR 17 A% 5 Tangsteel International Engineering
BRAA Technology Corp. 2,586,900 2,586,900
87,402,517 132,754,970

JE SRR B 5 O B A SRR TS
B A ERIREK

Bi& -

Other payables due to related parties are unsecured,
non-interest bearing and repayable on demand.
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38.BE AR Z#)

(c) EEEAEE S V&R (&)
(i) HEEBEE

38. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(Continued)
(c) Balances with related parties (Continued)
(vi)  Lease liabilities

20234 20224

2023 2022

AR¥ T AREETT

RMB RMB

A B B R AR HBIS Company Limited 2,621,905 12,557,141
A BB BRAF HBIS Group Hong Kong Co.,

Limited 1,693,143 -

4,315,048 12,557,141

BHHENERBRESLEE
BEEEGRES MEESR
BNERBRREEES O
BREN N SRS R MBS -

(d BREEAESNTMH
s EEABRFAEHEM

The balances which are trading in nature will be settled in
accordance with respective normal commercial credit terms,
and the balances of lease liabilities are expected to be settled
according to the payment schedule prescribed in the lease
contracts.

(d) Compensation of key management personnel
The remuneration of members of key management during the

™ year was as follows:

20234 20224
2023 2022
AR¥T ARBETT
RMB RMB
T& - HFaehies Wages, salaries, bonuses 5,380,277 3,942,723

FTEAFES BERRKRKEEM Housing funds, medical

o =R lEr insurance and other social

welfare contributions 159,745 160,893

RIRA AR — FRE M 5k ET S Pension costs — defined
contribution plans 133,689 112,826
5,673,711 4,216,442
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39. B 15 B B B BB

AEENESEEERRLLBRES
MR8 A & B T A A & & B %
@ BARBETSRR(ETER
SINEE L B AN A R R ) ~ 5 B R B A
RBUEESER - LEFEBTAN
BEATHERRE - AEBERER
RREEETRERT SN RER
AEE YSREEREHAEEY
BRENBETNZE - EFTEHE
- AR Ko RF (A LR - 3 K B 6 RE
BHERMBEARMNER - BitES
BITEBBEAERIA N AL R SR E
It 55 B T SR AN BOR B SIA0 T o

(@) FERMR
EERBREREEZRIANRS
HFELBTHERESRTA
iR R B T B AR H & K
MR KRR

AEENEERREZEAR
HE 5 WA - H A YR
EMRERBCEEY - B
BOHEEERER LHEE
TERMEERR -

AREBVEXRZZHFIRE
HiFG - RIEHKR AEEH
GEETEERKRSEY  H
P E S EKRRIEAEPNIT%
(20224 : 96%) K98% (2022
F:98%) DRI R AEE &K
BEFEMAGZANES °

#H; £2023F12 318 L £ E For the year ended 31 December 2023

39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks which
result from the use of financial instruments in its ordinary course
of operations. The financial risks include market risks (mainly
foreign currency risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity
risk. Details of these financial instruments are disclosed in the
notes below. The Group’s overall risk management focuses on the
unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential
adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance. The directors
meet regularly to identify and evaluate risks and to formulate
strategies to manage financial risks on timely and effective manner.
The risks associated with these financial instruments and the policies
applied by the Group to mitigate these risks are set out below.

(@) Credit risk
Credit risk refers to the risk that the counterparty to a financial
instrument would fail to discharge its obligation under the terms
of the financial instrument and cause a financial loss to the
Group.

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to its trade
receivables, other receivables and cash and cash equivalents.
Management has a credit policy in place and the exposures
to these credit risks are monitored on an ongoing basis.

The Group does not obtain collateral from the counterparties.
At the end of reporting period, the Group has a certain
concentration of credit risk as 97% (2022: 96%) and 98%
(2022: 98%) of the total trade receivables was due from the
Group’s largest customer and the five largest customers
respectively.
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0. KEARERE»

(a)

EERbE)

FIHM AT
AEEREERTHREHEES
BEENSBEAERZRWGA
MEBEEE - RFTERHEER
BiE AEECREREER
REBLBHARBHEZEK
RIEETHHE - EHEMFRIE
MEREEBELDE2EER
ANBRERBOCHELRERASE
A E e RITHRE A
BBEEMEL A - BHIE
EBBETEEMBEEEN X
R2EARETEEBABERE
W IR RE M B R R B LM
T e

R2023F12A31H =t R & 5
ERRERERBEARK
23,498,7707C (20224 : A R #&
8,135,0007T) °

AEEERENAGTHAER
AERTEMER  BEETR
RITERNBERIEREMBEED
BREFE THELHERRAERE
B R I A AR g N o

(a)
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continveq)

Credit risk (Continued)

Trade receivables

The Group measures the loss allowance for trade receivables
at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs. To measure the ECLs,
the trade receivables have been grouped based on shared
credit risk characteristics and the days past due. The ECLs
on trade receivables are estimated using a provision matrix
by reference to past default experience of the debtor, current
market condition in relation to each debtor’s exposure. The
ECLs also incorporated forward-looking information with
reference to general macroeconomic conditions that may affect
the ability of the debtors to settle receivables.

An impairment provision of RMB23,498,770 (2022:
RMB8,135,000) for trade receivables was made at 31
December 2023.

The management of the Group has also assessed all available
including but not limited to
expected growth rate of the industry and expected subsequent

forward-looking information,

settlement, and concluded that there no significant increase
in credit risk.
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0. KEARERE»

(a)

EERKE)

B ZEN A ()
R2023F12A318 - A £ B E
5 FE W 5K I8 4997% (20224 -
97%) KRB MEBEBR AR K
HWBRAR  AECERER
BRBEZAGBOCTERESE
) EREMIHKE EBN
XGBERBEARERTEE
EEEETEEMMK 8 &
BETEAMEXTRNEKNIE
Ko BERTAEEER (B1F
K B ) K5 BT BB
180K - W EERIBEZF A5
AR - B A B R E M P = 5T
HHEEPHEEEE - R
R EORREERY &
BERR TAEBREEES
ERREHRBINSEREER
& o SN 0 FR20284F [ 20224F
12A318 - WE|BIREME K
AN FI) B 3R AR B 7RI AR B AT AR
jR °

39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continveq)

(a)

Credit risk (Continued)

Trade receivables (Continued)

As at 31 December 2023, approximately 97% (2022: 97%)
of the Group’s trade receivables were due from HBIS Group
Co., Ltd. and its subsidiaries, joint venture and their respective
associates (collectively the “HBIS Group”). Given the strong
business relationship with the HBIS Group and its good
reputation, management does not expect that there will be
any significant losses from non-performance by HBIS Group.
The credit period granted to the Group’s customers, including
the HBIS Group, is usually no more than 180 days and the
credit quality of these customers is assessed, which takes
into account their financial position, past experience and other
factors. In view of the sound collection history of receivables
due from them, management believes that the credit risk
inherent in the Group’s outstanding trade receivables balances
due from them is not significant. In addition, there was no
significant unfavourable current conditions and forecast future
economic conditions identified as at 31 December 2023 and
2022.
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(a)

EEREREE
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AL T
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Bl MAKREREEZEREE
R - BEEBHEEBEZ
12@AEEFE -

- HERBMBERIAKRE
ERR(EER TR
RIEEM - Bz TE
WRAEIE R M
AR B RIEERIE -
ERBEREEBRREH
HEAEGE -

- WEMIALREER
B AIZeR TAREET
[F=FEER] - BEEHIE
EBRRHEESE -

- HRE-EEREE R
B MBM AT EE
RECRMREERE) T
o MEemIARRER
EEREFE=RR) &
SEAERERR SR
& B & A B AR (BR
48 EF0FR B 18 B 68) M
I FERRE BB A B BRA
FORFTERBWA -

R20234 K& 2022412 A311 -
Hi R R EAERTIER
#H EARBUEMNEESDRE
MEAMEWRENEE  ~E
ERAEMERFERENF
ZIWTEK o

(a)
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continveq)

Credit risk (Continued)
Other receivables
ECLs model for other receivables are summarised below:

Other receivables that are not credit-impaired on initial
recognition are classified in “Stage 1” and have their credit risk
continuously monitored by the Group. The ECLs are measured
on a 12-month basis.

If a significant increase in credit risk (as define below)
since initial recognition is identified, the financial
instrument is moved to “Stage 2” but it not yet deemed
to be credit-impaired. The ECLs are measured on lifetime
basis.

If the financial instrument is credit-impaired, the financial
instrument is then moved to “Stage 3”. The ECLs are
measured on lifetime basis.

At Stages 1 and 2, interest income is calculated on
the gross carrying amount (without deducting the
loss allowance). If a financial instrument subsequently
becomes credit-impaired (Stage 3), the Group is required
to calculate the interest income by applying the effective
interest method in subsequent reporting periods to the
amortised cost of the financial asset (the gross carrying
amount net of loss allowance) rather than the gross
carrying amount.

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, no provision was made
against the gross amount of other receivables because the
Group considered the impact of the impairment of other
receivables to be insignificant based on past credit history and
the nature of the other receivables.
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continveq)

(a)

(b)

Credit risk (Continued)
Cash and cash equivalents and financial assets at FVOC/

To manage risk arising from cash and cash equivalents and
financial assets at FVOCI, the Group only transacts with state-
owned or reputable financial institutions in mainland China.
There is no recent history of default in relation to those financial
institution.

The credit policies have been consistently applied and are
considered to be effective in managing the Group’s exposure.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk relates to the risk that the Group will not be able
to meet its obligations associated with its financial liabilities
that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset.
The Group is exposed to liquidity risk in respect of settlement
of trade and other payables and also in respect of its cash
flow management. The Group’s objective is to maintain an
appropriate level of liquid assets and committed lines of
funding to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and
longer term.

The liquidity policy has been followed by the Group during the
year and is considered by the directors to have been effective
in managing liquidity risks.
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39. B 1% B B B B )

(b) REBESEKE)
TEEMAERS A ENS
TAHB MR - AL
SREMOAREELNER
BB T A AR

39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continueq)
(b) Liquidity risk (Continued)

The following table summarises the Group’s remaining

contractual maturity for its financial liabilities based on the

undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities and the earliest
date the Group can be required to pay.

PME 122% 2E5% Bt REE
More than  More than
1 year but 2 years but
Less than less than less than Carrying
1 year 2 years 5 years Total Amount
AR®T AR®R AR%T AR®R AR%T
RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB
®2023512A31R At 31 December 2023
B (R4 R EsHF2)  Borrowings (principal and
accrued interest) 307,322,250 145,677,500 112,695,000 565,694,750 534,290,173
ZHREMBEMFIE  Trade and other payables
TeEENEeR (excluding salaries and
ARERHER bonus payables and tax
R F2) payables and interests
payable) 362,196,789 = - 362,196,789 362,196,789
HEEE Lease liabilities 2,313,611 1,528,081 1,288,594 5,130,286 4,788,025
671,832,650 147,205,581 113,983,594 933,021,825 901,274,987
2022512 A31E At 31 December 2022
(K& K Est R S)  Borrowings (principal and
accrued interest) 267,060,333 223,992,868 124,398,280 615,451,490 573,949,079
ZHREMERNFFIE  Trade and other payables
TeEENEeR (excluding salaries and
TEAREANBER bonus payables and tax
R A 2) payables and interests
payable) 575,418,828 - - 575418,828 575,418,828
HEEE Lease liabilities 10,983,063 832,104 1,830,708 13,645,875 13,263,373
853,462,224 224,824,972 126,228,997 1,204,516,193 1,162,631,280
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AEEOFERREREEREF
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BRINERERREEEY -
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BEHEAAEENERR -

s )2 B A & 5 KA F = £ 3850
& E 25 - BIE =2023%F 2022
FI2AALEFENBRATFH
Al A E D B DA RE S
TR A R¥166,0327C © 2T
WRBEERMFNENZE -

WReRESEEMH X
+ 38508 & & - Al & £2023
F R2022F12A318 EF E /Y
BR BT 13 B4 A1 i | FE 5 Bl 35 A0
# AN R#1,013,0887L K AR
1,803,6927T °

39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continveq)

(c)

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk relates to the risk that the fair value or cash
flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes
in market interest rates. The Group’s interest rate risk primarily
arose from borrowings with floating rated (details of which have
been disclosed in note 30) and cash and cash equivalents.
Those carried at floating rates expose the Group to cash flow
interest rate risk whereas those carried at fixed rates expose
the Group to fair value interest rate risk.

If the interest rate of borrowings with floating rate had been
50 basis points higher, the profit before income tax for the
years ended 31 December 2023, and 2022 would have been
approximately RMB nil and RMB166,032 lower, respectively.
This analysis doesn’t include the effect of interest capitalised.

If the interest rate of cash and cash equivalents had been
50 basis points higher, the profit before income tax for the
years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022 would have been
approximately RMB1,013,088 and RMB1,803,692 higher,
respectively.
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continveq)

(d) Foreign currency risk
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Foreign currency risk refers to the risk that the fair value
or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in foreign exchange rates. The Group is
exposed to foreign currency risk primarily through operation
outside PRC which give rise to other payables and cash and
cash equivalents that are denominated in a currency other than
the functional currency of the operations to which they relate.

The currencies giving rise to this risk are primarily USD and
HKD. The Group does not use derivative financial instruments
to hedge its foreign currency risk. The Group reviews its foreign
currency exposures regularly and considers no significant
exposure on its foreign exchange risk.

The following table indicates the approximate change in the
Group’s profit before income tax in response to reasonably
possible changes in the foreign exchange rates to which the
Group has significant exposure at the end of reporting period.
The sensitivity analysis includes balances between Group
companies where the denomination of the balances is in a
currency other than the functional currencies of the lender or
the borrower. A positive number below indicates an increase
in profit and other equity where the USD strengthens against
the relevant currency. For a weakening of the USD against
the relevant currency, there would be an equal and opposite
impact on the profit and other equity, and the balances below
would be negative.
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0. KEARERE» 39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
(d) SpEE R Bx (&) (d) Foreign currency risk (Continued)

BE & HERFAESHA

EH (T &) mANEE
Increase/

(decrease) Effect on

in foreign profit before

exchange rate income tax

AR T AR¥TT

RMB RMB

2023 2023

ET Usb 5% 234,748

(5%) (234,748)

BT HKD 5% 53,244

(5%) (53,244)

20224 2022

E7T UsD 5% 233,653

(5%) (233,653)

BT HKD 5% 2,468,606

(5%) (2,468,606)
BREEIMIHBRRIERES) The sensitivity analysis has been determined assuming that
ERSREHAREEMET I the change in foreign exchange rates had occurred at the end
ERZBERRESEERTRT of the reporting period and had been applied to each of the
ERTERIETESR T AR group entities; exposure to currency risk for both derivative and
A EER R  mAa EaE non-derivative financial instruments in existence at that date,
E(RFRIEFR)BRFAE - and that all other variables, in particular interest rates, remain

constant.
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continveq)

(d) Foreign currency risk (Continued)

(e)
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The stated changes represent management’s assessment of
reasonably possible changes in foreign exchange rates over
the period until the next annual reporting date. Results of
the analysis as presented in the above table represent an
aggregation of the effects on each of the group entities’ profit
for the year and equity measured in the respective functional
currencies, translated into RMB at the exchange rate ruling
at the end of reporting period for presentation purposes.
The analysis excludes differences that would result from the
translation of the financial statements of foreign operations into
the Group’s presentation currency.

Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are
to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern
and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its
business and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it, in light of changes in economic conditions.
To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may
adjust the dividends payment to shareholders, return capital
to shareholders or obtain new bank borrowings. No changes
were made in the objectives, policies or processes for
managing capital during the year.

As part of this review, the directors of the Group consider
the cost of capital and the risk associated with each class of
capital. Based on recommendations of the directors, the Group
will balance its overall capital structure through issuance of
new shares as well as the addition of new borrowings.

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group monitors
capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This ratio is calculated
as total debt divided by total capital. Total debt consists of total
borrowings, as well as lease liabilities (including “current and
non-current” items as shown in the consolidated statement of
financial position).
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continveq)

BEREEE) (e) Capital management (Continued)
20234 [ 2022F12 A31H 1 The gearing ratios at 31 December 2023 and 2022 were as
BEBEBLRLDT: follows:
2023 20224
2023 2022
AR®T ARETT
RMB RMB
BB Total debt 537,788,025 585,793,492
T R Total equity 1,513,430,270 1,385,833,059

EERBILE

Gearing ratio

36% 42%

40. AR EEFE

(a)

AREEER
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(AN IEDTEE TS
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40. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT

(@) Fair value hierarchy
Financial instruments carried at fair value or where fair value
was disclosed can be categorized by levels of the inputs to
valuation techniques used to measure fair value. The inputs
are categorized into three levels within a fair value hierarchy

as follows:

Level 1: Quoted prices in active markets for identical items
(unadjusted);

Level 2: Observable direct or indirect inputs other than
Level 1 inputs;

Level 3: Unobservable inputs (i.e. not derived from market
data).
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ERHEEEREERNAEEE
EBERERBFEFRUE
AMSFENFERGE -

TR 2 7 A £ B 722023F &
202212 A31B R A 1 BE T

40. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (continueq)

(a)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets, including
cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables and deposits
and other receivables and financial liabilities including trade
and other payables, interest-bearing bank borrowings, and
lease liabilities, approximate their fair values due to their short
maturities. The carrying amount of the Group’s non-current
borrowings approximate their fair values as they are carried at
interest rate close to market rate at each year end.

The following table presents the Group’s assets and liabilities
that are measured at fair value as at 31 December 2023 and
2022:

ENEENAE:
F1B R F2E R ERY = @ar
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
iz AR¥R AR¥R AR¥T AR¥TR
Note RMB RMB RMB RMB
2023%12831H As at 31 December 2023
BAREBETALMD Financial assets at FVOCI
GERENEREE 27 - - 79,658,832 79,658,832
#2022F12 A31H As at 31 December 2022
BRAREEFAELMD Financial assets at FVOCI
GALENERNEE 27 - - 28,812,893 28,812,893

FIEATABREEKREE - A
RZEEFTATERARMEHEE
B AMEQIABELREE
B EH R A FHaERE
BERUERBECREETE - B
WEE(ME2NH AR EBER
BREREREERS -

RER EMEELRERE
EmME B1IEREF2ERD
RABEFEZALEEBER
I EmEAEIERNEEIBER
L Rari
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The level 3 instruments include notes receivable. As these
instruments are not traded in an active market, their fair
values have been determined based on discounted cash flow
using the expected return based on management judgement
and estimates. Fair value of notes receivables (note 27) are
considered approximate to their carrying amount.

During the vyear, there were no transfers of fair value
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers
into or out of Level 3 for both financial assets and financial
liabilities.
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40. AR EBEFTEw

(b)

(c)

£ AE AT THRERA K
5 (E3E ) 0D A ME
it

TR 25 RE E20234F 2022
FI2ABILFEZAAREBE

40. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (continueq)

(b) Fair value measurements using significant

unobservable inputs (level 3)

The following table presents the changes in level 3 instruments
of financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive

FFAEMGAE N SREE income for the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022:
REIERTAEES:

20234 20224

2023 2022

ARY T AR T

RMB RMB

R E ) As the beginning of the year 28,812,893 23,443,760

W fE Acquisitions 300,000,111 268,520,610

& Disposals (249,154,172) (263,151,477)

NREEZEY Change in fair value - -

RER As the end of the year 79,658,832 28,812,893

FARARBIR Y FE

Net unrealised gain for the year = -

HEBRE R B
AEEREEKEEBIETH
HENEIERTEAME - ZE
BE-—EERABRENGE
W=D —FERREERM
BEAKBEFEIBRTANLAA
BE -

HRZETAYERNERTS
BEE -HArBENERZE
BRANGERN 24

- HBRRSRERBRAA
B ARE  T2684%8

A RE SR8 RS
=B

- HRAUBERTUERS
ABE  BEBRERE -

(c)

Valuation process and techniques

The Group has a team that manages the valuation of level
3 instruments for financial reporting purposes. The team
manages the valuation exercise of the investments on a case
by case basis. At least one a year, the team uses valuation
techniques to determine the fair value of the Group’s level 3
instruments.

As these instruments are not traded in an active market, their
fair values have been determined by using various applicable
valuation techniques, including:

- the discounted cash flow model and unobservable inputs
mainly including assumptions of expected future cash
flows and discount rate; and

- a combination of observable and unobservable inputs,
including discount rate etc..
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40. 2 R EBEEFTE® 40. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (continuea)
(c) HEBERFEME) (c) Valuation process and techniques (Continued)
REAN - HERITTESS - There were no changes to valuation techniques during the
year.
FIREEABRR
B 2023% W05 FUBRAARE 2023% 022F AAEENER
Unobservable Relationship of unobservable
Description 2023 2022  inputs 2023 2022 inputs to fair value
ARER ARET
RMB RMB
BUEE 79,658,832 28812803 ERABHRE 1.85%-2.30%  162%-500% RBRAREBZAZ NiEE
,%{1&
Notes receivables Risk-adjusted The higher the risk-adjusted
discount rate discount rate, the lower the
fair value
AREREREA R BEMBED
FTEREBERARFARIIR Key assumptions used in the valuation of the fair value of
o i [ B 7 R B IR R IR 3% notes receivables include risk-adjusted discount rate, if the
imETA BB E - Bl risk-adjusted discount rate had decreased or increased by
H £2023F &2022F12A31H 3% with all other variables held constant, the fair value of
WEKRZEBEARBEGIERELD notes receivables would have been increased or decreased
A R #1,008,3567T 8¢ A R ¥ by approximately RMB1,008,356 or RMB993,790 and
993,7907T & A R #191,9727T RMB191,972 or RMB189,738 as of 31 December 2023 and
3 A R 189,738t ° 2022.
41. f5 IR #E =t &l 41. SHARE OPTION SCHEME
B £20234F N2022%F12A31H It F During the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, no option
B ARalWEREERENTEED was granted by the Company under the Share Option Scheme.
T {o] B8 A 4 o 720234 K 2022412 The Company did not have any outstanding share options as at 31
AB1R - AR FIW A [ AR TT R December 2023 and 2022.
B AR R o
42. REHEREE 42. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING
PERIOD
HEZSUBREMERD A58 As of the approval date on these financial statements, the Group
R ERETESEFTRNEAETHRE had no significant events after the Reporting Period which need to
WEREMN - be disclosed.
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